
88

1.	� MANAGER’S BRIEF REPORT OF ACTIVITIES 
OF BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT AND SUMMARY 
OF THE STANDALONE AND CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE HALF 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

	 �Brookfield India Real Estate Trust (“Brookfield India 
REIT”) was settled on July 17, 2020 at Mumbai, 
Maharashtra, India as a contributory, determinate 
and irrevocable trust under the provisions of the 
Indian Trusts Act, 1882 (as amended), pursuant 
to a trust deed dated July 17, 2020 between the 
Manager, Sponsor and Trustee. Brookfield India REIT 
was registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India on September 14, 2020 at Mumbai 
as a real estate investment trust, pursuant to the 
REIT Regulations, having registration number IN/
REIT/20-21/0004. BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd is the sponsor of Brookfield India REIT, Brookprop 
Management Services Private Limited has been 
appointed as the manager to Brookfield India REIT 
and Axis Trustee Services Limited is the trustee to 
Brookfield India REIT.

	 �Brookfield India REIT owns one hundred percent of 
the equity share capital of (i) Candor Kolkata, Festus 
and SPPL Noida and one hundred percent of the 
equity share capital and CCDs of SDPL Noida, each of 
which own the real estate assets; and (ii) CIOP which 
provides services including property management, 
facilities management and support services to 
Candor Kolkata and SPPL Noida and SDPL Noida.

	 �Brookfield India REIT owns, operates and manages 
a combined 18.7 M sf Portfolio of five office parks 
in four gateway office markets of India – Mumbai, 
Gurugram, Noida and Kolkata.

	 �With respect to the update on the properties, 
performance and other details, please refer  
Page No. 28 to Page No. 51.

	 �The NAV of Brookfield India REIT for the period 
ended September 30, 2022, is `337 per Unit. For 
calculation of the NAV, please refer Page No. 147 of 
consolidated financial statements of Brookfield  
India REIT.

	 �With respect to trading price, kindly refer Page No. 96 
of this Report.

	 �The detailed valuation is attached as part of this 
report, please refer Page No. 210 to Page No. 233.

	 �For the summary of the unaudited standalone and 
consolidated financial statements please refer 
Page No. 104-105 and Page No. 142-143 of this 
Report.

2.	� BRIEF DETAILS OF ALL THE ASSETS OF 
BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT INCLUDING 
A BREAK-UP OF REAL ESTATE ASSETS 
AND OTHER ASSETS, LOCATION OF THE 
PROPERTIES, AREA OF THE PROPERTIES, 
CURRENT TENANTS (NOT LESS THAN TOP 10 
TENANTS AS PER VALUE OF LEASE), LEASE 
MATURITY PROFILE, DETAILS OF UNDER- 
CONSTRUCTION PROPERTIES, IF ANY, ETC.

	 a.	 �Real estate assets - please refer Page No. 18 to 
51 of this Report.

		�  Other assets - Brookfield India REIT owns one 
hundred percent of the equity share capital of 
CIOP which provides services including property 
management, facilities management and 
support services to Candor Kolkata, SPPL Noida 
and SDPL Noida.

	 b.	 �Location of the properties - please refer Page 
No. 29 of this Report.

	 c.	 �Area of the properties - please refer Page No. 29 
of this report.

	 d.	 �Current tenants (top 10 tenants as per value of 
lease i.e. Gross Contracted Rentals)

Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier

Kensington Powai Tata Consultancy Services Limited
GE Oil & Gas India Private Limited
Wipro Limited
Cognizant Technology Solutions 
India Private Limited
XPO India Shared Services LLP
Larsen and Toubro Limited
ERGO Technology & Services 
Private Limited
Apollo India Services LLP
Hitachi Payment Services  
Private Limited 
Vodafone Idea Limited

Statutory Section
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Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier

Candor TechSpace G2 Accenture Solutions Private 
Limited
TLG India Private Limited
RBS Services India Private 
Limited 
Legato Health Technologies 
LLP 
Amdocs Development Centre 
India LLP 
Saxo Group India Private 
Limited 
BT E-Serv (India) Private 
Limited
EUI Limited
R1 RCM Global Private Limited
Cvent India Private Limited

Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier

Candor TechSpace N2 Samsung India Electronics 
Private Limited 
Genpact India Private Limited
Cognizant Technology 
Solutions India Private Limited
Xavient Software Solutions 
India Private Limited 
Accenture Solutions Private 
Limited
Sopra Steria India Limited
Qualcomm India Private 
Limited
Conduent Business services 
India LLP 
Tata Consultancy Services 
Limited
R1 RCM Global Private Limited

Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier

Candor TechSpace N1 Barclays Global Service Centre 
Private Limited
Amazon Development Centre 
(India) Private Limited
Innovaccer Analytics Private 
Limited 
Landis Gyr Limited
Pine Labs Private Limited
ION Trading India Private 
Limited
Markit India Services Private 
Limited
Pentair Water India Private 
Limited
Acidaes Solutions Private 
Limited
Barco Electronic Systems  
Private Limited

Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier

Candor TechSpace K1 Cognizant Technology 
Solutions India Private Limited 
Tata Consultancy Services 
Limited 
Accenture Solutions Private 
Limited 
Capgemini Technology 
Services India Limited 
Genpact India Private Limited
Indorama Ventures Global 
Shared Services Private Limited
Concentrix Daksh Services 
India Private Limited
CodeClouds IT Solutions 
Private Limited
Bharti Airtel Limited
State Bank of India Limited

	 e.	 Lease Maturity Profile 

Particulars
Kensington,

Powai, 
Mumbai

Candor  
TechSpace G2, 

Gurgaon

Candor  
TechSpace N1, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace N2, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

Consolidated at 
Brookfield India 

REIT Level

Leasable Area (M sf) 1.6 4.0 2.8 4.5 5.7 18.7
Leased (M sf) 1.5 3.3 1.7 2.8 2.6 11.9
Wale (years) 2.0 8.2 7.2 7.6 7.1 6.9
Lease Maturity Profile – 
Area Expiring (M sf)

Year (Area M sf)
FY23 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.1 1.0 
FY24 0.7 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0                    1.1 
FY25 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0                    0.6 
FY26 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.3 0.5                    1.0 

	 f.	 �Details of under-construction properties - please refer Page No. 18 to 51 of this Report and clause no. 5 below.

3.	 BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE FULL VALUATION REPORT AS AT THE END OF THE HALF YEAR.

	 Refer Page No. 210 to 233 of this Report and disclosure of valuation in clause 4(b) below.

4.	 DETAILS OF CHANGES DURING THE HALF YEAR PERTAINING TO:

	 (a)	 �Addition and divestment of assets including the identity of the buyers or sellers, purchase/sale prices and brief 
details of valuation for such transactions 

	 	 �There has been no addition or divestment of assets during the half year ended September 30, 2022. 
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	 (b)	 Valuation of assets (as per the full valuation reports) and NAV. 

		  Project-wise break up of fair value (In ` M)

Entity and Property name

March 31, 2022 September 30, 2022

Fair value of 
investment

property and 
investment

property under 
development

Other 
assets

at book 
value

Total  
assets

Fair value of 
investment

property and 
investment

property under 
development

Other 
assets

at book 
value

Total  
assets

Candor Kolkata 70,806.53 3,776.76 74,583.29 72,750.92 4,475.65 77,226.57
SPPL Noida 21,329.32 751.69 22,081.01 22,296.31 853.08 23,149.39
Festus 27,258.00 1,972.85 29,230.85 27,548.00 1,697.87 29,245.87
CIOP - 107.41 107.41 - 99.20 99.20
SDPL Noida 40,967.28* 2,118.61 43,085.89 40,969.22** 2,358.01 43,327.23
Brookfield India REIT - 1,803.09 1,803.09 - 1,857.65 1,857.65
Total 160,361.13 10,530.41 170,891.54 163,564.45 11,341.46 174,905.91

	 	 �*Includes `1,162.13M of finance receivable relating to income support and corresponding amount has been reduced from 
other assets.

	 	 �**Includes `845.54M (net of advance of `19.90M) of finance receivable relating to income support and corresponding 
amount has been reduced from other assets.

		  Net assets at fair value (In ` M)

Particulars
March 31, 2022 September 30, 2022

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
A. 	 Assets 147,857.98 170,891.54 148,174.55 174,905.91
B. 	 Liabilities (59,037.05) (59,037.05) (62,030.62) (62,030.62)
C. 	 Net assets (A-B) 88,820.93 111,854.49 86,143.93 112,875.29
D. 	 Number of Units (in Nos.) 335,087,073 335,087,073 335,087,073 335,087,073
NAV per Unit (C/D) 265.07 333.81 257.08 336.85

	 (c)	 Letting of assets, occupancy, lease maturity, key tenants, etc.

		  Letting of Assets

Particulars
Kensington 

Powai, Mumbai

Candor 
TechSpace G2, 

Gurugram

Candor 
TechSpace N1, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace N2, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

New Leases During the Half Year (KSf) 74 80 200 23 0

Area Re-leased during the  
Half Year (KSf)

74 80 36 0 0

Leasing spread on new leases during 
the Half Year*

113% (9%) (2%) 0% 0%

	 	 * Only office leases considered to calculate leasing spread

		  Occupancy

Particulars
Kensington 

Powai, 
Mumbai 

Candor 
TechSpace G2, 

Gurugram 

Candor 
TechSpace N1, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace N2, 

Noida

Candor  
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

Consolidated 
REIT

Committed Occupancy (%) –  
As on March 31, 2022

90%    83% 77% 80% 84% 83%

Committed Occupancy (%) –  
As on September 30, 2022

95% 85% 86% 76% 84% 84%

Change in Committed 
Occupancy during the  
half year (%)

5% 2% 9% (5%) 0% 1%
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		  Lease Maturity

Particulars Kensington 
Powai, Mumbai

Candor 
TechSpace G2, 

Gurugram

Candor 
TechSpace N1, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace N2, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

Consolidated 
at Brookfield 

India REIT 
Level

Lease Maturity Profile- Area Expiring (M sf) - March 31, 2022
Year FY23 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2 1.0

FY24 0.7 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.0 1.0
FY25 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.7
FY26 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.3 0.4 1.1

Lease Maturity Profile- Area Expiring (M sf) – September 30, 2022
Year FY23 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.1 1.0 

FY24 0.7 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 1.1 
FY25 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.6 
FY26 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.3 0.5 1.0 

Lease Maturity Profile- Area Expiring (M sf) – Changes during the half year
Year FY23 (0.1) 0.1 (0.0) 0.1 (0.0) (0.0) 

FY24 -    0.1 0.0 (0.0) (0.0) 0.1 
FY25 0.0 (0.1) - (0.0) (0.0) (0.1)
FY26 -    (0.1) -  -    0.0 (0.0) 

		  Key Tenants

Particulars
Kensington 

Powai, Mumbai

Candor 
TechSpace G2, 

Gurugram

Candor 
TechSpace N1, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace N2, 

Noida

Candor
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

New Tenants Added during the Half 
Year

0 1 12 2 0

Leasing to Existing Tenants during the 
half year 

1 1 2 1 -

	 (d)	 Borrowings/ repayment of borrowings (standalone and consolidated).
` in M

Name of the Asset SPV Facility 
Type

Principal  
outstanding as 

on April 01, 2022

Borrowing  
during  

the HY 23

Repayment 
during  

the HY 23

Outstanding
as on  

September 30, 
2022

Candor Kolkata LRD 12,500 0 0 12,500
LOC 1,000 350 0 1,350
LRD 10,000 0 0 10,000
LAP 1,500 850 0 2,350
LOAN 11,723 - 1,299 10,424

SPPL Noida LRD 2,000 0 0 2,000
LOC 750 100 0 850
LRD 1,020 0 0 1,020
LOAN 2,601 0 152 2,449

SDPL Noida LRD 14,883 0 302 14,581
LRD 0 250 0 250
LOAN 5,396 335 275 5,456

Festus LRD 6,500 0 0 6,500
LOC 300 270 0 570
LRD 1,540 0 0 1,540
LOAN 6,171 0 356 5,815

Total 77,884 2,155 2,384 77,655
- LRD: Lease Rental Discounting 
- LOC: Line of Credit
- LAP: Loan against Property 
- Loan: Loan from Brookfield India REIT  

	 	 On Standalone basis, there are no borrowings at Brookfield India REIT level.
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	 (e)	 Sponsor, manager, trustee, valuer, directors of the Trustee/manager/sponsor, etc.

	 	 �There is no change in the Sponsor, Manager, Trustee, and valuer during the half year. Further, there has been 
no change in the directors of Manager and Trustee during the half year ended September 30, 2022.

	 	 �The details of changes in the directors of Sponsor is as follows:

		  Changes in directors of Sponsor:
Sr. 
No.

Name of the Director of Sponsor DIN Nature of change

1 Tan Aik Thye, Derek Passport Number: K2680029R Appointed on April 29, 2022

2 Velden Neo Jun Xiong Passport Number: E6651509C Resigned on April 29, 2022

	 (f)	 �Clauses in trust deed, investment management agreement or any other agreement entered into pertaining to 
activities of Brookfield India REIT.

	 	 There is no change in the clauses of the Trust Deed and Investment Management Agreement. 

	 (g)	 Any other material change during the half year

	 	 �There was a change in Compliance Officer and members of Sponsor Group of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust 
and same were intimated to the Stock Exchange on August 03, 2022, September 07, 2022 and September 22, 
2022 respectively.

5.	 UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENT OF UNDER-CONSTRUCTION PROPERTIES, IF ANY.

	 �Candor TechSpace K1 owned by Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited, is located in a fast-
growing IT/ ITeS hub of Kolkata – the New Town IT hub. The office park has sufficient space to accommodate future 
expansion for offices, the property having total area of 48.4 Acres.

	 �It is proposed to construct a mixed-use development of 0.6 M sf in 3 acre plot in Candor TechSpace K1. The 
development will comprise commercial office and retail space.

	 The projected timelines for completion of construction is 36 months (October 2025).
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7.	 DEBT MATURITY PROFILE OVER EACH OF THE NEXT 5 YEARS AND DEBT COVENANTS, IF ANY. 

	 Debt maturity profile covered in above point.

	 Debt Covenants 
	 �LTVR shall not be greater than the following in the facilities borrowed by the Asset SPVs other than from Brookfield 

India REIT:

S. No. Asset SPV LTVR

1 Candor Kolkata <=50%

2 SPPL Noida <=50%

3 SDPL Noida <=50%

4 Festus <=50%

Name of the 
Assets SPV Nature of loan Lender Security Terms of repayment

Candor Kolkata Lease Rental Discounting-I
and Line of Credit
Interest @ PLR (-) spread
(Term : 12 Year)

Lease Rental Discounting-II
Interest @ PLR (-) spread
(Term : 12 Year)

Loan Against Property
Interest @ PLR (-) spread
(Term : 5 Year)

HDFC 
Limited

The term loan is secured 
by way of charge on 
hypothecation of 
receivables, movable 
assets, insurance policies, 
lease agreement, bank 
accounts, mortgage on 
immovable properties 
including land and 
pledge of 51% of share 
capital of the company 
on fully diluted basis

Principle repayment (Lease Rental Dis-
counting facility-I): Upon completion of 
60 months from the first drawdown date, 
the facility shall be repaid in 84 monthly 
instalments (overall tenure - 144 months) 
comprising of principle repayment and 
interest payment at applicable interest rate.

Principle repayment (Lease Rental 
Discounting facility-II): Upon completion of 
60 months from the first drawdown date, 
the facility shall be repaid in 78 monthly 
instalments (overall tenure - 144 months) 
comprising of principle repayment and 
interest payment at applicable interest rate.

Principle repayment (Loan against Property 
facility) : The facility shall be repaid in a 
single monthly instalment on or before 
January 31, 2027 comprising of principle 
repayment and interest payment at the 
applicable interest rate.

Interest repayment: At the applicable rate 
of interest on the outstanding principle of 
facility will be paid monthly on each interest 
payment date of the facility from the date 
of first disbursement till commencement of 
monthly instalments.

SPPL Noida Lease Rental Discounting-I
and Line of Credit
Interest @ PLR (-) spread
(Term : 12 Year)

Lease Rental Discounting-II
Interest @ PLR (-) spread
(Term : 12 Year)

HDFC 
Limited

The term loan is secured 
by way of charge on 
hypothecation of 
receivables, movable 
assets, insurance policies, 
lease agreement, bank 
accounts, mortgage on 
immovable properties 
including land and
pledge of 51% of share 
capital of the company on 
fully diluted basis

Principle repayment (Lease Rental Dis-
counting facility-I): Upon completion of 
60 months from the first drawdown date, 
the facility shall be repaid in 84 monthly 
instalments (overall tenure - 144 months) 
comprising of principle repayment and 
interest payment at applicable interest rate.

Principle repayment (Lease Rental Dis-
counting facility-II): Upon completion of 
60 months from the first drawdown date, 
the facility shall be repaid in 37 monthly 
instalments (overall tenure - 144 months) 
comprising of principle repayment and 
interest payment at applicable interest rate.

Interest repayment: At the applicable rate 
of interest on the outstanding principle of 
facility will be paid monthly on each interest 
payment date of the facility from the date 
of first disbursement till commencement of 
monthly instalments
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Name of the 
Assets SPV Nature of loan Lender Security Terms of repayment

Festus Lease Rental Discounting-I
and Line of Credit
Interest @ PLR (-) spread
(Term : 12 Year)

Lease Rental Discounting-II
Interest @ PLR (-) spread
(Term : 12 Year)

HDFC 
Limited

The term loan is secured 
by mortgage/charge 
on immovable assets 
(including buildings), 
bank accounts, insurance 
policies, receivables, 
underlying land for which 
rights owned by the 
company and demand 
promissory note in favour 
of the lender. Further 
term loan is secured by 
pledge, to be created on 
shares of the company 
constituting 51% of the 
issued and outstanding 
equity share capital.

Principle repayment (Lease Rental 
Discounting facility-I): Upon completion of 
60 months from the first drawdown date, 
the facility shall be repaid in 84 monthly 
instalments (overall tenure-144 months) 
comprising of principle repayment and 
interest payment at applicable interest rate.

Principle repayment (Lease Rental 
Discounting facility-II): Upon completion of 
60 months from the first drawdown date, 
the facility shall be repaid in 71 monthly 
instalments (overall tenure - 144 months) 
comprising of principle repayment and 
interest payment at applicable interest rate.

Interest repayment: At the applicable rate 
of interest on the outstanding principle of 
facility will be paid monthly on each interest 
payment date of the facility from the date 
of first disbursement till commencement of 
monthly instalments.

SDPL Noida Lease Rental Discounting-I
Interest @ PLR(-) spread
(Term : 15 Year)

Lease Rental Discounting-II
Interest @ PLR(-) spread
(Term : 140 months)

HDFC 
Limited

The term loan is secured 
by way of charge on 
hypothecation of 
receivables, movable 
assets, insurance policies, 
lease agreement, bank 
accounts, mortgage on 
immovable properties 
and pledge of 51% of 
share capital of the 
company on fully diluted 
basis

Principle repayment: Upon completion of 
24 months from the first drawdown date, 
the LRD (Lease Rental Discounting) facility 
shall be repaid in 156 monthly instalments 
comprising of principle repayment and 
interest payment at the applicable interest 
rate.

Principle repayment (Lease Rental Dis-
counting facility-II): Upon completion of 
24 months from the first drawdown date, 
the facility shall be repaid in 116 monthly 
instalments (overall tenure - 140 months) 
comprising of principle repayment and 
interest payment at applicable interest rate.

Interest repayment: At the applicable rate 
of interest on the outstanding principle of 
LRD facility will be paid monthly on each 
interest payment date of the LRD facility 
from the date of first disbursement till 
commencement of monthly instalments.

8.	� THE TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES OF BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT, INCLUDING ALL FEES AND 
CHARGES PAID TO THE MANAGER AND ANY OTHER PARTIES, IF ANY DURING THE HALF YEAR.

	 �Refer Page No. 105 and 143 of this report and relevant schedules. Refer page no. 201 note no. 42 and page no. 207  
note no. 45 of this report.

9.	� PAST PERFORMANCE OF BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT WITH RESPECT TO UNIT PRICE, 
DISTRIBUTIONS AND YIELD FOR THE LAST 5 YEARS, AS APPLICABLE.

	 �The units were listed on February 16, 2021, therefore, the past performance and other details for the last 5 years 
are not available. The details of unit price are mentioned below:

Month
BSE NSE

High (`) Low (`) High (`) Low (`)

April, 2022 336.99 312.00 336.00 312.00

May, 2022 339.00 305.50 340.00 303.00

June, 2022 339.99 317.20 340.00 319.01

July, 2022 333.00 318.00 332.00 318.90

August, 2022 344.70 321.29 345.00 318.00

September, 2022 338.48 319.00 337.94 318.93
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	 The details of distribution and yield for the half year ended September 30, 2022 is as follows:

June 30, 2022 `5.10 per unit

September 30, 2022 `5.10 per unit

Total `10.20 per unit

Yield as on September 30, 2022 closing price of NSE: (Annualised)
Yield as per IPO Price of `275: (Annualised)

6.28%
7.42%

10.	� UNIT PRICE QUOTED ON THE DESIGNATED STOCK EXCHANGES AT THE BEGINNING AND END 
OF THE HALF YEAR, THE HIGHEST AND LOWEST UNIT PRICE AND THE AVERAGE DAILY VOLUME 
TRADED DURING THE HALF YEAR
Particulars

Units Outstanding (Nos.) 335,087,073

Unit Price Performance for the Half Year (`) BSE NSE

Opening Price: April 1, 2022 (`) 316.00 315.90

Closing September 30, 2022 (`) 325.24 324.80

52 Week High (`) 344.70 345.00

52 Week Low (`) 250.00 260.50

Average Daily Volume - Traded During Half Year (Nos.)

No of Units (Nos.) 48,648.71 91,968.31

Amount (`) 16,027,196.05 30,134,010.10

11.	� DETAILS OF ALL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS DURING THE HALF YEAR

	 (a)	� Value of which exceeds five per cent of 
value of Brookfield India REIT assets.

	 	 �The five percent of the value of Brookfield India 
REIT assets is `8,178.2M.

	 	 �Refer to Page No. 133 to 137 of this report which 
contains details of all related party transactions 
entered into by Brookfield India REIT including 
monies lent by Brookfield India REIT to Asset 
SPVs (Standalone).

	 	 �Refer to Page No. 201 to 205 of this report which 
contains details of all related party transactions 
entered into by Brookfield India REIT and 
the Asset SPVs during the half year ended 
September 30, 2022 (excluding transactions 
which are eliminated on consolidation).

	 (b)	� Details regarding the monies lent by 
Brookfield India REIT to the holding 
company or the special purpose vehicle in 
which it has investment in.

	 	 �Refer Page No. 133 to 137 of this report which 
contains details of all related party transactions 
entered into by Brookfield India REIT including 
monies lent by Brookfield India REIT to Asset 
SPVs (Standalone).

	 	 �Refer Page No. 201 to 205 of this report which 
contains details of all related party transactions 
entered into by Brookfield India REIT and 
the Asset SPVs during the half year ended 
September 30, 2022 (excluding transactions 
which are eliminated on consolidation).

12.	� DETAILS OF FUND RAISING DURING THE 
HALF YEAR, IF ANY.

	 None

13.	� BRIEF DETAILS OF MATERIAL AND PRICE 
SENSITIVE INFORMATION

	 �Except as disclosed to the stock exchanges during 
the half year ended September 30, 2022, there is 
no other material and price sensitive information 
involving Brookfield India REIT.

14.	� BRIEF DETAILS OF MATERIAL LITIGATIONS 
AND REGULATORY ACTIONS WHICH ARE 
PENDING, AGAINST BROOKFIELD INDIA 
REIT, SPONSOR(S), MANAGER OR ANY OF 
THEIR ASSOCIATES AND SPONSOR GROUP(S) 
AND THE TRUSTEE, IF ANY, AS AT THE END 
OF THE HALF YEAR

	 �This section of the Report contains disclosures, as on 
September 30, 2022, on all:
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	 	 �pending title litigation and irregularities 
pertaining to the Portfolio and pending criminal 
matters, regulatory actions and material (as set 
out below) civil/ commercial matters against 
Brookfield India REIT, the Sponsor, the Manager 
or any of their Associates, Asset SPVs, CIOP, the 
Sponsor Group and the Trustee (collectively, 
“Required Parties”); and

	 	 �pending direct tax, indirect tax and property 
tax matters against the Required Parties in a 
consolidated manner.

	 �For the purposes of identifying “associates” with 
respect to disclosures to be made in the report 
under the REIT Regulations, the definition of 
‘associates’ as set out in the REIT Regulations have 
been relied on except sub-clause (ii) of Regulation 
2(1)(b) of the REIT regulations, which requires any 
person who controls, both directly and indirectly, 
the said person to be identified as an associate. With 
respect to the aforesaid, only entities which directly 
control Brookfield India REIT, Sponsor or Manager, as 
applicable, have been considered.

	 �All disclosures with respect to pending civil/ 
commercial matters, regulatory actions, criminal 
litigation and tax matters against BAM have been 
made in accordance with the materiality threshold 
separately disclosed below.

	 �Except as disclosed in below, there is no pending title 
litigation or irregularity, criminal litigation, regulatory 
action and civil/ commercial matter (subject to the 
materiality thresholds set out below) against the 
Required Parties:

	 I.	� Title irregularities (including title 
litigation) pertaining to the Portfolio

	 	 Nil

	 II.	� Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
Brookfield India REIT, its Associates, 
the Asset SPVs and CIOP

	 	 �For the purpose of disclosure of pending civil/ 
commercial litigation against Brookfield India 
REIT, its Associates, the Asset SPVs and CIOP, 
such matters exceeding `89.92M (being 1% of 
the combined total income of Brookfield India 
REIT as of March 31, 2022) have been considered 
material and proceedings where the amount 
is not determinable but the proceeding is 
considered material by the Manager from the 
perspective of Brookfield India REIT, have also 
been disclosed.

	 	 �As of September 30, 2022, Brookfield India REIT, 
its Associates, the Asset SPVs and CIOP do not 

have any criminal litigation, regulatory actions 
or material civil/ commercial litigation pending 
against them.

	 III.	� Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
the Sponsor and its Associates

	 	 �For the purpose of disclosure of pending civil/ 
commercial litigation against the Sponsor and 
its Associates, such matters exceeding  
`455.25M (being 5% of the net worth of the 
Sponsor as of March 31, 2022) have been 
considered material and proceedings where the 
amount is not determinable but the proceeding 
is considered material by the Manager from the 
perspective of Brookfield India REIT have also 
been disclosed.

	 	 �As of September 30, 2022, the Sponsor 
and its Associates do not have any criminal 
litigation, regulatory action or any material civil/ 
commercial litigation pending against them.

	 IV.	� Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
the Sponsor Group

	 	 �For the purpose of disclosure of pending civil/ 
commercial litigation against the Sponsor Group 
(excluding the Sponsor and BAM), such matters 
exceeding `89.92M (being 1% of the combined 
total income of Brookfield India REIT as of 
March 31, 2022) have been considered material 
and proceedings where the amount is not 
determinable but the proceeding is considered 
material by the Manager have been disclosed.

	 	 �As of September 30, 2022, the Sponsor Group 
(excluding the Sponsor and BAM) do not have 
any criminal litigation, regulatory action or 
material civil/ commercial litigation pending 
against them.

	 	 �With respect to pending civil/ commercial, 
regulatory actions, criminal litigation and tax 
litigation against BAM (which is currently listed 
on NYSE and TSX), the disclosure below has 
been made on the basis of the public filings 
and periodic disclosures made by BAM in 
accordance with applicable securities law 
and stock exchange rules. The threshold for 
identifying material matters in such disclosures 
is based on periodically reviewed thresholds 
applied by the independent auditors of BAM 
in expressing their opinion on the financial 
statements and is generally linked to various 
financial metrics of BAM, including total equity, 
materiality for revenue and operating expenses 
which is based on funds from operations. The 
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latest audit plan, prepared by the independent 
auditors of BAM, comprising such threshold 
has been approved by the audit committee 
and board of directors of BAM and set such 
threshold at USD 1.5B.

	 	 �As of September 30, 2022, BAM is contingently 
liable with respect to litigation and claims that 
arise in the normal course of business. It is not 
reasonably possible that any of the ongoing 
litigation could result in a material settlement 
liability.

	 V.	� Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
the Manager and its Associates

	 	 �For the purpose of disclosure of pending civil/ 
commercial litigation against the Manager and 
its Associates, such matters exceeding  
`48.10M (being 5% of the total income of the 
Manager as of March 31, 2022) have been 
considered material and proceedings where the 
amount is not determinable but the proceeding 
is considered material by the Manager from the 
perspective of Brookfield India REIT, have also 
been disclosed.

	 	 �As of September 30, 2022, the Manager and its 
Associates do not have any criminal litigation, 
regulatory action or material civil/ commercial 
litigation pending against them.

	 VI.	� Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 	
the Trustee

	 	 �For the purpose of pending civil/ commercial 
litigation against the Trustee, matters involving 
amounts exceeding `11.615M (being 5% of the 
profit after tax of the Trustee for FY2022) have 
been considered material.

	 	 �As of September 30, 2022, the Trustee does not 
have any criminal litigation, regulatory action 
or material civil/ commercial litigation pending 
against it.

	 VII.	Tax Matters
	 	 �Details of all direct tax, indirect tax and property 

tax matters with respect to the Required Parties 
as of September 30, 2022 is set forth:

	 	 �For the purposes of disclosure of tax matters 
against BAM, see the materiality threshold 
adopted for disclosure of civil/ commercial 
litigation, regulatory actions, criminal litigation 
and tax litigation under “Material litigation, 
criminal litigation and regulatory actions 

pending against the Sponsor Group”, on this 
page above.

Nature Number
Amount 
involved  

(in ` M)
Brookfield India REIT, 
Asset SPVs and CIOP
Direct tax 47 1,745.19
Indirect tax   5   359.04
Sponsor Group
Direct tax   1 204.79

		  �The direct tax matters are primarily in the nature 
of demand notices and/ or orders issued by the 
income tax authorities alleging computation of 
taxable income on account of certain additions/ 
disallowances, deduction of tax incentive and 
classifications of income resulting in additional 
demand of TDS/ income tax. Such matters are 
pending before the relevant tax authorities 
including income tax appellate tribunal. These also 
include matters where the income- tax authorities 
have initiated penalty proceedings but not issued 
any penalty order / concluded the proceedings.

		�  The indirect tax matters are primarily in the nature 
of demand notices and/ or orders (excluding show 
cause notices where no demand has been raised 
yet and the order is pending) issued by the indirect 
tax authorities alleging non-payment of correct 
amount of value added tax or in the nature of 
ex-parte order. Such matters are pending before 
the indirect tax authorities, including indirect tax 
appellate tribunals.

15.	 RISK FACTORS

	 �The risks and uncertainties described below are not 
the only risks that we face or may face or not the 
only ones relevant to Brookfield India REIT, the Asset 
SPVs, CIOP or in the industry we operate. Additional 
risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or 
that we currently believe to be immaterial may also 
have an adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

	� Risks Related to our Organization and 
Structure

	 1.	 �The Manager does not provide any assurance 
or guarantee of any distributions to the 
Unitholders. The ability of our Manager to make 
distributions to the Unitholders may be affected 
by several factors including among other things:.

		  	 �The cash flows from operations generated 
by the Asset SPVs and CIOP

		  	 �The  debt service costs and other liabilities 
of the Asset SPVs, including terms of the 
financing and agreements
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		  	 �The working capital needs of the Asset 
SPVs 

		  	 �The extent of lease concessions, rent free 
periods, and incentives given to tenants 
to attract new tenants and retain existing 
tenants

		  	 �The terms of and any payments under any 
agreements governing land leased or co- 
developed by the Asset SPVs

		  	 �Business, results of operations and 
financial condition of the Asset SPVs

		  	 �Applicable laws and regulations, which may 
restrict the payment of dividends by the 
Asset SPVs or distributions by us

	 2.	 �The ability of the Manager to acquire or 
dispose of assets or explore new investment 
opportunities or avail additional debt is subject 
to conditions provided in the REIT Regulations. 
Further, laws governing REITs in India are in their 
early stages and relatively untested.

	 3.	 �We have incurred a significant amount of debt 
in the operation of our business, and our 
cash flows and results of operations could be 
adversely affected by required repayments or 
related interest and other risks assumed in 
connection with procuring debt financing. Our 
inability to service debt may adversely affect 
distributions to Unitholders.

	 Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
	 �4.	 �Our business and profitability are dependent 

on the performance of the commercial real 
estate market in India as well as the general 
economic, demographic and political conditions. 
Fluctuations in the general economic, market 
and other conditions may affect the commercial 
real estate market in India and in turn, our ability 
to lease office parks to tenants on favorable 
terms. The commercial real estate market in 
India may particularly be dependent on market 
prices for developable land and the demand 
for leasing of finished offices, both of which will 
continue to have a significant impact on our 
business, results of operations and financial 
condition.

	 5.	 �We are dependent on a limited number of 
tenants and sectors for our significant portion 
of our revenue and any adverse developments 
affecting such tenants or sectors may have 
an adverse effect on our business, results of 

operations and financial condition. On account 
of a majority of our assets being registered 
as SEZ for IT and IT enabled services, the 
tenants in the technology sector accounted for 
approximately half of the leased area of our 
assets.

	 6.	 �A significant portion of our revenue is derived 
from leasing activities at Candor TechSpace 
G2 and the NCR and any adverse development 
relating to Candor TechSpace G2 or the 
micro-market in which they arise located 
may adversely affect our business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

	 7.	 �The audit report of the Statutory Auditor on 
the Financial Statements includes emphasis of 
matter. 

	 8.	 �Our dependence on rental income may 
adversely affect our profitability, ability to 
meet debt and other financial obligations and 
the Manager’s ability to make distributions to 
Unitholders.

	 9.	 �The Manager cannot assure you that it will be 
able to successfully complete future acquisitions 
or efficiently manage the assets that we may 
acquire in the future. Further, any future 
acquisitions may be subject to acquisition 
related risks.

	 10.	 �There can be no assurance that the Under 
Construction Area or Future Development 
Potential will be completed in its entirety in 
accordance with anticipated timelines or cost, or 
that we will achieve the results expected from 
such projects, which may adversely affect our 
reputation, business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

	 11.	 �The Manager may be unable to renew lease 
agreements or lease vacant area on favorable 
terms or at all, which could adversely affect our 
business, results of operations and cash flows.

	 12.	 �The extent to which COVID-19 may affect 
our business and operations in the future is 
uncertain and cannot be predicted.

	 13.	 �The actual rent received for the assets may be 
less than the Leasing Rent or the market rent 
and we may experience a decline in realized rent 
rates from time to time, which may adversely 
affect our business, results of operations, cash 
flows and distributions.
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	 14.	 �Brookfield India REIT, the Asset SPVs, CIOP, the 
Manager and the Sponsor have entered into 
several related party transactions, which could 
potentially pose a conflict of interest. Certain of 
our service providers or their affiliates (including 
accountants, consultants, property managers 
and investment or commercial banking firms) 
may also provide goods or services to or have 
business or other relationships with Brookfield 
and payments by us to such service providers 
may indirectly benefit Brookfield. The Manager 
may also provide property management and 
facility management services to other members 
of Brookfield. The Manager may hire employees 
from Brookfield and such employees may 
also work on other projects of Brookfield, and 
therefore, conflicts may arise in the allocation of 
the employees and the employees’ time.

	 15.	 �The valuation report on the assets in our 
Portfolio is only indicative in nature as it is 
based on a set of assumptions and may not 
be representative of the true value of the 
Portfolio. The valuation report is based on 
certain assumptions relating to the nature of the 
property, its location, lease rental forecasts and 
valuation methodologies and these assumptions 
add an element of subjectivity to these 
valuations and hence may not be accurate. 
Further, valuations do not necessarily represent 
the price at which a real estate asset would 
sell, since market prices of assets can only be 
determined by negotiation between a willing 
buyer and a seller.

	 16.	 �We may be subject to certain restrictive 
covenants under the financing agreements 
that could limit our flexibility in managing our 
business or to use cash or other assets or to 
make distributions to Unitholders.

	 17.	 �We have a limited operating history and may not 
be able to operate our business successfully, 
achieve our investment objectives or generate 
sufficient cash flows to make or sustain 
distributions. 

	 18.	 �The Manager may not be able to successfully 
meet working capital or capital expenditure 
requirements of the Portfolio.

	 19.	 �We have certain contingent liabilities as given in 
the Financial Statements, which if materialize, 
may adversely affect our results of operations, 
financial condition and cash flows.

	 20.	 �Non-compliance with, and changes in, 
environmental, health and safety laws 

and regulations could adversely affect the 
development of the Portfolio and our financial 
condition. Our business and operations are 
subject to compliance with various laws, and 
any change in law or non-compliance in the 
future may adversely affect our business and 
results of operations. In addition to compliance 
with the REIT Regulations, we are also subject 
to compliance with applicable foreign exchange 
regulations due to the Sponsor and Manager 
not being Indian owned and controlled.

	 21.	 �Any change in such laws or non-compliance or 
inability to obtain, maintain or renew required 
regulatory approvals and permits by our Assets 
SPVs or CIOP in a timely manner or at all may 
adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

	 22.	 �Our Asset SPVs and CIOP are subject to ongoing 
compliance requirements under various laws, 
and there have been certain past instances of 
non-compliance, any change in law or non-
compliance in the future may adversely affect 
our business and results of operations.

	 23.	 �Candor TechSpace N1 and Candor TechSpace 
N2 is located on land leased from NOIDA  for 
a term of 90 years and are required to comply 
with the terms and conditions provided in the 
lease deeds, failing which NOIDA may terminate 
the lease or take over the premises. Also, the 
Manager may not be able to renew the leases 
with NOIDA upon their expiry or premature 
termination.

	 24.	 �Majority of the assets in the Portfolio are 
located on land notified as SEZs and a few are 
registered as private IT parks and the relevant 
Asset SPVs are required to comply with the SEZ 
Act and the rules made thereunder along with 
their respective conditions of registration as 
private IT parks.

	 25.	 �The title and development rights or other 
interests over land on which the Portfolio are 
located may be subject to legal uncertainties 
and defects which may have an adverse effect 
on our ability to own the assets and result in 
us incurring costs to remedy and cure such 
defects.

	 26.	 �The Manager may not be able to control our 
operating costs, or the direct expenses may 
remain constant or increase, even if income 
from the Portfolio decreases, resulting in an 
adverse effect on our business and results of 
operation.
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	 27.	 �The Manager and the CIOP utilize the services 
of certain third party operators to manage 
and operate the Portfolio. Any deficiency or 
interruption in their services may adversely 
affect our business.

	 28.	 �We are exposed to a variety of risks associated 
with technology, safety, security and crisis 
management which may disrupt our business, 
result in losses or limit our growth.

	 29.	 �We may be subject to the Competition Act, 2002 
and any adverse application or interpretation of 
the law could adversely affect our business

	 30.	 �We do not own the trademark or logo for 
the “Brookfield India Real Estate Trust” or 
“Brookfield India REIT” and hence our inability to 
use or protect these intellectual property rights 
may have an adverse effect on our business and 
results of operations.

	 31.	 �We may be required to record significant 
charges to earnings in the future upon review of 
the Portfolio for potential impairment. 

	 32.	 �We operate in a competitive environment and 
increased competitive pressure could adversely 
affect our business and the ability of the 
Manager to execute our growth strategy.

	 33.	 �CIOP is not an SPV under the REIT Regulations 
and as such it is not required to comply with the 
mandatory distribution requirements under the 
REIT Regulations.

	 34.	 �There are outstanding litigation proceedings 
involving our Asset SPVs and our sponsor 
group, which may adversely affect our financial 
condition.

	 35.	 �The Manager may not be able to maintain 
adequate insurance to cover all losses that we 
may incur.

	 36.	 �Lease agreements with some of the tenants in 
the Portfolio may not be adequately stamped 
or registered, and consequently, the Manager 
may be unable to successfully litigate over 
such deeds in the future and penalties may be 
imposed on us.

	 37.	 �If the Manager is unable to maintain 
relationships with other stakeholders in the 
Portfolio, our results of operation and financial 
condition may be adversely affected.

	 38.	 �Land is subject to compulsory acquisition by the 
Government and compensation in lieu of such 
acquisition may be inadequate. 

	� Risks Related to the Relationships with the 
Sponsor and the Manager

	 39.	 �The Sponsor may cease to act as our sponsor in 
the future.

	 40.	 �We and parties associated with us are required 
to adhere to the eligibility conditions specified 
under Regulation 4 of the REIT Regulations 
as well as the certificate of registration on an 
ongoing basis. We may not be able to ensure 
such ongoing compliance by the Sponsor, the 
Manager and the Trustee, which could result in 
the cancellation of our registration.

	 41.	 �The Sponsor and Sponsor Group will be able to 
exercise significant influence over certain of our 
activities and the interests of the Sponsor and 
Sponsor Group may conflict with the interests of 
other Unitholders.

	 42.	 �Conflicts of interest may arise out of common 
business objectives shared by the Manager, 
the Sponsor, the Sponsor Group and us. The 
Manager also provides property management 
services to other assets held by Brookfield, 
which are of a similar type as those held by 
the Asset SPVs. Further, we may be subject to 
potential conflicts of interest arising out of our 
relationship with the Sponsor, Sponsor Group 
and their affiliates and the Manager, and may 
enter into transactions with related parties 
in the future and the Manager cannot assure 
you that such potential conflicts of interest will 
always be resolved in favour of Brookfield India 
REIT and the Unitholders.

	 	 �Our Manager has adopted the policy on related 
party transactions and conflicts of interest to 
mitigate such potential conflicts of interest 
instances. While our strategy will be to pursue 
substantially stabilized real estate investment 
opportunities, there can be no assurance that 
all potentially suitable investment opportunities 
that come to the attention of Brookfield will be 
made available to us.

	 43.	 �We depend on the Manager and its personnel 
for our success and to manage our business and 
assets. Any failure by the Manager to perform 
satisfactorily could adversely affect our results 
of operations and financial condition. Further, 
we may not find a suitable replacement for 
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the Manager if the Investment Management 
Agreement is terminated or if key personnel 
cease to be employed by the Manager or 
otherwise become unavailable.

	� Risks Related to ownership of Units and 
investments in India

	 44.	 �Any downgrading of India’s sovereign debt rating 
by a domestic or international rating agency 
could adversely affect our ability to obtain 
financing and, in turn, adversely affect our 
business.

	 45.	 �The reporting requirements and other 
obligations of real estate investment trusts 
post-listing are still evolving. Accordingly, the 
level of ongoing disclosures made to and the 
protections granted to the Unitholders may be 
more limited than those made to or available to 
the shareholders of a company that has listed its 
equity shares upon a recognized stock exchange 
in India.

	 46.	 �Given the requirements under the REIT 
Regulations, it may be difficult for public 
Unitholders to remove the Trustee as the 
Sponsor Group holds a majority of the Units.

	 47.	 �Our business is dependent on economic growth 
in India and financial stability in Indian markets, 
and any slowdown in the Indian economy or in 
Indian financial markets could have an adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations, 
financial condition and the price of our Units.

	 48.	 �Fluctuations in the exchange rate of the Indian 
Rupee with respect to other currencies will 
affect the foreign currency equivalent of the 
value of the Units and any distributions.

	 49.	 �Trusts such as the Brookfield India REIT may 
be dissolved, and the proceeds from the 
dissolution thereof may be less than the amount 
invested by the Unitholders.

	 50.	 �Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising 
out of capital gains on the sale of Units.

	 51.	 �Unitholders will not have the right to redeem 
their Units.

	 52.	 �The Units may also experience price and volume 
fluctuations and there may not be an active or 
liquid market for the Units.

	 53.	 �NAV per Unit may be diluted if further issues are 
priced below the current NAV per Unit.

	 54.	 �Any future issuance of Units by us or sales of 
Units by the Sponsor Group or any of the other 
significant Unitholders may adversely affect the 
trading price of the Units.

	 55.	 �Our rights and the rights of our Unitholders 
to recover claims against the Manager or the 
Trustee are limited.

16.	� INFORMATION OF THE CONTACT PERSON 
OF BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT

	 Mr. Saurabh Jain
	 �Company Secretary and Compliance Officer of 

Brookfield India REIT

	 Email Id: reit.compliance@brookfield.com 
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To The Board of Directors of
Brookprop Management Services Private Limited 
(the “Investment Manager”)
(Acting in capacity as the Investment Manager of 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust)

INTRODUCTION

1.	� We have reviewed the accompanying unaudited 
Condensed Standalone Interim Financial Statements 
of  Brookfield India Real Estate Trust  
(“the REIT”), (“the Condensed Standalone Interim 
Financial Statements”) which comprise of the 
following:

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Standalone Balance 
Sheet as at September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Standalone 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive income) for the quarter and half 
year ended September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Standalone 
Statement of Cash flow for the quarter and half 
year ended September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Standalone 
Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for 
the half year ended September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Statement of Net Assets at Fair 
Value as at September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value for the half year ended September 30, 
2022;

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Statement of Net 
Distributable Cash Flow for the quarter and half 
year ended September 30, 2022; and

	 	� summary of the significant accounting policies 
and select explanatory notes

	� These Condensed Standalone Interim Financial 
Statements are being submitted by the REIT 
pursuant to the requirements of Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to 
time including any guidelines and circulars issued 
thereunder read with SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016 dated December 29, 2016 (the “REIT 
Regulations”). 

2.	� The Condensed Standalone Interim Financial 
Statements, which is the responsibility of the 
Investment Manager and approved by the Board 
of Directors of the Investment Manager, have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the REIT Regulations; Indian Accounting Standard 

34 “Interim Financial Reporting” (“Ind AS 34”), 
prescribed under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as 
amended) and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent 
with the REIT Regulations. Our responsibility is to 
express a conclusion on the Condensed Standalone 
Interim Financial Statements based on our review.

Scope of Review
3.	� We conducted our review of the Condensed 

Standalone Interim Financial Statements in 
accordance with the Standard on Review 
Engagements (SRE) 2410 ‘Review of Interim Financial 
Information Performed by the Independent 
Auditor of the Entity’, issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). A review of 
interim financial information consists of making 
inquiries, primarily of the Investment Manager’s 
personnel responsible for financial and accounting 
matters, and applying analytical and other review 
procedures. A review is substantially less in 
scope than an audit conducted in accordance 
with Standards on Auditing issued by ICAI and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain 
assurance that we would become aware of all 
significant matters that might be identified in an 
audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion.

Conclusion
4.	� Based on our review, nothing has come to our 

attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying Condensed Standalone Interim 
Financial Statements, have not been prepared in 
accordance with the REIT Regulations, Ind AS 34, 
prescribed under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as 
amended) and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with 
the REIT Regulations.

Emphasis of matter
5.	� We draw attention to Note 10(a)(i) which describe 

the presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” to 
comply with REIT Regulations. Our conclusion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants

            (Firm’s Reg. No. 015125N)

Anand Subramanian
Partner

Place: Bengaluru 	 (Membership No. 110815)
Date: November 07, 2022	 (UDIN: 22110815BCIWJB5845)

Independent Auditor’s Report 
on Review of Condensed Standalone Interim Financial Statements 
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Particulars Note
As at 

30 September 2022 
(Unaudited) 

As at 
31 March 2022 

(Audited) 
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets
-	 Investments 3 62,941.15    62,965.85 
-	 Loans 4  24,144.50  25,891.50 
-	 Other financial assets 5  -    30.00 
Non-current tax assets (net) 6  0.59  17.51 
Total non-current assets 87,086.24  88,904.86 
Current assets
Financial assets
-	 Cash and cash equivalents 7  1,718.40  1,755.13 
-	 Other financial assets 8  628.46  645.72 
Other current assets 9  138.49  0.12 
Total current assets  2,485.35  2,400.97 
TOTAL ASSETS 89,571.59  91,305.83 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 
Unit Capital 10  88,289.05  89,867.31 
Other equity 11 1,174.02  1,387.46 
Total equity 89,463.07  91,254.77 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
-	 Trade payables 12
 		  total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  0.11  -   
		�  total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises  33.43  31.72 

-	 Other financial liabilities 13  72.49  6.32 
Other current liabilities 14  0.36  13.02 
Current tax liabilities (net) 15  2.13  -   
Total current liabilities  108.52  51.06 
Total liabilities  108.52  51.06 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 89,571.59   91,305.83 
Significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Standalone Balance Sheet

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
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The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Particulars Note

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 June 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2021 
 (Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

(Unaudited) 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 
(Audited) 

Income and gains
Dividend  30.00  22.00  30.00  52.00  42.00  180.00  222.00 
Interest 16  835.32  855.00  1,154.83  1,690.32  2,061.81  2,297.87  4,359.68 
Other income 17  -    -    -    -    126.78  -    126.78 
Total income  865.32  877.00  1,184.83  1,742.32  2,230.59  2,477.87  4,708.46 
Expenses and losses
Valuation Expenses  4.39  1.67  2.99  6.06  7.67  3.93  11.60 
Audit Fees  4.05  3.44  2.36  7.49  8.26  5.90  14.16 
Investment management fees  20.26  20.32  24.92  40.58  35.30  45.91  81.21 
Trustee fees  0.74  0.74  0.74  1.48  1.47  1.48  2.95 
Legal and professional expense  4.81  8.57  4.35  13.38  12.60  7.17  19.77 
Other expenses 18 31.23  8.24  4.86 39.47  11.34  30.41  41.75 
Total expenses 65.48   42.98  40.22 108.46  76.64  94.80  171.44 
Profit before Income tax 799.84  834.02  1,144.61 1,633.86   2,153.95  2,383.07  4,537.02 
Tax expense: 19
Current tax  3.37  4.30  4.12  7.67  7.50  4.77  12.27 
Deferred tax  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Tax expense for the period/
year  3.37  4.30  4.12  7.67  7.50  4.77  12.27 

Profit for the period/year 
after income tax 796.47  829.72  1,140.49 1,626.19  2,146.45  2,378.30  4,524.75 

Other comprehensive 
income
Items that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss
-  �Remeasurement of defined 

benefit obligations
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

-  �Income tax related to items 
that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Other comprehensive 
income for the period/year, 
net of tax

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total comprehensive income 
for the period/year 796.47  829.72  1,140.49 1,626.19  2,146.45  2,378.30  4,524.75 

Earnings per unit 24
Basic 2.38  2.48  3.77 4.85   6.81  7.85  14.64 
Diluted 2.38  2.48  3.77 4.85  6.81  7.85  14.64 

Significant accounting policies 2

Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
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Particulars

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the 
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 
 (Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

(Unaudited) 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 
(Audited) 

Cash flows from operating 
activities :
Profit before tax 799.84  834.02  1,144.61 1,633.86  2,153.95  2,383.07  4,537.02 
Adjustments for :
Dividend income  (30.00)  (22.00)  (30.00)  (52.00)  (42.00)  (180.00)  (222.00)
Interest income on loans to 
subsidiaries

 (808.15)  (825.65)  (1,145.21)  (1,633.80)  (2,029.32)  (2,286.72)  (4,316.04)

Interest income on debentures  (19.29)  (19.29)  -    (38.58)  (14.94)  -    (14.94)
Interest income on fixed deposits  (7.88)  (8.88)  (9.62)  (16.76)  (17.55)  (11.15)  (28.70)
Loss/(Gain) on investment in 
15% Compulsory Convertible 
Debentures at fair value through 
profit or loss

24.70  -    -   24.70  (126.78)  -    (126.78)

Operating cash flows before 
working capital changes

 (40.78)  (41.80)  (40.22)  (82.58)  (76.64)  (94.80)  (171.44)

Movements in working capital:
(Increase)/Decrease in other 
current and non current assets

 (63.30)  (9.58)  (0.82)  (72.88)  5.26  (5.38)  (0.12)

Decrease in current and non 
current financial assets -other

 30.00  -    -    30.00  -    -    -   

Increase/ (Decrease) in current 
financial liabilities - trade payables

 3.03  (1.21)  5.52  1.82  0.22  9.71  9.93 

(Decrease)/ Increase in current 
and non current financial liabilities 
- others

 (2.32)  2.32  (7.57)  -    (3.73)  (79.20)  (82.93)

Increase/(Decrease) in other 
current and non current liabilities

 0.67  1.49  0.63  2.16  (1.97)  (4.71)  (6.68)

Cash used in operating 
activities

 (72.70)  (48.78)  (42.46)  (121.48)  (76.86)  (174.38)  (251.24)

Income taxes (paid)/ refunds 
received (net)

 (2.72)  14.10  (3.83)  11.38  (8.79)  (4.07)  (12.86)

Net cash used in operating 
activities (A)

 (75.42)  (34.68)  (46.29)  (110.10)  (85.65)  (178.45)  (264.10)

Cash flows from investing 
activities :
Loan to subsidiaries  -    (335.00)  (188.00)  (335.00)  (5,773.50)  (188.00)  (5,961.50)
Loan repaid by subsidiaries  886.00  1,196.00  605.00  2,082.00  15,268.00  902.00  16,170.00 
Investment in equity shares of 
subsidiary

 -    (11.52)  -    (11.52)  (7,946.85)  -    (7,946.85)

Investment in debentures issued 
by subsidiary

 -    -    -    -    (5,311.17)  -    (5,311.17)

Interest received on fixed deposits  8.16  8.77  9.40  16.93  17.83  10.54  28.37 
Interest received on investment in 
debentures

 19.29  19.29  -    38.58  42.97  387.08  430.05 

Interest received on loan to 
subsidiaries

 807.93  842.96  1,315.26  1,650.89  1,757.42  2,457.21  4,214.63 

Dividend received  30.00  22.00  30.00  52.00  42.00  180.00  222.00 
Net cash generated from / 
(used in) investing activities (B)

 1,751.38  1,742.50  1,771.66  3,493.88  (1,903.30)  3,748.83  1,845.53 

Standalone Statement of Cash Flows  

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
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1.	�  The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian Accounting Standard -7 : 
“Statement on Cash Flows”.				  

2.	� The Trust had issued Units in exchange for investments in SPVs during the year ended 31 March 2022. The same has not been reflected 
in condensed Standalone Statement of Cash Flows since these were non-cash transactions.

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

Particulars

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the 
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 
 (Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

(Unaudited) 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 
(Audited) 

Cash flows from financing 
activities :
Proceeds from issue of units  -    -    -    -    4,949.83  -    4,949.83 
Expense incurred towards initial 
public offerings 

 -    -    (18.08)  -    (225.74)  (976.23)  (1,201.97)

Expense incurred towards 
preferential allotment

 -    (4.00)  -    (4.00)  (44.92)  -    (44.92)

Distribution to unitholders  (1,707.68)  (1,708.83)  (1,816.81)  (3,416.51)  (3,330.72)  (1,816.81)  (5,147.53)
Net cash (used in) / generated 
from financing activities (C)

 (1,707.68)  (1,712.83)  (1,834.89)  (3,420.51)  1,348.45  (2,793.04)  (1,444.59)

Net (decrease) / increase in 
cash and cash equivalents 
(A+B+C)

 (31.72)  (5.01)  (109.52)  (36.73)  (640.50)  777.34  136.84 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of the period/ 
year

 1,750.12  1,755.13  2,505.15  1,755.13  2,395.63  1,618.29  1,618.29 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the period/ year 
(refer note 7)

 1,718.40  1,750.12  2,395.63  1,718.40  1,755.13  2,395.63  1,755.13 

Components of cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the 
period/ year
Balances with banks 
  - in current account  2.40  17.12  24.66  2.40  35.13  24.66  35.13 
  - in escrow account  -    -    150.97  -    -    150.97  -   
  - in deposit account  1,716.00  1,733.00  2,220.00  1,716.00  1,720.00  2,220.00  1,720.00 

 1,718.40  1,750.12  2,395.63  1,718.40  1,755.13  2,395.63  1,755.13 

Standalone Statement of Cash Flows  

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
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(a) 	 UNIT CAPITAL
Unit in Nos. Amount

Balance as on 01 April 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Changes in unit capital during the previous year:
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2021#  -    (297.05)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 September 2021#  -    (605.60)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 December 2021#  -    (481.45)
Add: Units issued during the year (refer note 10)  32,285,472  9,500.00 
Add: Reversal of issue expenses no longer payable  -    25.55 
Less: Expense incurred towards preferential allotment  -    (48.92)
Balance at the end of the previous reporting year 31 March 2022  335,087,073  89,867.31 
Balance as on 01 April 2022  335,087,073  89,867.31 
Changes in unit capital during the current period:
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 March 2022#  -    (720.44)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2022#  -    (857.82)
Balance at the end of the current reporting period 30 September 2022  335,087,073  88,289.05 

(b) 	 OTHER EQUITY 

Particulars  Retained 
earnings 

 Balance as on 01 April 2021  626.23 
 Add: Profit for the year ended 31 March 2022  4,524.75 
 Add: Other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022  -   
 Add: Total Comprehensive Income for the previous year  4,524.75 
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2021#  (1,519.76)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 September 2021#  (1,211.21)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 December 2021#  (1,032.55)
 Balance as at 31 March 2022  1,387.46 
 Balance as on 01 April 2022  1,387.46 
 Add: Profit for the half year ended 30 September 2022 1,626.19
 Add: Other comprehensive income for the half year ended 30 September 2022  -   
 Add: Total Comprehensive Income for the current half year 1,626.19
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 March 2022#  (988.51)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2022#  (851.12)
 Balance as at 30 September 2022 1,174.02 

	 #The distributions made by Trust to its Unitholders are based on the Net Distributable Cash flows (NDCF) of Brookfield India REIT 
under the REIT Regulations.

	 Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

Standalone Statement of Changes in Unitholder’s Equity  

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
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S. 
No. Particulars

As at 30 September 2022 As at 31 March 2022
Book Value Fair value Book Value Fair value

A Assets 89,571.59 112,983.81  91,305.83  111,905.55 
B Liabilities  (108.52)  (108.52)  (51.06)  (51.06)
C Net Assets (A-B) 89,463.07 112,875.29  91,254.77  111,854.49 
D No. of units  335,087,073  335,087,073  335,087,073  335,087,073 
E NAV per unit (C/D) 266.98 336.85  272.33  333.81 

1.	 Measurement of fair values	
	� The fair value of investments in SPVs is primarily determined basis the fair value of the underlying investment 

property, along with fair value of other assets and liabilities of the respective SPV’s as at 30 September 2022 and 
31 March 2022. The fair value of investment properties and investment property under development has been 
determined by independent external registered property valuer, having appropriately recognized professional 
qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.

	 Valuation technique
	� The fair value measurement of the investment properties and investment property under development has been 

categorized as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

	� The valuers have followed a discounted cash flow method. The discounted cash flow method considers the present 
value of net cash flows to be generated from the respective properties, taking into account the expected rental 
growth rate, vacancy period, occupancy rate, average sq. ft. rent and lease incentive costs. The expected net cash 
flows are discounted using the risk adjusted discount rates. Among other factors, the discount rate estimation 
considers the quality of a building and its location (prime vs secondary), tenant credit quality, lease terms and 
investors expected return.

2.	 Break up of Net asset value	
Particulars As at  

30 September 2022
As at  

31 March 2022
Fair value of investments in SPVs 111,126.16  110,102.45 
Add: Other assets  1,857.65  1,803.10 
Less: Liabilities  (108.52)  (51.06)
Net Assets 112,875.29  111,854.49 

3.	� The Trust holds investment in SPVs which in turn hold the properties. Hence, the breakup of property wise fair 
values has been disclosed in the Consolidated financial statements.

A. Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
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S. 
No. Particulars

For the  
half year ended  

30 September 2022 

For the  
half year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the  
half year ended  

30 September 2021 

For the  
year ended  

31 March 2022 
A Total comprehensive Income 1,626.19  2,146.45  2,378.30  4,524.75 
B Add: Changes in fair value not recognized in 

the other comprehensive
2,494.40  3,450.73  1,567.94  5,018.67 

C (A+B) Total Return 4,120.59  5,597.18  3,946.24  9,543.42 

The REIT acquired investments in SPVs on 8 February 2021 and 24 January 2022 as fully described in Note 1. The 
changes in fair value for the half year ended 30 September 2022, 31 March 2022 and 30 September 2021 and year 
ended 31 March 2022 has been computed based on the changes in fair value of the underlying assets and liabilities of 
SPVs (including investment properties and investment property under development) as at 30 September 2022, 31 March 
2022, 30 September 2021 and 31 March 2022 as compared with the values as at 31 March 2022, 30 September 2021, 31 
March 2021 and 31 March 2021 respectively, after adjusting changes in book value of assets and liabilities between these 
dates. The fair values of the investment properties and investment property under development as at 30 September 
2022, 31 March 2022 and 30 September 2021 are solely based on the valuation report of the independent registered 
valuer appointed under the REIT Regulations.

B. Statement of Total Return at Fair Value

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr.  
No. Particulars

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended 
30 September 

2021

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 
2022 

For the  
half year 

ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the  
year ended 

31 March 
2022 

1 Cash flows received from Asset 
SPVs, CIOP/Operating Service 
Provider and any investment 
entity in the form of:

 Interest (net of applicable 
taxes, if any)

 825.29  860.34  1,315.26  1,685.63  1,796.09  2,844.29  4,640.38 

 Dividends (net of applicable 
taxes, if any)

 30.00  22.00  30.00  52.00  42.00  180.00  222.00 

 Repayment of Shareholder 
Debt (or debentures and other 
similar instruments)

 886.00  1,196.00  605.00  2,082.00  15,268.00  902.00  16,170.00 

 Proceeds from buy-backs/ 
capital reduction/ redemptions 
(net of applicable taxes)

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

2 Add: Proceeds from sale, 
(transfer or liquidation or 
redemption or otherwise 
realization) of investments 
(including cash equivalents), 
assets or shares of/interest in 
Asset SPVs, or any form of fund 
raise at Brookfield REIT level, 
adjusted for the following:

 -    -    -    -    4,949.83  -    4,949.83 

 Applicable capital gains and 
other taxes

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Related debts settled or due to 
be settled from sale proceeds

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Directly attributable 
transaction costs

 -    -    -    -    (168.38)  -    (168.38)

 Proceeds reinvested or 
planned to be reinvested as per 
REIT Regulations

 -    -    -    -    (4,781.45)  -    (4,781.45)

 Investment in shares or 
debentures or shareholder debt 
of Asset SPVs and/ or CIOP/ 
Operating Service Provider or 
other similar investments

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Lending to Assets SPVs and/ 
or CIOP/ Operating Service 
Provider

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

3 Add: Proceeds from sale 
(transfer or liquidation or 
redemption or otherwise 
realization) of investments, 
assets or shares of/
interest in Asset SPVs not 
distributed pursuant to an 
earlier plan to re-invest as 
per REIT Regulations, if such 
proceeds are not intended to be 
invested subsequently.

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016 

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr.  
No. Particulars

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended 
30 September 

2021

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 
2022 

For the  
half year 

ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the  
year ended 

31 March 
2022 

4 Add: Any other income received 
at the Brookfield REIT level 
and not captured herein, or 
refund/ waiver/ cessation of any 
expenses/ liability.

 8.15  9.96  9.40  18.11  17.83  10.54  28.37 

5 Less: Any other expense 
(whether in the nature of 
revenue or capital expenditure) 
or any liability or other payouts 
required at the Brookfield REIT 
level, and not captured herein.

 (40.78)  (42.98)  (40.26)  (83.76)  (73.12)  (72.60)  (145.72)

6 Less: Any payment of fees, 
including but not limited to:

 Trustee fees  -    (2.95)  (2.95)  (2.95)  -    (5.16)  (5.16)

 REIT Management Fees  (20.29)  (18.39)  (22.95)  (38.68)  (39.91)  (22.95)  (62.86)

 Valuer fees  (3.37)  -    (0.98)  (3.37)  (6.84)  (5.82)  (12.66)

 Legal and professional fees  (5.29)  (15.24)  (10.25)  (20.53)  (4.28)  (11.97)  (16.25)

 Trademark license fees  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Secondment fees  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

7 Add: Cash flow received from 
Asset SPV and investment entity, 
if any including to the extent not 
covered above:

 repayment of the debt in case 
of investments by way of debt

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 proceeds from buy-backs/
capital reduction

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

8 Add/ (Less): Debt drawdown/ 
(payment) of interest and 
repayment on external debt 
(including any loans, bonds, 
debentures or other form of 
debt funding) at the Brookfield 
REIT level.

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

9 Less: Income tax and other 
taxes (if applicable) at the 
Standalone Brookfield REIT level 
(net of any tax refunds).

 (0.79)  16.01  (3.83)  15.22  (4.49)  (4.07)  (8.56)

10 Add/(Less): Cash inflows and 
outflows in relation to any real 
estate properties held directly 
by the Brookfield REIT, to the 
extent not covered above (if 
any).

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

11 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, 
including but not limited to net 
changes in security deposits, 
working capital, etc.

 37.80  (305.41)  68.83  (267.61)  (14,002.74)  77.78  (13,924.96)

 NDCF  1,716.72  1,719.34  1,947.27  3,436.06  2,992.54  3,892.04  6,884.58 

Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016 

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Notes:

1	� The Board of Directors of the Manager to the Trust, in their meeting held on 07 November 2022, have declared distribution to 
Unitholders of `5.10 per unit which aggregates to `1,708.94 million for the quarter ended 30 September 2022. The distributions of 
`5.10 per unit comprises `2.42 per unit in the form of interest payment on shareholder loan and CCD’s, `0.09 per unit in the form 
of dividend, `2.57 per unit in the form of repayment of SPV debt and the balance `0.02 per unit in the form of interest on fixed 
deposit.

	� Along with distribution of `1,708.94 million/ `5.10 per unit for the quarter ended 30 June 2022, the cumulative distribution for the 
half year ended 30 September 2022 aggregates to `3,417.88 million/ `10.20 per unit.		

2	� NDCF for the quarter and half year ended 30 September 2022 is computed in accordance with the NDCF framework under the 
Distribution Policy as approved in the Offer Document.								      

a)	� The difference between SPV level NDCF and REIT level NDCF is primarily on account of utilization of opening cash at 
the SPV level for the half year/ year ended 31 March 2022 and quarter/ half year ended 30 September 2021.

b) 	� The difference between REIT level NDCF and distributions to unitholders for the half year ended 31 March 2022 is 
on account of utilization of surplus NDCF post distribution to unitholders till 30 September 2021.

Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016 

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
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1.	 TRUST INFORMATION

	� Brookprop Management Services Private Limited (the 
‘Settlor’) has set up the Brookfield India Real Estate 
Trust (Brookfield India REIT/Trust) on 17 July 2020 
as an irrevocable trust, pursuant to the Trust Deed, 
under the provisions of the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 
and the Trust has been registered with SEBI as a 
Real Estate Investment Trust on 14 September 2020 
under Regulation 6 of the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014. The Trustee to Brookfield India 
Real Estate Trust is Axis Trustee Services Limited 
(the ‘Trustee’) and the Manager for Brookfield India 
Real Estate Trust is Brookprop Management Services 
Private Limited (the ‘Manager’).

	� The objectives of Brookfield India REIT is to 
undertake activities in accordance with the 
provisions of the SEBI REIT Regulations and the Trust 
Deed. The principal activity of Brookfield India REIT is 
to own and invest in rent or income generating real 

estate and related assets in India with the objective 
of producing stable and sustainable distributions to 
Unitholders.

	� Activities during the period ended 31 March 
2021:

	� Brookfield India REIT acquired the following Special 
Purpose Vehicles (‘SPVs’) by acquiring all the equity 
interest held by the Sponsor and certain members of 
Sponsor Group (refer note 27) on 08 February 2021. 
In exchange for these equity interests, the above 
shareholders have been allotted 164,619,801 Units of 
Brookfield India REIT valued at `275/- each.	

	� Brookfield India REIT went public as per its plan 
for Initial Public Offer of Units after obtaining the 
required approvals from the relevant authorities. The 
Units were allotted to the successful applicants on 
08 February 2021 and 11 February 2021.

	� All these Units were subsequently listed on the 
National Stock Exchange (NSE) and Bombay Stock 
Exchange (BSE) on 16 February 2021.

	 The brief activities and shareholding pattern of the SPVs are provided below:

Name of SPV Activities Shareholding up to  
07 February 2021 (in percentage)

Shareholding from  
08 February 2021 (in percentage)

Shantiniketan 
Properties Private 
Limited (‘SPPL Noida’)

Developing and leasing of 
commercial real estate property in 
India, primarily in IT/ITeS sector in 
Sector 62, Noida, Uttar Pradesh.

BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 100% 
BSREP Moon C1 L.P.: 0.00% (10 
Shares)

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 share) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

Candor Kolkata One 
Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited 
(‘Candor Kolkata’)

Developing and leasing of 
commercial real estate property 
in India, primarily in IT/ITeS Special 
Economic Zone (SEZ) in New Town, 
Rajarhat, Kolkata and Sector 21, 
Dundahera Gurugram

BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.: 99.97%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 0.03%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 share) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

Candor India Office 
Parks Private Limited 
(‘CIOP’)

Providing management related 
service including facilities 
management service and property 
management services.	

BSREP Moon C1 L.P.: 99.99%
BSREP Moon C2 L.P. : 0.01%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited : 0.00% 
(1 share) (as nominee of Brookfield 
India REIT)

Festus Properties 
Private Limited 
(‘Festus’)

Developing and leasing of 
commercial real estate property 
in India, primarily in IT/ITeS Special 
Economic Zone (SEZ) in Powai, 
Mumbai.

Kairos Property Managers Pvt. 
Ltd.:10.76% 
BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. 
Ltd.:89.24%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 share) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

	 Activities during the previous year ended 31 March 2022:
	� Brookfield India REIT acquired the following Special Purpose Vehicle (‘SPV’) by acquiring all the equity interest held 

by certain members of Sponsor Group (refer note 27) on 24 January 2022. In exchange for these equity interests, 
the above shareholders have been paid cash of `8,334.57 million and allotted 15,463,616 Units of Brookfield India 
REIT valued at `294.25 each. These Units were subsequently listed on the National Stock Exchange (NSE) and 
Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) on 01 February 2022.

Name of SPV Activities Shareholding up to  
23 January 2022 (in percentage)

Shareholding from  
24 January 2022 (in percentage)

Seaview Developers 
Private Limited (‘SDPL 
Noida’)

Developing and leasing of 
commercial real estate property 
in India, primarily in IT/ITeS Special 
Economic Zone (SEZ) in Sector 
135, Noida, Uttar Pradesh.

BSREP India Office Holding IV Pte. 
Ltd.: 99.96% 
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 0.04%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 share) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)
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2. 	� BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 	�Basis of preparation of Condensed 
Standalone financial statements

	� The Interim Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements (Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements) of Brookfield India REIT comprises: 

	 	 the Condensed Standalone Balance Sheet,

	 	� the Condensed Standalone Statement of Profit 
and Loss (including other comprehensive 
income),

	 	� the Condensed Standalone Statement of Cash 
Flows, 

	 	� the Condensed Standalone Statement of 
Changes in Unitholders’ Equity, 

	 	� a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

	� Additionally, it includes the Statement of Net Assets 
at Fair Value, the Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value, the Statement of Net Distributable Cash 
Flow of Brookfield India REIT and other additional 
financial disclosures as required under the SEBI (Real 
Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014. The 
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements were 
authorized for issue in accordance with resolutions 
passed by the Board of Directors of the Manager on 
behalf of the Brookfield India REIT on 07 November 
2022. The Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of SEBI (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time 
to time read with the SEBI circular number CIR/
IMD/DF/146/2016 dated 29 December 2016 (“REIT 
Regulations”); Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 34 
“Interim Financial Reporting”, as defined in Rule 2(1)
(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015 (‘Ind AS’) to the extent not inconsistent 
with the REIT Regulations (refer note 10(a)(i) on 
presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” instead of 
compound instruments under Ind AS 32 – Financial 
Instruments: Presentation), read with relevant rules 
issued thereunder and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India.

	� Accordingly, these Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements do not include all the information 
required for a complete set of financial statements. 
These Condensed Standalone Financial Statements 
should be read in conjunction with the standalone 
financial statements and related notes included 
in the Trust’s standalone financial statements 
under IND AS for the year ended 31 March 2022. 
Accounting policies have been consistently applied 
except where a newly issued accounting standard 
is initially adopted or a revision to an existing 
accounting standard requires a change in the 
accounting policy hitherto in use.

	� The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements are 
presented in Indian Rupees in Millions, except when 
otherwise indicated.

2.2	 Significant accounting policies
a)	 Functional and presentation currency
	� The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements are 

presented in Indian rupees, which is Brookfield India 
REIT’s functional currency and the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which Brookfield 
India REIT operates. All financial information 
presented in Indian rupees has been rounded off to 
nearest million except unit and per unit data.

b)	 Basis of measurement 
	� The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements 

have been prepared on historical cost basis except 
for certain financial instruments measured at 
fair value at the end of each reporting period as 
explained in the accounting policies below.

	� The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

c)	 Use of judgments and estimates 
	� The preparation of Condensed Standalone Financial 

Statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles in India (Ind AS), to the extent 
not inconsistent with the REIT regulations, requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

	� Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on a periodic basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which 
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the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.

	� Information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the Condensed 
Standalone Financial Statements is included in the 
following notes:

	 (i)	� Presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” in 
accordance with the REIT Regulations instead of 
compound instrument (Note 10)

	 (ii)	� Estimation of uncertainties relating to the global 
health pandemic from Covid-19 (Note 25)

	 (iii)	� Impairment of investments and loans in 
subsidiaries

	 (iv)	 Fair valuation and disclosures

		�  SEBI Circulars issued under the REIT Regulations 
require disclosures relating to net assets at fair 
value and total returns at fair value. 

d)	 Current versus non-current classification 
	� Brookfield India REIT presents assets and liabilities in 

the Condensed Standalone Balance Sheet based on 
current/ non-current classification:

	� An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any 
of the following criteria:

	 	� it is expected to be realized in, or is intended for 
sale or consumption in, the normal operating 
cycle.

	 	�  it is held primarily for the purpose of being 
traded;

	 	� it is expected to be realized within 12 months 
after the reporting date; or

	 	� it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is 
restricted from being exchanged or used to 
settle a liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date. 

	� Brookfield India REIT classifies all other assets as 
non-current.

	� A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any 
of the following criteria:

	 	� it is expected to be settled in normal operating 
cycle of Brookfield India REIT;

	 	� it is held primarily for the purpose of being 
traded;

	 	� it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting date; or

	 	� the Brookfield India REIT does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option 
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by 
the issue of equity instruments do not affect its 
classification. 

	� Brookfield India REIT classifies all other liabilities as 
non-current.

	� Current assets/liabilities include current portion of 
non-current financial assets/ liabilities respectively. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as 
non-current assets and liabilities. 

e)	 Fair value measurement 
	� Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, Brookfield India REIT takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability 
and how market participants would take those 
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. 

	� Inputs to fair value measurement techniques are 
disaggregated into three hierarchical levels, which 
are directly based on the degree to which inputs to 
fair value measurement techniques are observable 
by market participants:  

	 	� Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at 
the measurement date.

	 	� Level 2: Inputs (other than quoted prices 
included in Level 1) are either directly or 
indirectly observable for the asset or liability 
through correlation with market data at the 
measurement date and for the duration of the 
asset’s or liability’s anticipated life. 
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	 	� Level 3: Inputs are unobservable and reflect 
management’s best estimate of what market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. Consideration 
is given to the risk inherent in the valuation 
technique and the risk inherent in the inputs in 
determining the estimate.

	� Fair value measurement framework is adopted by 
Brookfield India REIT to determine the fair value of 
various assets and liabilities measured or disclosed 
at fair value.

f)	 Impairment of non-financial assets 
	� Brookfield India REIT assesses, at each reporting 

date, whether there is an indication that a non-
financial asset other than deferred tax assets 
may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, Brookfield India REIT estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment.

	� An impairment loss is recognized in the Condensed 
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit (CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment loss recognized in respect of a CGU is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce 
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU 
on a pro rata basis. A CGU is the smallest identifiable 
asset group that generates cash flows that are largely 
independent from other assets and groups.

	� Impairment losses are recognized in the Condensed 
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss, unless it 
reverses previous revaluation credited to equity, in 
which case it is charged to equity.

	� Goodwill (if any) arising from a business combination 
is allocated to CGUs or group of CGUs that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

	� An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. In estimating value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  

In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are taken into account. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot 
be tested individually are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.

	� Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. 
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect 
of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect 
of other assets, such a reversal is made only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized.

g)	 Investment in SPV’s
	� The Trust has elected to recognize its investments in 

SPVs at cost in accordance with the option available 
in Ind AS 27, ‘Separate Financial Statements.’

	� The details of such investment are given in note 3.

	� Assets representing investments in SPVs are 
reviewed for impairment, whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that carrying 
amount may not be recoverable, such circumstances 
include, though are not limited to, significant 
or sustained decline in revenues or earnings 
and material adverse changes in the economic 
environment.

h)	 Foreign currency transactions 
	� Items included in the financial statements of the 

Brookfield India REIT are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the Brookfield India REIT operates (‘the 
functional currency’). The financial statements 
are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is the 
Brookfield India REIT functional and presentation 
currency.	

	� Foreign currency transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such 
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transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at reporting period end exchange rates 
are generally recognized in the Statement of profit 
and loss.

i)	� Errors, estimates and change in accounting 
policy

	� The Brookfield India REIT revises its accounting 
policies if the change is required due to a change in 
Ind AS or if the change will provide more relevant and 
reliable information to the users of the Condensed 
Standalone Financial Statements. Changes in 
accounting policies are applied retrospectively, 
wherever applicable.

	� A change in an accounting estimate that results 
in changes in the carrying amounts of recognised 
assets or liabilities or to profit or loss is applied 
prospectively in the period(s) of change. Discovery of 
errors results in revisions retrospectively by restating 
the comparative amounts of assets, liabilities and 
equity of the earliest prior period in which the error 
is discovered. The opening balances of the earliest 
period presented are also restated. 

j)	 Financial instruments 
	� A financial instrument is any contract that gives 

rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.	

	 (i) 	 Financial Assets - Recognition	
		�  All financial assets are recognized initially at fair 

value (except for trade receivables which are 
initially measured at transaction price) plus, in 
the case of financial assets not recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. 	

		�  Classification and subsequent 
measurement

		�  For purposes of subsequent measurement, 
financial assets are classified in four categories:

		  	 �Debt instruments at amortized cost
		�  A ‘debt instrument’ is measured at the 

amortized cost if both the following conditions 
are met:

		  a) 	� The asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets for 
collecting contractual cash flows, and

		  b) 	� Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on 
the principal amount outstanding.	

		�  After initial measurement, such financial assets 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortization is included in interest 
income in the statement of profit and loss. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognized 
in the statement of profit and loss. 

		  	� Debt instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

		�  A ‘debt instrument’ is classified as at the FVOCI if 
both of the following criteria are met:

		  a) 	� The objective of the business model is 
achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial assets, 
and

		  b)	� The asset’s contractual cash flows 
represent SPPI.

		�  Debt instruments included within the FVOCI 
category are measured initially as well as at 
each reporting date at fair value. Fair value 
movements are recognized in the other 
comprehensive income (OCI). However, interest 
income, impairment losses and reversals and 
foreign exchange gain or loss is recognized in 
statement of profit and loss. On derecognition 
of the asset, cumulative gains or losses 
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified 
from the equity to statement of profit and 
loss. Interest earned whilst holding FVOCI debt 
instrument is reported as interest income using 
the EIR method.		

		  	� Debt instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL)

		�  FVTPL is a residual category for debt 
instruments. Any debt instrument, which does 
not meet the criteria for categorization as at 
amortized cost or as FVOCI, is classified as  
at FVTPL.
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		�  In addition, the Brookfield India REIT may elect 
to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise 
meets amortized cost or FVOCI criteria, as at 
FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if 
doing so reduces or eliminates a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 
` accounting mismatch’). The Brookfield India 
REIT has not designated any debt instrument as 
at FVTPL. 

		�  Debt instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in Statement of profit  
or loss.

		  	� Equity instruments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)

		�  All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 
are measured at fair value. Equity instruments 
which are held for trading are classified as at 
FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the 
Brookfield India REIT may make an irrevocable 
election to present in other comprehensive 
income subsequent changes in the fair value. 
The Brookfield India REIT makes such election 
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is 
irrevocable.

		�  If the Brookfield India REIT decides to classify an 
equity instrument as at FVOCI, then all fair value 
changes on the instrument, excluding dividends, 
are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling 
of the amounts from OCI to statement of profit 
and loss, even on sale of investment. However, 
the Brookfield India REIT may transfer the 
cumulative gain or loss within equity.

		�  Equity instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in Statement of profit  
and loss.	

	 (ii) 	 Financial Assets - Derecognition
		�  A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part 

of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized (i.e., removed 
from the Brookfield India REIT balance sheet) 
when:

		  	� The rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired, or

		  	� The Brookfield India REIT has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) 
the Brookfield India REIT has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset, or (b) the Brookfield India 
REIT has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset.

	 (iii)	 Impairment of financial assets
		�  Brookfield India REIT recognizes loss allowance 

using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for 
the financial assets which are not fair valued 
through profit or loss. Loss allowance for 
trade receivables with no significant financing 
component and lease receivables is measured at 
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. For all financial 
assets with contractual cash flows other than 
trade receivable and lease receivables, ECLs are 
measured at an amount equal to the 12-month 
ECL, unless there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk from initial recognition in which 
case those are measured at lifetime ECL. The 
amount of ECLs (or reversal) that is required to 
adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date, 
is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		�  Trade Receivables are generally written off 
against the allowance only after all means 
of collection have been exhausted and the 
potential for recovery is considered remote.

	 (iv) 	� Financial liabilities – Recognition and 
Subsequent measurement

		�  Brookfield India REIT financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value less any 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial measurement, these are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
(‘EIR’) method or at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL). 
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		�  Brookfield India REIT financial liabilities include 
trade and other payables, Loans and borrowings 
including bank overdrafts. 

		�  The measurement of financial liabilities depends 
on their classification, as described below:

		  	� Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss

		�  Financial liabilities at fair value through 
Statement of profit or loss include financial 
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through Statement of profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for 
trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category 
also includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Brookfield India REIT that 
are not designated as hedging instruments 
in hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS 
109. Separated embedded derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments.

		�  Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognized in Statement of profit and loss.

		�  Financial liabilities designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through Statement of 
profit or loss are designated as such at the initial 
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind 
AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated 
as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable 
to changes in own credit risk are recognized in 
OCI. These gains or losses are not subsequently 
transferred to statement of profit and loss. 
However, the Brookfield India REIT may transfer 
the cumulative gains or losses within equity. All 
other changes in fair value of such liability are 
recognized in Statement of profit and loss. The 
Brookfield India REIT has not designated any 
financial liability as at fair value through profit  
or loss.

		  	� Financial liabilities at amortized cost
		�  Financial liabilities that are not held for trading, 

or designated as at FVTPL, are measured 
subsequently at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

		�  The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortized 
cost of a financial liability.

	 (v) 	 Financial liabilities - Derecognition
		�  A financial liability is derecognized when the 

obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as the derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference between the carrying amount of 
a financial liability that has been extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognized in the Statement of profit and loss as 
other gains/(losses).

	 (vi) 	 Income/loss recognition
		  	� Interest income
		�  Interest income from debt instruments is 

recognized using the effective interest rate 
method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset. While calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Brookfield India REIT estimates 
the expected cash flows by considering all the 
contractual terms of the financial instrument 
(for example, prepayment, extension, call and 
similar options) but does not consider the 
expected credit losses.

k)	 Leases 
	� At inception of a contract, the Brookfield India 

REIT assesses whether a contract is, or contains, 
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
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identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the 
Brookfield India REIT assesses whether:

	 	� the contract involves the use of an identified 
asset – this may be specified explicitly or 
implicitly, and should be physically distinct or 
represent substantially all of the capacity of a 
physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a 
substantive substitution right, then the asset is 
not identified;

	 	�� the Brookfield India REIT has the right to obtain 
substantially all of the economic benefits from 
use of the asset throughout the period of use; 
and

	 	� the Brookfield India REIT has the right to direct 
the use of the asset. The Brookfield India REIT 
has this right when it has the decision making 
rights that are most relevant to changing 
how and for what purpose the asset is used. 
In rare cases where the decision about how 
and for what purpose the asset is used is 
predetermined, the Brookfield India REIT has the 
right to direct the use of the asset if either:

		  	�� the Brookfield India REIT has the right to 
operate the asset; or

		  	� the Brookfield India REIT designed the 
asset in a way that predetermines how and 
for what purpose it will be used..

	 As a lessee
	� The Brookfield India REIT recognizes a right-

of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right of use asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any 
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentives received.

	� The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated 
using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of 
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-

of-use assets are determined on the same basis as 
those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, 
the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
re-measurements of the lease liability.

	� The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Brookfield India REIT 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Brookfield 
India REIT uses its incremental borrowing rate as the 
discount rate.

	� Lease payments included in the measurement of the 
lease liability comprise the following:

	 	� fixed payments, including in-substance fixed 
payments;

	 	�� variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date;

	 	�� amounts expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee; and

	 	�� the exercise price under a purchase option that 
the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably certain to 
exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal 
period if the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably 
certain to exercise an extension option, and 
penalties for early termination of a lease unless 
the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably certain 
not to terminate early.

	� The lease liability is measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments 
arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is 
a change in the Brookfield India REIT’s estimate of 
the amount expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee, or if the Brookfield India REIT 
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option.

	� When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.
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	� The Brookfield India REIT presents right-of-use 
assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and 
lease liabilities (current and non-current) in the 
statement of financial position.

	� The Brookfield India REIT has elected not to 
recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases of machinery that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value 
assets. The Brookfield India REIT recognizes the 
lease payments associated with these leases as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	 As a Lessor
	� The Brookfield India REIT enters into lease 

agreements as a lessor with respect to its investment 
properties.

	� Leases for which the Brookfield India REIT is 
a lessor are classified as finance or operating 
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance 
lease. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases.

	� When the Brookfield India REIT is an intermediate 
lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sub-
lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is 
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference 
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

	� Rental income from operating leases is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	� Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 
are recognized as receivables at the amount of the 
Brookfield India REIT’s net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Brookfield India REIT’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

	� When a contract includes both lease and non-lease 
components, the Brookfield India REIT applies Ind AS 
115 to allocate the consideration under the contract 
to each component.

l)	 Revenue recognition
	� Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable. This inter alia 
involves discounting of the consideration due to the 
present value if payment extends beyond normal 
credit terms.

	� Revenue is recognised when recovery of the 
consideration is probable and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably.

	� Recognition of dividend income, interest 
income

	� Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on 
the date on which the Brookfield India REIT’s right to 
receive payment is established.

	� Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument to the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset. In calculating interest income, 
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross 
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not 
credit impaired). However, for financial assets that 
have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying 
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of 
the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income 
reverts to the gross basis.

m)	 Taxation 
	� Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 

tax. It is recognized in Statement of profit and 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income, in which case it is recognized in equity or in 
other comprehensive income.e.	

	 (i)	 Current tax
		�  Current tax comprises the expected tax payable 

or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year and any adjustment to the tax payable 
or receivable in respect of previous years. The 
amount of current tax reflects the best estimate 
of the tax amount expected to be paid or 
received after considering the uncertainty, if any, 
related to income taxes. It is measured using 
tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.
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		�  Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise 
the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or 
simultaneously.

	 (ii)	 Deferred tax
		�  Deferred tax is recognised in respect of 

temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the corresponding 
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is also recognised in respect of carried 
forward tax losses and tax credits. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for:

		  	� Temporary differences arising on the 
initial recognition of assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the 
time of the transaction;

		  	� Temporary differences related to 
investments in subsidiaries, associates, 
and joint arrangements to the extent that 
the Brookfield India REIT is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

		  	�� Taxable temporary differences arising on 
initial recognition of goodwill.

		�  Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be used. The existence of unused tax 
losses is strong evidence that future taxable 
profit may not be available. Therefore, in case 
of a history of recent losses, Brookfield India 
REIT recognises a deferred tax asset only to the 
extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary 
differences or there is convincing other evidence 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
against which such deferred tax asset can be 
realised. Deferred tax assets—unrecognised or 
recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are recognised/reduced to the extent that it 
is probable/no longer probable respectively that 
the related tax benefit will be realised. Further, 
no deferred tax asset/liabilities are recognized 
in respect of temporary differences that reverse 
within tax holiday period.

		�  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

		�  The measurement of deferred tax reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Brookfield India REIT 
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

		�  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

n)	 Provisions and contingencies 
	� A provision is recognized when the Brookfield 

India REIT has a present obligation as a result of 
past event and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, in respect of which 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

	� A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 
arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Brookfield India REIT or a present 
obligation that is not recognized because it is 
not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability 
also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a 
liability that cannot be recognized because it cannot 
be measured reliably. The Brookfield India REIT does 
not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its 
existence in the financial statements.

	� Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized 
when the expected benefits to be derived by 
the Company from a contract are lower than the 
unavoidable costs of meeting the future obligations 
under the contract.
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o)	 Operating segments 
	� Operating segments are reported in a manner 

consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker.

	 Identification of segments:	
	� In accordance with Ind AS 108- Operating Segment, 

the operating segments used to present segment 
information are identified on the basis of information 
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(‘CODM’) to allocate resources to the segments and 
assess their performance. An operating segment 
is a component of the Brookfield India REIT that 
engages in business activities from which it earns 
revenues and incurs expenses, including revenues 
and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 
the Brookfield India REIT’s other components.

	� Based on an analysis of Brookfield India REIT’s 
structure and powers conferred to the Manager to 
Brookfield India REIT, the Governing Board of the 
Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private 
Limited) has been identified as the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker (‘CODM’), since they are empowered 
for all major decisions w.r.t. the management, 
administration, investment, disinvestment, etc.

	� As the Brookfield India REIT is primarily engaged 
in the business of developing and maintaining 
commercial real estate properties in India, CODM 
reviews the entire business as a single operating 
segment and accordingly disclosure requirements 
of Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments” in respect of 
reportable segments are not applicable. 

p)	 Subsequent events 
	� The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements 

are prepared after reflecting adjusting and non-
adjusting events that occur after the reporting period 
but before the Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements are authorized for issue.

q)	 Cash and cash equivalents 
	� Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank 

and on hand and short-term money market deposits 
with original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

r)	 Earnings per unit 
	� Basic earnings per unit is calculated by dividing the net 

profit / (loss) for the period attributable to unit holders 
of the Brookfield India REIT by the weighted average 
number of units outstanding during the period.

	� For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
unit, the profit or loss for the period attributable 
to unit holders of the Brookfield India REIT and the 
weighted average number of units outstanding during 
the period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive 
potential units.

	� Dilutive potential units are deemed converted as of 
the beginning of the reporting date, unless they have 
been issued at a later date. In computing diluted 
earnings per unit, only potential units that are dilutive 
and which either reduces earnings per unit or increase 
loss per units are included.

s)	 Offsetting
	� Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount presented in the Condensed 
Standalone Balance Sheet when, and only when, 
the Brookfield India REIT currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set off the amounts and 
it intends either to settle them on a net basis 
or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously..

t)	 Cash flow statement
	� Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, 

whereby net profit before tax is adjusted for the 
effects of transactions of a non-cash nature and 
any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash 
receipts or payments. The cash flows from operating, 
investing and financing activities of the Brookfield 
India REIT are segregated. For the purpose of the 
Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash and short-term deposits..

u)	 Cash distribution to Unitholders
	� The Brookfield India REIT recognizes a liability to 

make cash distributions to Unitholders when the 
distribution is authorized, and a legal obligation 
has been created. As per the REIT Regulations, a 
distribution is authorized when it is approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Manager. A corresponding 
amount is recognized directly in equity. 
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3. 	 NON CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - INVESTMENTS  

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Trade, unquoted, Investments in Subsidiaries (at cost) (refer note below)
97,526 (31 March 2022: 97,526) Equity shares of Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited of `10 each, fully paid up 			 

 24,761.39  24,761.39 

143,865,096 (31 March 2022: 143,865,096) Equity shares of Shantiniketan Properties 
Private Limited of `10 each, fully paid up 				  

 11,407.83  11,407.83 

464,641,121 (31 March 2022: 464,641,121) Equity shares of Festus Properties Private 
Limited of `10 each, fully paid up 				  

 8,655.46  8,655.46 

9,999 (31 March 2022: 9,999) Equity shares of Candor India Office Parks Private Limited 
of `10 each, fully paid up 

 220.20  220.20 

17,381 (31 March 2022: 17,381) Equity shares of Seaview Developers Private Limited of 
`10 each, fully paid up 				  

 12,482.97  12,482.97 

 57,527.85  57,527.85 
Investments in 15% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (Debentures)* 5,413.30  5,438.00 

62,941.15  62,965.85 

	 During the year ended 31 March 2022, The Trust has paid cash of `13,153.83 million and issued 15,463,616 Units 
as consideration to acquire SDPL, Noida wherein the tradable REIT Units have been valued at `294.25 each, 
aggregating amounting to `17,704.00 million.

	 * Issued by Seaview Developers Private Limited.

	 Note: 
	 Details of % shareholding in the subsidiaries, held by Trust is as under: 

Name of Subsidiary As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 - Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  100% 100%
 - Festus Properties Private Limited  100% 100%
 - Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  100% 100%
 - Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  100% 100%
 - Seaview Developers Private Limited 100% 100%

4.	 NON CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - LOANS 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 (Unsecured and considered good) 
 Loan to Subsidiaries - refer note 27  24,144.50  25,891.50 

 24,144.50  25,891.50 

	 Terms for Loan to Subsidiaries
	 Security: Unsecured

	 Interest: 12.50% per annum (compounded quarterly).

	 Repayment:
	 (a) 	 Bullet repayment on the date falling at the end of 15 (fifteen) years from the first disbursement date.
	 (b)	 Early repayment option (wholly or partially) is available to the borrower (SPVs).
	 (c)	� The interest on these loan to subsidiaries is receivable on the last date of every financial quarter. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the interest with respect to the loans under the facility, shall accrue 
and become due and receivable only on availability of free cash flow on the interest  payment date. In the 
event on any Interest payment date, the free cash flows are lower than the calculated interest (including any 
shortfall of past interest periods), the shortfall between the free cash flows and the calculated interest shall 
be accumulated and become due and receivable from and to the extent of free cash flows available on the 
subsequent interest payment dates.			 
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5.	 NON CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - OTHERS  

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 (Unsecured and considered good) 
 Security deposit  -    30.00 

 -    30.00 

6.	 NON-CURRENT TAX ASSETS (NET) 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Advance income tax  0.59  17.51 
 0.59  17.51 

7.	 CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Balance with banks :
  - in current account  2.40  35.13 
  - in deposit account (with original maturity of 3 months or less)  1,716.00  1,720.00 

 1,718.40  1,755.13 

8.	 CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - OTHER

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 (Unsecured and considered good) 
 To parties other than related parties 
 Interest accrued but not due on fixed deposits with banks  0.17  0.34 
 To related parties (refer note 27) 
 Interest accrued but not due on Loan to Subsidiaries  628.29  645.38 

 628.46  645.72 

9.	 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

(Unsecured and considered good)
Prepaid expenses*  137.74  -   
Advances to vendors  -    0.12 
Other advances  0.75  -   

 138.49  0.12 

	 * For related parties balance, refer note 27
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10. 	 UNIT CAPITAL

Particulars  No. of Units  Amount 
As at 01 April 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2021  -    (297.05)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 September 2021  -    (605.60)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 December 2021  -    (481.45)
Add: Reversal of issue expenses no longer payable (refer note iv below)  -    25.55 
Add: Units issued on preferential basis during the year
- �pursuant to the preferential allotment, issued, subscribed and fully paid-up in cash 

(refer note ii below)
 16,821,856  4,949.83 

- in exchange for equity interest in SPVs (refer note iii below)  15,463,616  4,550.17 
Less: Expense incurred towards preferential allotment (refer note iv below)  -    (48.92)
Closing balance as at 31 March 2022  335,087,073  89,867.31 
As at 01 April 2022  335,087,073  89,867.31 
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 March 2022  -    (720.44)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2022  -    (857.82)
Closing balance as at 30 September 2022  335,087,073  88,289.05 

	 (a) 	 Terms/rights attached to Units and accounting thereof
			  (i) 	� The Trust has only one class of Units. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial interest in the Trust. 

Each holder of Unit is entitled to one vote per unit. The Unitholders have the right to receive at least 90% 
of the Net Distributable Cash Flows of the Trust at least once in every six months in each financial year 
in accordance with the REIT Regulations. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager approves 
distributions. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of Units held by the Unitholders. The 
Trust declares and pays distributions in Indian Rupees.

				�   Under the provisions of the REIT Regulations, Brookfield India REIT is required to distribute to Unitholders 
not less than 90% of the Net Distributable Cash Flows of Brookfield India REIT for each financial year. 
Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Brookfield India REIT 
to pay to its Unitholders cash distributions. Hence, the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument 
which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars (No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated 29 December 
2016 and No. CIR/IMD/DF/141/2016 dated 26 December 2016) issued under the REIT Regulations, the Unit 
Capital has been presented as “Equity” in order to comply with the requirements of Section H of Annexure 
A to the SEBI Circular dated 26 December 2016 dealing with the minimum presentation and disclosure 
requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Capital being classified as equity, the 
distributions to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity when the 
distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.

			  (ii)	� Initial Public Offering of 138,181,800 Units for cash at price of `275 per Unit aggregating to `38,000.00 
million. Refer note 28 for utilization of IPO proceeds. Further preferential allotment of 16,821,856 Units 
for cash at price of `294.25 per unit aggregating to `4,949.83 was made during the year ended 31 March 
2022. The preferential allotment was mainly used to fund the SDPL Noida acquisition.



Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements 

128

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements

		  (iii)	� Brookfield India REIT acquired the SPVs by acquiring all the equity interest held by our Sponsor and 
certain members of our Sponsor Group. The acquisition of equity interest in the SPVs has been done by 
issue of 127,892,403 Units of `275 each and 15,463,616 Units of `294.25 each during the period ended  
31 March 2021 and year ended 31 March 2022 respectively, as per the table below.	

Name of SPV 

 Number of Units allotted for acquiring all the equity 
interest held in the SPVs 

Sponsor Sponsor Group 
(excluding Sponsor) Total 

During the period ended 31 March 2021:
Candor Kolkata  54,117,888  16,364  54,134,252 
Festus  -    31,474,412  31,474,412 
SPPL Noida  -    41,483,012  41,483,012 
CIOP  -    800,727  800,727 
During the previous year ended 31 March 2022:
SDPL Noida (refer note 1: Trust Information)  -    15,463,616  15,463,616 
Total number of Units issued  54,117,888  89,238,131  143,356,019 

		  (iv)	� Expenses incurred pertaining to the Initial Public Offering (IPO), preferential allotment and listing of 
the Units on the National Stock Exchange and Bombay Stock Exchange have been reduced from the 
Unitholders capital in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation.

	 (b) 	 Unitholders holding more than 5 percent Units in the Trust 

Name of Unitholders 
 As at 30 September 2022  As at 31 March 2022 

 No. of Units  % of holdings  No. of Units  % of holdings 
BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  54,117,888 16.15%  54,117,888 16.15%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  41,499,453 12.38%  41,499,373 12.38%
BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  36,727,398 10.96%  36,727,398 10.96%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  31,474,412 9.39%  28,086,775 8.38%

	 (c)  	� The Trust has not allotted any fully paid-up units by way of bonus units nor has it bought back any class of 
units from the date of registration till the balance sheet date. Further, the Trust has not issued any units for 
consideration other than cash from the date of registration till the balance sheet date, except as disclosed above.

	 (d) 	 Unitholding of sponsor group

Name of Unitholders 

 As at 30 September 2022  As at 31 March 2022  % Change 
during the half 
year ended 30 

September 2022 
 No. of Units  % of holdings  No. of Units  % of holdings 

BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  54,117,888 16.15%  54,117,888 16.15% 0.00%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  41,499,453 12.38%  41,499,373 12.38% 0.00%
BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  36,727,398 10.96%  36,727,398 10.96% 0.00%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  31,474,412 9.39%  28,086,775 8.38% 1.01%
Kairos Property Managers Private Limited  -    -    3,387,637 1.01% -1.01%
BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  -    -    800,650 0.24% -0.24%
BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  -    -    80 0.00% -0.00%
BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. Ltd.  15,463,616 4.61%  15,463,616 4.61% 0.00%
BSREP India Office Holdings VI Pte. Ltd.  800,650 0.24%  -    -   0.24%

11. 	OTHER EQUITY*
As at 

30 September 2022 
As at 

31 March 2022 
Reserves and Surplus 
Retained earnings 1,174.02  1,387.46 

1,174.02  1,387.46 

	 *Refer Condensed Standalone Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for detailed movement in other equity balances.

	 Retained earnings
	� The cumulative gain or loss arising from the operations which is retained and is recognized and accumulated 

under the heading of retained earnings. At the end of the period, the profit/(loss) after tax is transferred from the 
Statement of Profit and Loss to the retained earnings account.
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12. 	CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - TRADE PAYABLES

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  0.11  -   
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises*  33.43  31.72 

 33.54  31.72 

	 *For balance payable to related parties, refer note 27

13. 	 CURRENT - OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Other payables  72.49  6.32 
 72.49  6.32 

14. 	OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Statutory dues payable  0.36  13.02 
 0.36  13.02 

15. 	CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES (NET)

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Provision for income tax  2.13  -   
 2.13  -   

16. 	INTEREST INCOME

Particulars

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2021

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Interest Income*
- on 15% Compulsorily 
Convertible Debentures (refer 
note 17 for other changes in fair 
value)

 19.29  19.29  -    38.58  14.94  -    14.94 

- on Loans to subsidiaries  808.15  825.65  1,145.21  1,633.80  2,029.32  2,286.72  4,316.04 
Interest income on fixed 
deposits with banks

 7.88  8.88  9.62  16.76  17.55  11.15  28.70 

Interest on income tax refund  -    1.18  -    1.18  -    -    -   
 835.32  855.00  1,154.83  1,690.32  2,061.81  2,297.87  4,359.68 

	 * Refer note 27

17. 	OTHER INCOME

Particulars

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2021

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Gain on investment in 15% 
Compulsory Convertible 
Debentures at fair value through 
profit or loss (refer note 16 for 
interest income on these CCDs)

 -    -    -    -    126.78  -    126.78 

 -    -    -    -    126.78  -    126.78 
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18. 	OTHER EXPENSES

Particulars

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2021

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Marketing and advertisement 
expenses

 5.61  7.76  4.85  13.37  8.50  8.04  16.54 

Donation  -    -    -    -    -    20.00  20.00 
Rates and taxes  0.77  -    -    0.77  -    -    -   
Loss on investment in 15% 
Compulsory Convertible 
Debentures at fair value through 
profit or loss (refer note 16 for 
interest income on these CCDs)

24.70    -    -   24.70  -    -    -   

Miscellaneous expenses  0.15  0.48  0.01  0.63  2.84  2.37  5.21 
31.23  8.24  4.86 39.47  11.34  30.41  41.75 

19. 	TAX EXPENSE

Particulars

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2021

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Current tax  3.37  4.30  4.12  7.67  7.50  4.77  12.27 
Deferred tax  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 3.37  4.30  4.12  7.67  7.50  4.77  12.27 

	� Brookfield India REIT is a business trust registered under SEBI REIT Regulations, 2014. Hence, the interest and 
dividend received or receivable by Brookfield India REIT from the SPVs is exempt from tax under section 10(23FC) of 
the Income Tax Act, 1961 (Act). Further, any expenditure incurred in relation to earning the exempt income is not tax 
deductible in view of the provisions of section 14A of the Act.

	� The income of Brookfield India REIT, other than exempt income mentioned above, is chargeable to tax at the 
maximum marginal rates in force (for the quarter and half year ended 30 September 2022 : 42.744%; for the quarter 
and year ended 31 March 2022: 42.744%), except for the income chargeable to tax on transfer of short term capital 
assets under section 111A of the Act and long term capital assets under section 112 of the Act.

20.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

	 There are no contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2022 and 31 March 2022.

21.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

	 There are no capital commitments as at 30 September 2022 and 31 March 2022.

22.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

	 i) 	 Financial instruments by category and fair value
			�  The below table summarizes the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial 

instruments that are (a) recognized and measured at fair value and (b) measured at amortized cost and for 
which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements. The Brookfield India REIT has classified its financial 
instruments, which are measured at fair value, into three levels in accordance with Ind AS.
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Carrying value Fair value
As at 

30 September 
2022 

As at 
31 March 2022

As at 
30 September 

2022

As at 
31 March 2022

At Amortized Cost
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents#  1,718.40  1,755.13  1,718.40  1,755.13 
Loans*  24,144.50  25,891.50 25,493.40  28,680.00 
Other financial assets#   628.46  675.72  628.46  675.72 
At FVTPL
Financial Assets 
15% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures^ 5,413.30  5,438.00 5,413.30  5,438.00 
Total financial assets 31,904.66    33,760.35  33,253.56  36,548.85 
At Amortized Cost
Financial liabilities 
Trade payables#   33.54  31.72  33.54  31.72 
Other financial liabilities#   72.49  6.32  72.49  6.32 
Total financial liabilities  106.03  38.04  106.03  38.04 

		�  # fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities which are recognized at amortized cost has been disclosed to be same 
as carrying value as the carrying value approximately equals to their fair value.

		�  * Fair value of loan which are recognized at amortized cost, has been calculated at the present value of the future cash flows 
discounted at the current borrowing rate.

		�    Fair value of 15% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (15% CCDs) is determined on the basis of Net assets value (NAV) 
method. These 15% CCDs are classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs. The 
key input to the NAV is fair value of the investment properties.				  

	 ii) 	 Measurement of fair values
			  The different levels of fair value have been defined below:

			�  Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices for instance listed 
equity instruments, traded bonds and mutual funds that have quoted price.

			�  Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, traded 
bonds, over-the counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use of 
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs 
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

			�  Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in level 3.

			�  There have been no valuation under Level 1 and Level 2. There has been no transfers into or out of Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy for the quarter/ half year ended 30 September 2022 and year ended 31 March 2022.

			�  The Brookfield India REIT’s policy is to recognize transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as 
at the end of the reporting period.	

	 iii)	 Details of significant unobservable inputs
Significant unobservable inputs Inter-relationship between significant unobservable inputs 

and fair value
Financial assets measured at fair value (15% CCDs)
Fair value of investment property The estimated fair value would increase (decrease) if fair 

value of investment property increases (decreases)
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	 iv)	 Sensitivity analysis of Level 3 fair values				  
		�  For the fair value of 15% CCDs, reasonably possible changes at the reporting date due to one of the significant 

unobservable inputs, holding other inputs constant, would have following effects:			 
	

30 September 2022
Profit/ (Loss)

Increase Decrease
Fair value of investment property (1% movement) 111.52 (111.52)   

		

31 March 2022
Profit/ (Loss)

Increase Decrease
Fair value of investment property (1% movement)  111.52  (111.52)

	 (v)	 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values				 
Fair value of 15% CCDs Amount
Balance as at 24 January 2022  5,311.22
Net change in fair value-unrealized (refer note 17)  126.78
Balance as at 31 March 2022  5,438.00
Balance as at 01 April 2022  5,438.00
Net change in fair value-unrealized (refer note 18) (24.70)
Balance as at 30 September 2022 5,413.30
		

23.	 SEGMENT REPORTING

	� The Trust does not have any Operating segments as at 30 September 2022 and 31 March 2022, hence disclosure 
under Ind AS 108, Operating segments has not been provided in the Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.

24.	 EARNINGS PER UNIT (EPU)

	 Basic EPU amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the period/year attributable to Unitholders by the 
weighted average number of units outstanding during the period/year. Diluted EPU amounts are calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to Unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the 
period plus the weighted average number of units that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential 
units into unit capital. The Units of the Trust were allotted on 08 February 2021, 11 February 2021 and 24 January 
2022.

Particulars

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2022

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 June 2022

For the 
quarter 

ended  
30 September 

2021

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022

Profit after tax for calculating basic 
and diluted EPU

796.47  829.72  1,140.49 1,626.19  2,146.45  2,378.30  4,524.75 

Weighted average number of Units 
(Nos.)

 335,087,073  335,087,073  302,801,601  335,087,073  315,333,907  302,801,601  309,050,586 

Earnings Per Unit

     - Basic (Rupees/unit)	 2.38  2.48  3.77 4.85  6.81  7.85  14.64 

     - Diluted (Rupees/unit)* 2.38  2.48  3.77 4.85  6.81  7.85  14.64 

	 * The Trust does not have any outstanding dilutive units
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25.	 UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO THE GLOBAL HEALTH PANDEMIC ON COVID-19: 		
	 The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to cause disruption to business activities as well as disrupted travel and 

adversely impacted local, regional, national and international economic conditions. Brookfield India REIT has 
considered possible effects that may result from the pandemic relating to COVID-19 on the carrying amounts and 
fair value of Investments in Subsidiaries. The fair value of investments in subsidiaries is primarily determined basis 
the fair value of the underlying investment properties as at 30 September 2022. As a result, future revenues and 
cash flows produced by investment properties could be potentially impacted due to this prevailing uncertainty. In 
response, Brookfield India REIT has adjusted cash flow assumptions for its estimate of near-term disruption to cash 
flows to reflect collections, vacancy and assumptions with respect to new leasing activity. In addition, Brookfield 
India REIT has continued to assess the appropriateness of the discount and terminal capitalization rates giving 
consideration to changes to property level cash flows and any risk premium inherent in such cash flow changes 
as well as the current cost of capital and credit spreads. Further, in developing assumptions relating to possible 
future uncertainties in the Indian economic conditions because of this pandemic; Brookfield India REIT, as at the 
date of approval of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements, has used internal and external sources 
of information including reports on fair valuation of investment properties from property consultants, economic 
forecast and other information from market sources on the expected future performance of Brookfield India REIT. 
Based on this analysis, Brookfield India REIT has concluded that there is no impairment to the carrying amount of 
investments in subsidiaries and the fair value of investments in subsidiaries disclosed in the Condensed Standalone 
Financial Statements represents the best estimate based on internal and external sources of information on the 
reporting date.

	� The impact of COVID-19 on Brookfield India REIT Condensed Standalone Financial Statements may differ from that 
estimated as at the date of approval of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements..

26.	 INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT FEE

	 REIT Management Fees
	 Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated 17 July 2020, Investment Manager is entitled to fees 

@ 1% of NDCF, exclusive of applicable taxes (also refer note 29). The fees has been determined for undertaking 
management of the REIT and its investments. The said Management fees for the quarter and half year ended  
30 September 2022 amounts to `20.26 million and `40.58 million respectively. There are no changes during the 
period in the methodology for computation of fees paid to the Manager.

27.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

	 A.	 Related parties to Brookfield India REIT as at 30 September 2022

		  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd- Sponsor		

		  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited - Investment Manager		

		  Axis Trustee Services Limited- Trustee

		�  The Ultimate parent entity and sponsor groups, with whom the group has related party 
transactions during the period, consist of the below entities:

		  Ultimate parent entity

		  Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (BAM) , ultimate parent entity and controlling party

		  Sponsor

		  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd- Sponsor
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		  Sponsor group

		  a) 	 BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd. (BSREP II India)

		  b) 	 Kairos Property Managers Private Limited (Kairos)

		  c) 	 BSREP Moon C1 L.P

		  d)	  BSREP Moon C2 L.P

		  e) 	 BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte Ltd. (BSREP India Office III)

		  f) 	 BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Holdings)

		  g) 	 BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Office IV)

		  h) 	 BSREP India Office Holdings VI Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Office VI)		

		  Fellow subsidiaries	

		  Brookfield Property Group LLC	

		�  Directors & Key personnel of the Investment Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private 
Limited)	

		  Directors

		  Akila Krishnakumar (Independent Director)

		  Shailesh Vishnubhai Haribhakti (Independent Director)

		  Anuj Ranjan (Non-Executive Director)

		  Ankur Gupta (Non-Executive Director)

		  Key personnel	

		  Alok Aggarwal - Managing director and chief executive officer – India office business	

		  Sanjeev Kumar Sharma - Executive vice president and chief financial officer – India office business

		  Subsidiary (SPVs) (w.e.f. 08 February 2021)

		  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited 

		  Festus Properties Private Limited 

		  Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited 

		  Candor India Office Parks Private Limited 

		  Subsidiary (SPVs) (w.e.f. 24 January 2022)

		  Seaview Developers Private Limited
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	 B. 	 Related party transactions

Nature of transaction/  
Entity’s Name

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021

For the year  
ended  

31 March 2022

Unsecured loan given to 

- �Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited

 -    -    66.00  -    -    66.00  66.00 

- Festus Properties Private Limited  -    -    89.00  -    38.50  89.00  127.50 

- �Shantiniketan Properties Private 
Limited

 -    -    33.00  -    -    33.00  33.00 

- Seaview Developers Private Limited  -    335.00  -    335.00  5,735.00  -    5,735.00 

Total  -    335.00  188.00  335.00  5,773.50  188.00  5,961.50 

Unsecured loan repaid by

- �Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited

 524.00  775.00  359.00  1,299.00  11,785.00  608.00  12,393.00 

- Festus Properties Private Limited  158.00  198.00  87.00  356.00  1,769.00  87.00  1,856.00 

- �Shantiniketan Properties Private 
Limited

 92.00  60.00  159.00  152.00  1,375.00  207.00  1,582.00 

- Seaview Developers Private Limited  112.00  163.00  -    275.00  339.00  -    339.00 

Total  886.00  1,196.00  605.00  2,082.00  15,268.00  902.00  16,170.00 

Investment in Debentures 

- Seaview Developers Private Limited  -    -    -    -    5,438.00  -    5,438.00 

Total  -    -    -    -    5,438.00  -    5,438.00 

Conversion of Investment in 
Debentures to Investment in 
Equity shares

- �Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited

 -    -    -    -    -    10,100.03  10,100.03 

Total  -    -    -    -    -    10,100.03  10,100.03 

Investment in Equity shares of 
SPV

- Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited 

 -    -    -    -    -    10,100.00  10,100.00 

- Seaview Developers Private Limited  -    -    -    -    12,482.97  -    12,482.97 

Total  -    -    -    -    12,482.97  10,100.00  22,582.97 

Trustee Fee Expense 

- Axis Trustee Services Limited  0.74  0.74  0.74  1.48  1.47  1.48  2.95 

Total  0.74  0.74  0.74  1.48  1.47  1.48  2.95 

Interest Income on Loans to 
Subsidiaries

- �Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited

 354.35  368.75  757.66  723.10  1,217.64  1,518.13  2,735.77 

- Festus Properties Private Limited  192.40  198.56  256.94  390.96  460.15  506.77  966.92 

- �Shantiniketan Properties Private 
Limited

 82.25  83.17  130.61  165.42  224.51  261.83  486.34 

- Seaview Developers Private Limited  179.15  175.17  -    354.32  127.03  -    127.03 

Total  808.15  825.65  1,145.21  1,633.80  2,029.33  2,286.73  4,316.06 

Interest Income on Debentures

- Seaview Developers Private Limited  19.29  19.29  -    38.58  14.94  -    14.94 

Total  19.29  19.29  -    38.58  14.94  -    14.94 
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Nature of transaction/  
Entity’s Name

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021

For the year  
ended  

31 March 2022

Investment management fees

- �Brookprop Management Services 
Private Limited

 20.26  20.32  24.92  40.58  35.30  45.91  81.21 

Total  20.26  20.32  24.92  40.58  35.30  45.91  81.21 
Dividend Income

- �Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited 

 30.00  22.00  30.00  52.00  42.00  180.00  222.00 

Total  30.00  22.00  30.00  52.00  42.00  180.00  222.00 
Issue of Unit Capital

- �BSREP India Office Holdings Pte 
Ltd.

 -    -    -    -    4,550.17  -    4,550.17 

Total  -    -    -    -    4,550.17  -    4,550.17 
Repayment of Unit Capital

- �BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.

 138.54  116.35  53.09  254.89  194.29  53.09  247.38 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings Pte 
Ltd.

 106.24  89.22  40.71  195.46  148.98  40.71  189.69 

- Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  8.67  7.28  3.32  15.95  12.17  3.32  15.49 

- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  2.05  1.72  0.79  3.77  2.87  0.79  3.66 

- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 

- �BSREP II India Office Holdings II 
Pte. Ltd.

 71.90  60.39  27.55  132.29  100.84  27.55  128.39 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 94.02  78.96  36.03  172.98  131.85  36.03  167.88 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. 
Ltd.

 39.59  33.25  -    72.84  -    -    -   

Total  461.01  387.17  161.49  848.18  591.00  161.49  752.49 
Interest Distributed

- �BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.

 132.59  154.78  247.21  287.37  387.49  247.21  634.70 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings Pte 
Ltd.

 101.67  118.69  189.57  220.36  297.14  189.57  486.71 

- Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  8.30  9.69  15.47  17.99  24.25  15.47  39.72 

- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  1.96  2.29  3.66  4.25  5.74  3.66  9.40 

- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 

- �BSREP II India Office Holdings II 
Pte. Ltd.

 68.81  80.33  128.30  149.14  201.10  128.30  329.40 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 89.98  105.04  167.77  195.02  262.97  167.77  430.74 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. 
Ltd.

 37.89  44.23  -    82.12  -    -    -   

Total  441.20  515.05  751.98  956.25  1,178.69  751.98  1,930.67 
Other Income Distributed

- �BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.

 4.87  4.87  24.41  9.74  13.53  24.41  37.94 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings Pte 
Ltd.

 3.73  3.73  18.72  7.46  10.37  18.72  29.09 

- Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  0.30  0.30  1.53  0.60  0.85  1.53  2.38 

- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  0.07  0.07  0.36  0.14  0.20  0.36  0.56 
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Nature of transaction/  
Entity’s Name

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021

For the year  
ended  

31 March 2022

- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 

- �BSREP II India Office Holdings II 
Pte. Ltd.

 2.53  2.53  12.67  5.06  7.02  12.67  19.69 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 3.31  3.31  16.56  6.62  9.18  16.56  25.74 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. 
Ltd.

 1.39  1.39  -    2.78  -    -    -   

Total  16.20  16.20  74.25  32.40  41.15  74.25  115.40 

Reimbursement of expense 
incurred by (excluding GST)

- �Brookprop Management Services 
Private Limited

 -    -    -    -    (0.06)  -    (0.06)

- �Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited

 -    -    (0.21)  -    0.04  6.03  6.07 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte 
Ltd

 -    -    9.26  -    1.22  25.17  26.39 

- Brookfield Property Group LLC (0.34)  2.32  -   1.98  -    -    -   

Total (0.34)  2.32  9.05 1.98  1.20  31.20  32.40 

Outstanding balances As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Unsecured loans receivable (Non-current)
- 	 Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  10,424.00  11,723.00 
- 	 Festus Properties Private Limited  5,815.50  6,171.50 
- 	 Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  2,449.00  2,601.00 
- 	 Seaview Developers Private Limited  5,456.00  5,396.00 
Total  24,144.50  25,891.50 
Investment in equity shares of SPV 
- 	 Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  24,761.39  24,761.39 
- 	 Festus Properties Private Limited  8,655.46  8,655.46 
- 	 Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  11,407.83  11,407.83 
- 	 Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  220.20  220.20 
- 	 Seaview Developers Private Limited  12,482.97  12,482.97 
Total  57,527.85  57,527.85 
Investment in Debentures 
- 	 Seaview Developers Private Limited 5,413.30  5,438.00 
Total 5,413.30  5,438.00 
Interest accrued but not due on Loan to Subsidiaries 
- 	 Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  234.86  244.44 
- 	 Festus Properties Private Limited  192.40  208.76 
- 	 Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  82.24  78.36 
- 	 Seaview Developers Private Limited  118.79  113.82 
Total  628.29  645.38 
Prepaid expenses 
- 	 Axis Trustee Services Ltd  1.47 -
Total  1.47 -
Trade Payable (net of withholding tax)
- 	 Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  18.54  16.80 
Total  18.54  16.80 
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28.	 DETAILS OF UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS OF IPO ARE AS FOLLOWS:

Objects of the issue as per the prospectus Proposed 
utilisation

Actual  
utilization upto

31 March 2022

Partial or full pre-payment or scheduled repayment of the existing indebtedness of our Asset 
SPVs

 35,750.00  35,750.00 

General purposes (refer note below)  350.00  672.45 
Issue expenses (refer note below)  1,900.00  1,577.55 
Total  38,000.00  38,000.00 

	� Note: Amount of `322.45 million has been used for general corporate purposes from the proposed utilization towards issue 
expenses

29.	 DISTRIBUTION POLICY
	� In terms of the Distribution policy and REIT Regulations, not less than 90% of the NDCFs of our Asset SPVs are 

required to be distributed to Brookfield REIT, in proportion of its shareholding in our Asset SPVs, subject to 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act. The cash flows receivable by Brookfield REIT may be in the form of 
dividends, interest income, principal loan repayment, proceeds of any capital reduction or buyback from our Asset 
SPVs/ CIOP, sale proceeds out of disposal of investments of any or assets directly/ indirectly held by Brookfield REIT 
or as specifically permitted under the Trust Deed or in such other form as may be permissible under the  
applicable laws.

	� At least 90% of the NDCFs of Brookfield REIT (“REIT Distributions”) shall be declared and made once every quarter 
of a Financial Year by our Manager. The first distribution shall be made upon completion of the first full quarter after 
the listing of our Units on the Stock Exchanges. Further, in accordance with the REIT Regulations, REIT Distributions 
shall be made no later than 15 days from the date of such declarations. The REIT Distributions, when made, shall be 
made in Indian Rupees.

	� The NDCFs shall be calculated in accordance with the REIT Regulations and any circular, notification or guidelines 
issued thereunder including the SEBI Guidelines.

30.	 CAPITALIZATION STATEMENT
	� The Trust’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 

to sustain future development of the business. The Trust’s capital structure mainly constitutes equity in the form of 
unit capital. The projects of SPVs are initially funded through construction financing arrangements. On completion, 
these loans are restructured into lease-rental discounting arrangements. The Trust’s capital structure is influenced 
by the changes in regulatory framework, government policies, available options of financing and the impact of the 
same on the liquidity position.

	� The Trust monitors Capital by a careful scrutiny of the cash and bank balances, and a regular assessment of any 
debt requirements. In the absence of any interest bearing debt, the maintenance of Net debt to GAV ratio may not 
be of any relevance to the Trust as at 30 September 2022.
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31.	� On 1 April 2021, 12% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures issued by Candor Kolkata and held by Brookfield India 
REIT (45,535 numbers of 12% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures) were converted into 37,981 number of equity 
shares each of `10 at a premium of `265,912.43.

32.	 a)	� The figures for the quarter ended 30 September 2022 are the derived figures between the unaudited figures in 
respect of the half year ended 30 September 2022 and the unaudited published figures for the quarter ended 
30 June 2022, which were both subject to limited review.

	 b) 	� The figures for the half year ended 31 March 2022 are the derived figures between the audited figures in 
respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 and the unaudited published year-to-date figures upto  
30 September 2021 which were subject to limited review.

33.	 “0.00” Represents value less than `0.01 million.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
(as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022
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To The Board of Directors of
Brookprop Management Services Private Limited 
(the “Investment Manager”)
(Acting in capacity as the Investment Manager of 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust)

INTRODUCTION

1.	� We have reviewed the accompanying unaudited 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Statements of  Brookfield India Real Estate Trust 
(“the REIT”), and its subsidiaries (the REIT and its 
subsidiaries together referred to as the “Group”), 
(“the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Statements”) which comprise of the following:

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance 
Sheet as at September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive income) for the quarter and half 
year ended September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Consolidated 
Statement of Cash flow for the quarter and half 
year ended September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for 
the half year ended September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Statement of Net Assets at Fair 
Value as at September 30, 2022;

	 	� the unaudited Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value for the half year ended September 30, 
2022;

	 	� the unaudited Condensed Statement of Net 
Distributable Cash Flow of the Brookfield India 
Real Estate Trust and each of the subsidiaries for 
the quarter and half year ended September 30, 
2022; and

	 	� summary of the significant accounting policies 
and select explanatory notes

	� These Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Statements are being submitted by the REIT 
pursuant to the requirements of Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to 
time including any guidelines and circulars issued 
thereunder read with SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016 dated December 29, 2016 (the “REIT 
regulations”).

2.	� The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Statements, which is the responsibility of the 
Investment Manager and approved by the Board 
of Directors of the Investment Manager, have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the REIT Regulations; Indian Accounting Standard 34 
“Interim Financial Reporting” (“Ind AS 34”), prescribed 
under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) 
and other accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, to the extent not inconsistent with the 
REIT Regulations. Our responsibility is to express a 
conclusion on the Condensed Consolidated Interim 
Financial Statements based on our review.

Scope of Review
3.	� We conducted our review of the Condensed 

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 
in accordance with the Standard on Review 
Engagements (SRE) 2410 “Review of Interim Financial 
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor 
of the Entity”, issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (ICAI). A review of interim 
financial information consists of making inquiries, 
primarily of Investment Manager’s personnel 
responsible for financial and accounting matters, and 
applying analytical and other review procedures.   
A review is substantially less in scope than an audit 
conducted in accordance with Standards on Auditing 
issued by ICAI and consequently does not enable us 
to obtain assurance that we would become aware 
of all significant matters that might be identified in 
an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion.

4.	�� The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Statements includes the financial information of the 
following entities:

Sr. 
No.

Name of the entities

A Parent entity
1 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust
B Subsidiaries
1 Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited
2 Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 

Private Limited
3 Festus Properties Private Limited
4 Seaview Developers Private Limited
5 Candor India Office Parks Private Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report 
on Review of Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 
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Conclusion
5.	� Based on our review, nothing has come to our 

attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Interim 
Financial Statements, have not been prepared in 
accordance with the REIT Regulations, Ind AS 34, 
prescribed under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as 
amended) and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with 
the REIT Regulations.

Emphasis of matter
6.	� We draw attention to Note 15(a)(i) which describes 

the presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” to 
comply with REIT Regulations. Our conclusion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants

            (Firm’s Reg. No. 015125N)

Anand Subramanian
Partner

Place: Bengaluru 	 (Membership No. 110815)
Date: November 07, 2022	 (UDIN: 22110815BCIXYM9001)
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Particulars Note
As at 

30 September 2022 
(Unaudited) 

As at 
31 March 2022 

(Audited) 
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3  166.03  154.90 
Investment property 4 134,708.26  134,419.98 
Investment property under development 4  1,279.28  1,745.46 
Intangible assets 3  0.01  0.13 
Financial assets
-	 Other financial assets 5  964.24  1,437.33 
Deferred tax assets (net) 6 3,620.88  3,755.46 
Non-current tax assets (net) 7  2,333.63  2,416.27 
Other non-current assets 8  136.98  175.54 
Total non-current assets 143,209.31  144,105.07 
Current assets
Financial assets
 -Trade receivables 9  313.07  224.88 
 -Cash and cash equivalents 10  2,296.90  2,043.65 
 -Other bank balances 11  500.03  506.49 
 -Loans 12  -    -   
 -Other financial assets 13  1,479.54  755.31 
Other current assets 14  375.70  222.58 
Total current assets  4,965.24  3,752.91 
TOTAL ASSETS 148,174.55  147,857.98 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 
Unit Capital 15  88,289.05  89,867.31 
Other equity 16 (2,145.12)  (1,046.38)
Total equity 86,143.93  88,820.93 

LIABILITIES
Non current liabilities
Financial liabilities
-	 Borrowings 17  52,566.46  50,993.53 
-	 Lease liabilities  246.39  220.44 
-	 Other financial liabilities 18  1,838.20  1,329.30 
Provisions 19  18.28  18.91 
Other non-current liabilities 20  782.53  645.93 
Total non-current liabilities  55,451.86  53,208.11 
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
-	 Borrowings 21  615.30  661.81 
-	 Lease liabilities  579.53  27.73 
-	 Trade payables 22
 		  Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small  enterprises  0.76  17.34 
 		�  Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises  
 673.93  620.17 

-	 Other financial liabilities 23  4,198.76  4,061.26 
Provisions 24  10.02  7.32 
Other current liabilities 25  378.75  312.67 
Current tax liabilities (net) 26  121.71  120.64 
Total current liabilities  6,578.76  5,828.94 
Total liabilities  62,030.62  59,037.05 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 148,174.55  147,857.98 
Significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Particulars  Note 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 
(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 
(Unaudited)

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

(Unaudited) 

For the  
year ended  

31 March 2022 
(Audited) 

Income and gains
Revenue from operations 27  3,036.02  2,910.40  2,117.08  5,946.42  4,460.02  4,307.89  8,767.91 
Other income 28  80.40  97.29  30.93  177.69  157.36  66.87  224.23 
Total income  3,116.42  3,007.69  2,148.01  6,124.11  4,617.38  4,374.76  8,992.14 
Expenses and losses

Cost of material consumed 29  11.32  7.03  4.72  18.35  10.42  13.60  24.02 
Employee benefits expenses 30  80.00  84.05  52.46  164.05  93.31  103.54  196.85 
Finance costs 31  1,082.08  958.61  425.47  2,040.69  1,236.08  844.61  2,080.69 
Depreciation and amortization 
expenses

32 637.57  690.98  471.13 1,328.55  1,157.49  927.28  2,084.77 

Investment management fees  20.26  20.32  24.92  40.58  35.30  45.91  81.21 
Valuation expenses  4.39  1.67  2.99  6.06  7.67  3.93  11.60 
Trustee fees  0.74  0.74  0.74  1.48  1.47  1.48  2.95 
Other expenses 33 854.67  786.35  532.23  1,641.02  1,178.25  1,089.81  2,268.06 
Total expenses 2691.03  2,549.75  1,514.66 5,240.78  3,719.99  3,030.16  6,750.15 
Profit before Income tax 425.39  457.94  633.35 883.33  897.39  1,344.60  2,241.99 
Tax expense: 34
Current tax
-	 for current period  9.92  11.87  7.41  21.79  19.90  8.06  27.96 
-	 for earlier years  -    (11.38)  -    (11.38)  (3.81)  -    (3.81)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) 148.35  (13.98)  (56.88) 134.37  (160.39)  (84.62)  (245.01)
Tax expense for the period/ 
year

158.27  (13.49)  (49.47) 144.78  (144.30)  (76.56)  (220.86)

Profit for the period/ year 
after income tax

267.12  471.43  682.82 738.55  1,041.69  1,421.16  2,462.85 

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss
-	� Remeasurement of defined 

benefit obligations
 0.25  0.77  0.51  1.02  (0.03)  1.22  1.19 

-	� Income tax related to items 
that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss

 (0.01)  (0.18)  (0.16)  (0.19)  0.06  (0.26)  (0.20)

Other comprehensive income 
for the period/ year, net of tax

 0.24  0.59  0.35  0.83  0.03  0.96  0.99 

Total comprehensive income 
for the period/ year

267.36  472.02  683.17 739.38  1,041.72  1,422.12  2,463.84 

Earnings per unit 40
Basic 0.80  1.41  2.25 2.20  3.30  4.69  7.97 
Diluted 0.80  1.41  2.25 2.20  3.30  4.69  7.97 

Significant accounting policies 2

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Particulars

For the quarter 
ended  

30 September 
2022 

(Unaudited) 

For the quarter 
ended  

30 June 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the quarter 
ended  

30 September 
2021 

 (Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

(Unaudited) 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 
(Audited) 

Cash flows from operating 
activities :
Profit before tax 425.39  457.94  633.35 883.33  897.39  1,344.60  2,241.99 
Adjustments for :
Depreciation and amortization 
expense

637.57  690.98  471.13 1,328.55  1,157.49  927.28  2,084.77 

Allowance for expected credit loss  2.43  6.23  0.25  8.66  9.83  0.25  10.08 
Interest income on fixed deposit  (23.75)  (20.24)  (20.27)  (43.99)  (35.07)  (35.98)  (71.05)
Deferred income amortization  (45.73)  (53.90)  (38.12)  (99.63)  (84.80)  (76.26)  (161.06)
Credit impaired  8.84  0.58  5.11  9.42  2.95  7.82  10.77 
Restricted Stock Units  0.44  1.07  -    1.51  0.55  -    0.55 
Finance cost  1,082.08  958.61  425.47  2,040.69  1,236.08  844.61  2,080.69 
Interest income on security 
deposit

 (9.55)  (14.09)  (6.26)  (23.64)  (9.19)  (19.19)  (28.38)

Fair value gain on income support  (36.19)  (23.90)  -    (60.09)  (31.58)  -    (31.58)
Operating cash flows before 
working capital changes

2,041.53  2,003.28  1,470.66  4,044.81  3,143.64  2,993.13  6,136.78 

Movement in working capital:
(Increase)/Decrease in other 
current and non current assets

 (107.40)  46.69  (14.27)  (60.71)  (31.31)  (3.57)  (34.88)

Decrease/(Increase) in current and 
non current financial assets

 21.08  43.34  41.17  64.42  91.59  (48.70)  42.89 

Increase/(Decrease) in current and 
non current financial liabilities

 194.88  163.85  (211.17)  358.73  140.87  (278.92)  (138.05)

Increase in other current and non 
current liabilities

135.82  96.62  68.26  232.44  66.73  160.58  227.31 

Cash generated from operating 
activities

 2,285.91  2,353.78  1,354.65  4,639.69  3,411.52  2,822.52  6,234.05 

Income taxes (paid)/ refunds 
received (net)

 (35.69)  108.98  (39.00)  73.29  (24.79)  (150.06)  (174.85)

Net cash generated from 
operating activities (A)

 2,250.22  2,462.76  1,315.65  4,712.98  3,386.73  2,672.46  6,059.20 

Cash flows from investing 
activities :
Expenditure incurred on 
investment property

 (274.60)  (357.97)  (121.41) (632.57)  (627.97)  (245.36)  (873.33)

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment

 (9.55)  (11.92)  (19.45)  (21.47)  (12.36)  (30.06)  (42.42)

Payment for acquisition of 
subsidiary, including directly 
attributable expenses

 -    (11.52)  -    (11.52)  (13,258.02)  -    (13,258.02)

Fixed deposits matured#  227.56  8.27  82.68  235.83  91.74  181.55  273.29 
Fixed deposits made #  (207.92)  (21.52)  (83.19)  (229.44)  (131.09)  (92.47)  (223.56)
Interest received on fixed deposits  40.24  17.22  18.83  57.46  31.04  30.91  61.95 
Interest received on security 
deposit

 9.55  14.09  6.26  23.64  9.19  19.19  28.38 

Net cash used in investing 
activities (B)

 (214.72)  (363.35)  (116.28)  (578.07)  (13,897.47)  (136.24)  (14,033.71)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)



145

# Represents fixed deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months.

Notes:
1.	� The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian Accounting Standard -7 : 

“Statement on Cash Flows”.

2.	� Non-cash investing activities disclosed in other notes is towards partial settlement on assets acquisition of SDPL Noida on 24 January 
2022 through the issue of units (refer note 44(ii)).

Particulars

For the quarter 
ended  

30 September 
2022 

(Unaudited) 

For the quarter 
ended  

30 June 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the quarter 
ended  

30 September 
2021 

 (Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 
(Unaudited) 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

(Unaudited) 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 
(Audited) 

Cash flows from financing  
activities :
Finance costs paid  (1,031.99)  (918.17)  (388.16)  (1,950.16)  (1,381.87)  (770.73)  (2,152.60)
Proceeds from long-term 
borrowings

 1,070.02  749.99  500.00  1,820.01  15,259.99  650.00  15,909.99 

Repayment of Lease liabilities  (11.02)  (17.65)  (11.02)  (28.67)  -    (11.02)  (11.02)
Repayment of long-term 
borrowings

 (141.70)  (160.63)  -    (302.33)  (5,627.38)  -    (5,627.38)

Proceeds from issue of Units   -    -    -    -    4,949.83  -    4,949.83 
Expense incurred towards Initial 
public offerings 

 -    -    (18.08)  -    (225.74)  (976.23)  (1,201.97)

Expense incurred towards 
preferential allotment

 -    (4.00)  -    (4.00)  (44.92)  -    (44.92)

Distribution to unitholders  (1,707.68)  (1,708.83)  (1,816.81)  (3,416.51)  (3,330.72)  (1,816.81)  (5,147.53)
Net cash (used in) / generated 
from financing activities (C)

 (1,822.37)  (2,059.29)  (1,734.07)  (3,881.66)  9,599.19  (2,924.79)  6,674.40 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents (A+B+C)

 213.13  40.12  (534.70)  253.25  (911.54)  (388.57)  (1,300.11)

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of the period/ 
year

 2,083.77  2,043.65  3,301.32  2,043.65  2,766.62  3,155.19  3,155.19 

Cash and cash equivalents 
acquired due to asset 
acquisition:

 -    -    -    -    188.57  -    188.57 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the period/ year 
(refer note 10)

 2,296.90  2,083.77  2,766.62  2,296.90  2,043.65  2,766.62  2,043.65 

Components of cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the 
period/ year
Balances with banks 

- in current account  128.90  115.76  178.65  128.90  193.65  178.65  193.65 
- in deposit account  2,168.00  1,968.01  2,437.00  2,168.00  1,850.00  2,437.00  1,850.00 
- in escrow account  -    -    150.97  -    -    150.97  -   

 2,296.90  2,083.77  2,766.62  2,296.90  2,043.65  2,766.62  2,043.65 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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(a) 	 UNIT CAPITAL
Unit in Nos. Amount

Balance as on 01 April 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Changes in unit capital during the previous year:
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2021#  -    (297.05)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 September 2021#  -    (605.60)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 December 2021# -  (481.45)
Add: Reversal of issue expenses no longer payable  -    25.55 
Add: Units issued during the year (refer note 15)  32,285,472  9,500.00 
Less: Expense incurred towards preferential allotment  -    (48.92)
Balance at the end of the current reporting year 31 March 2022  335,087,073  89,867.31 
Balance as on 01 April 2022  335,087,073  89,867.31 
Changes in unit capital during the current period:
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 March 2022#  -    (720.44)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2022#  -    (857.82)
Balance at the end of the current reporting period 30 September 2022  335,087,073  88,289.05 

(b) 	 OTHER EQUITY 

Particulars  Retained 
earnings 

 Balance as on 01 April 2021  252.75 
 Add: Profit for the year ended 31 March 2022  2,462.85 
 Add: Other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022  0.99 
 Add: Total Comprehensive Income for the previous year  2,463.84 
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2021#  (1,519.76)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 September 2021#  (1,211.21)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 December 2021#  (1,032.55)
 Add: Restricted Stock Units  0.55 
 Balance as at 31 March 2022  (1,046.38)
 Balance as on 01 April 2022  (1,046.38)
 Add: Profit for the half year ended 30 September 2022 738.55
 Add: Other comprehensive income for the half year ended 30 September 2022  0.83 
 Add: Total Comprehensive Income for the current half year 739.38
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 March 2022#  (988.51)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2022#  (851.12)
 Add: Restricted Stock Units  1.51 
 Balance as at 30 September 2022 (2,145.12)

	 #The distributions made by Trust to its Unitholders are based on the Net Distributable Cash flows (NDCF) of Brookfield India REIT 
under the REIT Regulations.

	 Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unitholder’s Equity  

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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S. 
No. Particulars

   As at 30 September 2022  As at 31 March 2022
Book Value Fair value Book Value Fair value

A Assets 148,174.55 174,905.91  147,857.98  170,891.54 
(refer note 2 

below)
B Liabilities  (62,030.62)  (62,030.62)  (59,037.05)  (59,037.05)
C Net Assets (A-B) 86,143.93 112,875.29  88,820.93  111,854.49 
D No. of units  335,087,073  335,087,073  335,087,073  335,087,073 
E NAV per unit (C/D)  257.08 336.85  265.07  333.81 

Measurement of fair values
The fair value of investment properties and investment property under development has been determined by 
independent external registered property valuers, having appropriately recognized professional qualifications and 
recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.

Valuation technique
The fair value measurement of the investment properties and investment property under development has been 
categorized as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

The valuers have followed a discounted cash flow method. The discounted cash flow method considers the present 
value of net cash flows to be generated from the respective properties, taking into account the expected rental growth 
rate, vacancy period, occupancy rate, average sq. ft. rent and lease incentive costs. The expected net cash flows are 
discounted using the risk adjusted discount rates. Among other factors, the discount rate estimation considers the 
quality of a building and its location (prime vs secondary), tenant credit quality, lease terms and investors expected 
return.

For fair valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities refer note 37.

Notes
1. 	� Candor Kolkata has plans to de-notify a portion of its SEZ into non SEZ. The denotification will be taken up prior 

to the construction commencement and is procedural in nature. Hence, the fair valuation of such SEZ portion has 
been computed by the valuers assuming non IT use.

2. 	� Project wise break up of Fair value of Assets :

	 As at 30 September 2022

Entity and Property name
Fair value of Investment 

property and Investment 
property under development

Other assets at 
book value Total assets

Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited 72,750.92 4,475.65 77,226.57
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited 22,296.31  853.08 23,149.39
Festus Properties Private Limited  27,548.00 1,697.87 29,245.87
Seaview Developers Private Limited 40,969.22* 2,358.01 43,327.23
Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  -    99.20  99.20 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust  -    1,857.65  1,857.65 

163,564.45 11,341.46 174,905.91

	� *Includes `845.54 millions (net of advance of `19.90 million) of finance receivable relating to income support and corresponding 
amount has been reduced from other assets.

Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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	 As at 31 March 2022

Entity and Property name
Fair value of Investment 

property and Investment 
property under development

Other assets at 
book value Total assets

Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  70,806.53  3,776.76  74,583.29 
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  21,329.32  751.69  22,081.01 
Festus Properties Private Limited  27,258.00  1,972.85  29,230.85 
Seaview Developers Private Limited  40,967.28*  2,118.61  43,085.89 
Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  -    107.41  107.41 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust  -    1,803.09  1,803.09 

 160,361.13  10,530.41  170,891.54 

	� *Includes `1,162.13 millions of finance receivable relating to income support and corresponding amount has been reduced from 
other assets.

	� a.	� Fair values of assets as disclosed above are the fair values of the total assets of all SPVs as included in the 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.						    

	 b.	� Fair values of investment property and investment property under development as at 30 September 2022 and 
31 March 2022 as disclosed above are solely based on the fair valuation report of the independent external 
registered valuer appointed under the REIT Regulations.

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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S. 
No. Particulars

For the  
half year ended  

30 September 2022 

For the  
half year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the  
half year ended  

30 September 2021 

For the  
year ended  

31 March 2022 
A Total comprehensive Income 739.38  1,041.72  1,422.12  2,463.84 
B Add/(Less) : Changes in fair value not 

recognized 
-Investment Property 3,381.21  4,555.46  2,524.12  7,079.58 

C (A+B) Total Return 4,120.59  5,597.18  3,946.24  9,543.42 

The REIT acquired SPVs on 8 February 2021 and 24 January 2022 as fully described in Note 1. In the above statement, 
changes in fair value for the half year ended 30 September 2022, 31 March 2022 and 30 September 2021 and year ended 
31 March 2022 has been computed based on the difference in fair values of investment properties and investment 
property under development as at 30 September 2022, 31 March 2022, 30 September 2021 and 31 March 2022 as 
compared with the values as at 31 March 2022, 30 September 2021, 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2021 respectively after 
adjusting change in book value of investment properties and investment property under development. The fair values 
of the aforementioned assets as at 30 September 2022, 31 March 2022 and 30 September 2021 are solely based on the 
valuation report of the independent registered valuer appointed under the REIT Regulations.

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Statement of Total Return at Fair Value

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the quarter ended 30 September 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

1 Profit / (Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

(26.84)  17.71  16.85  (89.21)  (72.92) (154.41)

Adjustment

2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 
Statement of profit and loss

102.00  76.60  0.71  61.51  138.20 379.02

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/ non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager. 
For example, any decrease/ increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognized in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of 
the asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per 
effective interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents 
recognized on a straight line basis, etc.

(38.56)  (11.41)  2.69  14.72  (67.39) (99.95)

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/ disposal/ liquidation 
of real estate assets, investments (including cash 
equivalents),other assets or shares of /interest in Asset 
SPVs.

 -    -    -    -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale / liquidation/transfer/ disposal of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
assets or shares of / interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the 
following:

 -    -    -    -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes

 �Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale 
proceeds

 Any acquisition  -    -    -    -    -   

 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -    -    -   

 �Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per 
REIT Regulations

 -    -    -    -    -   

 �Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -    -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be 
invested subsequently.

 -    -    -    -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/ debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 353.22  76.69  -    192.39  178.58  800.88 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/ prepaid expenditure, etc.

123.19  (42.05)  14.23  106.30  216.87  418.54

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the quarter ended 30 September 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalized overheads, etc.

 (29.26)  (39.09)  (1.16)  (99.74)  (114.90) (284.15)

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/ drawdown/ (redemption) 
of preference shares/ debentures/ any other such 
instrument/ premiums/accrued interest/ any other 
obligations/ liabilities etc., to parties other than Brookfield 
REIT, as may be deemed necessary by the Manager.

 358.94  100.72  -    104.86  41.28  605.80 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/ non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -    -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if 
applicable).

 -    -    -    -    -   

Total adjustments (B) 869.53  161.46  16.47  380.04  392.64 1,820.14
NDCF (C) = (A+B)  842.69  179.17  33.32  290.83  319.72  1,665.73 

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the quarter ended 30 June 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

1 Profit / (Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

 (22.88)  0.58  17.71  (63.77)  (60.31)  (128.67)

Adjustment

2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 
Statement of profit and loss

 166.48  78.07  0.66  60.70  133.09  439.00 

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/ non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager. 
For example, any decrease/ increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognized in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of 
the asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per 
effective interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents 
recognized on a straight line basis, etc.

 (62.41)  (32.91)  (0.74)  28.08  (53.61)  (121.59)

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/ disposal/ liquidation 
of real estate assets, investments (including cash 
equivalents),other assets or shares of /interest in Asset 
SPVs.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale / liquidation/transfer/ disposal of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
assets or shares of / interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the 
following:
 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale 
proceeds

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

 Any acquisition  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per 
REIT Regulations

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be 
invested subsequently.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/ debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 367.71  77.50  -    198.56  168.83  812.60 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/ prepaid expenditure, etc.

 218.97  3.62  (11.39)  270.25  423.16  904.61 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the quarter ended 30 June 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalized overheads, etc.

 (119.11)  (40.76)  (3.37)  (111.22)  (95.43)  (369.89)

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/ drawdown/ (redemption) 
of preference shares/ debentures/ any other such 
instrument/ premiums/accrued interest/ any other 
obligations/ liabilities etc., to parties other than Brookfield 
REIT, as may be deemed necessary by the Manager.

 610.05  76.85  -    99.10  (160.63)  625.37 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/ non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if 
applicable).

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

Total adjustments (B)  1,181.69  162.37  (14.84)  545.47  415.41  2,290.10 
NDCF (C) = (A+B)  1,158.81  162.95  2.87  481.70  355.10  2,161.43 

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the quarter ended 30 September 2021

Candor 
Kolkata SPPL Noida CIOP Festus Total

1 Profit / (Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

 (129.70)  (35.44)  13.99  (157.60)  (308.75)

Adjustment

2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 
Statement of profit and loss

 164.44  71.09  0.22  64.26  300.01 

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/ non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager. 
For example, any decrease/ increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognised in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of the 
asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per effective 
interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents recognised on 
a straight line basis, etc.

 (48.97)  (13.47)  1.45  58.28  (2.71)

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/ disposal/ liquidation 
of real estate assets, investments (including cash 
equivalents),other assets or shares of /interest in Asset SPVs.

 -    -    -    -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale / liquidation/transfer/ disposal of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
assets or shares of / interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the 
following:

 -    -    -    -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -    -    -   

 �Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds  -    -    -    -    -   

 Any acquisition  -    -    -    -    -   

 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -    -    -   

 �Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per REIT 
Regulations

 -    -    -    -    -   

 �Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -    -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be invested 
subsequently.

 -    -    -    -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/ debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 754.06  116.50  -    256.94  1,127.50 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/ prepaid expenditure, etc.

 (109.18)  69.26  12.55  77.23  49.86 

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalised overheads, etc.

 (84.03)  (56.73)  (0.09)  (0.03)  (140.88)

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the quarter ended 30 September 2021

Candor 
Kolkata SPPL Noida CIOP Festus Total

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/ drawdown/ (redemption) of 
preference shares/ debentures/ any other such instrument/ 
premiums/accrued interest/ any other obligations/ liabilities 
etc., to parties other than Brookfield REIT, as may be deemed 
necessary by the Manager.

 229.33  62.34  -    51.08  342.75 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/ non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -    -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if applicable).

 -   - - -  -   

Total adjustments (B)  905.65  248.99  14.13  507.76  1,676.53 

NDCF (C) = (A+B)  775.95  213.55  28.12  350.16  1,367.78 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the half year ended 30 September 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

1 Profit / (Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

(49.72)  18.29  34.56  (152.98)  (133.23) (283.08)

Adjustment

2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 
Statement of profit and loss

268.48  154.67  1.37  122.21  271.29 818.02

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/ non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager. 
For example, any decrease/ increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognized in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of 
the asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per 
effective interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents 
recognized on a straight line basis, etc.

(100.97)  (44.32)  1.95  42.80  (121.00) (221.54)

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/ disposal/ liquidation 
of real estate assets, investments (including cash 
equivalents),other assets or shares of /interest in Asset 
SPVs.

 -    -    -    -   -  -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale / liquidation/transfer/ disposal of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
assets or shares of / interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the 
following:

 -    -    -    -   -  -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -    -   -  -   

 �Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale 
proceeds

 -    -    -    -   -  -   

 Any acquisition  -    -    -    -   -  -   

 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -    -   -  -   

 �Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per 
REIT Regulations

 -    -    -    -   -  -   

 �Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -    -   -  -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be 
invested subsequently.

 -    -    -    -   -  -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/ debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 720.93  154.19  -    390.95  347.41  1,613.48 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/ prepaid expenditure, etc.

 342.16  (38.43)  2.84  376.55  640.03  1,323.15 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the half year ended 30 September 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalized overheads, etc.

 (148.37)  (79.85)  (4.53)  (210.96)  (210.33)  (654.04)

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/ drawdown/ (redemption) 
of preference shares/ debentures/ any other such 
instrument/ premiums/accrued interest/ any other 
obligations/ liabilities etc., to parties other than Brookfield 
REIT, as may be deemed necessary by the Manager.

 968.99  177.57  -    203.96  (119.35)  1,231.17 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/ non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -    -   -  -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if 
applicable).

 -    -    -    -   -  -   

Total adjustments (B) 2,051.22  323.83  1.63  925.51  808.05 4,110.24
NDCF (C) = (A+B)  2,001.50  342.12  36.19  772.53  674.82  3,827.16 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the half year ended 30 September 2021

Candor 
Kolkata SPPL Noida CIOP Festus Total

1 Profit / (Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

 (210.78)  (72.62)  5.03  (285.62)  (563.99)

Adjustment

2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 
Statement of profit and loss

 330.60  142.38  0.42  128.51  601.91 

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/ non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager. 
For example, any decrease/ increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognized in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of the 
asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per effective 
interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents recognized on 
a straight line basis, etc.

 (82.38)  (16.90)  1.27  112.53  14.52 

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/ disposal/ liquidation 
of real estate assets, investments (including cash 
equivalents),other assets or shares of /interest in Asset SPVs.

 -    -    -    -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale / liquidation/transfer/ disposal of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
assets or shares of / interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the 
following:

 -    -    -    -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -    -    -   

 �Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds  -    -    -    -    -   

 Any acquisition  -    -    -    -    -   

 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -    -    -   

 �Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per REIT 
Regulations

 -    -    -    -    -   

 �Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -    -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be invested 
subsequently.

 -    -    -    -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/ debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 1,511.42  234.67  -    506.77  2,252.86 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/ prepaid expenditure, etc.*

 687.03  121.16  70.22  (38.44)  839.97 

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalized overheads, etc.

 (125.37)  (149.16)  (0.80)  (0.11)  (275.44)

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the half year ended 30 September 2021

Candor 
Kolkata SPPL Noida CIOP Festus Total

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/ drawdown/ (redemption) of 
preference shares/ debentures/ any other such instrument/ 
premiums/accrued interest/ any other obligations/ liabilities 
etc., to parties other than Brookfield REIT, as may be deemed 
necessary by the Manager.

 229.33  150.81 -  51.08  431.22 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/ non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -    -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if applicable).

 -   - - -  -   

Total adjustments (B)  2,550.63  482.96  71.11  760.34  3,865.04 

NDCF (C) = (A+B)  2,339.85  410.34  76.14  474.72  3,301.05 

*NDCF for the half year includes NDCF for the period 08 February 2021 to 31 March 2021 amounting to `759.47 million which has been 
included in other adjustment.

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the half year ended 31 March 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

1 Profit / (Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

 (304.07)  (46.52)  33.97  (269.04)  (14.88)  (600.54)

Adjustment

2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 
Statement of profit and loss

 341.20  148.48  0.67  127.73  97.32  715.40 

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/ non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager. 
For example, any decrease/ increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognized in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of 
the asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per 
effective interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents 
recognized on a straight line basis, etc.

 (172.81)  (34.39)  0.91  84.80  (105.47)  (226.96)

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/ disposal/ liquidation 
of real estate assets, investments (including cash 
equivalents),other assets or shares of /interest in Asset 
SPVs.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale / liquidation/transfer/ disposal of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
assets or shares of / interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the 
following:

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale 
proceeds

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

 Any acquisition  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per 
REIT Regulations

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be 
invested subsequently.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/ debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 1,211.22  206.33  -    460.15  122.87  2,000.57 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/ prepaid expenditure, etc.*

 (93.56)  66.35  8.51  (7.70)  5,980.70  5,954.30 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the half year ended 31 March 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalized overheads, etc.

 (113.33)  (229.92)  (2.22)  (84.17)  (210.67)  (640.31)

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/ drawdown/ (redemption) 
of preference shares/ debentures/ any other such 
instrument/ premiums/accrued interest/ any other 
obligations/ liabilities etc., to parties other than Brookfield 
REIT, as may be deemed necessary by the Manager.

12,135.73  1,441.34  -    1,757.42 (5,627.38)  9,707.11 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/ non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if 
applicable).

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

Total adjustments (B) 13,308.45  1,598.19  7.87  2,338.23  257.37 17,510.11 

NDCF (C) = (A+B) 13,004.38  1,551.67  41.84  2,069.19  242.49 16,909.57 
				  

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the year ended 31 March 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

1 Profit / (Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

 (514.85)  (119.14)  39.00  (554.66)  (14.88)  (1,164.53)

Adjustment

2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 
Statement of profit and loss

 671.80  290.86  1.09  256.24  97.32  1,317.31 

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/ non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager. 
For example, any decrease/ increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognized in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of 
the asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per 
effective interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents 
recognized on a straight line basis, etc.

 (255.18)  (51.29) 2.18  197.33  (105.47)  (212.43)

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/ disposal/ liquidation 
of real estate assets, investments (including cash 
equivalents),other assets or shares of /interest in Asset 
SPVs.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale / liquidation/transfer/ disposal of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
assets or shares of / interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the 
following:

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale 
proceeds

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

 Any acquisition  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per 
REIT Regulations

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

 �Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be 
invested subsequently.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/ debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 2,722.64  440.99  -    966.92  122.87  4,253.42 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/ prepaid expenditure, etc.*

 593.47  187.52  78.73  (46.14)  5,980.70  6,794.28 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV
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Sr. 
No. Particulars

For the year ended 31 March 2022
Candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
Noida CIOP Festus SDPL 

Noida Total

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalized overheads, etc.

 (238.70)  (379.08)  (3.02)  (84.28)  (210.67)  (915.75)

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/ drawdown/ (redemption) 
of preference shares/ debentures/ any other such 
instrument/ premiums/accrued interest/ any other 
obligations/ liabilities etc., to parties other than Brookfield 
REIT, as may be deemed necessary by the Manager.

12,365.05  1,592.15  -    1,808.50 (5,627.38)  10,138.32 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/ non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if 
applicable).

 -    -    -   -  -    -   

Total adjustments (B) 15,859.08  2,081.15  78.98  3,098.57  257.37  21,375.15 

NDCF (C) = (A+B) 15,344.23  1,962.01  117.98  2,543.91  242.49  20,210.62 

*NDCF for the year ending 31 March 2022 includes NDCF for the period 08 February 2021 to 31 March 2021 amounting to `759.47 
million which has been included in other adjustment.	

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016	

(ii) Calculation of net distributable cash flows at each Asset SPV

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.	
As per our report of even date attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: 07 November 2022

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022
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1	 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE

	� The interim Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements (‘Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements’) comprise financial statements of 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust (‘Brookfield 
India REIT’ or ‘Trust’) and its subsidiaries namely 
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited (‘SPPL 
Noida’), Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited (‘Candor Kolkata’), Festus Properties 
Private Limited (‘Festus’), Seaview Developers Private 
Limited (‘SDPL Noida’) and Candor India Office 
Parks Private Limited (‘CIOP’) (individually referred 
to as ‘Special Purpose Vehicle’ or ‘SPV’ and together 
referred to as ‘Brookfield India REIT Portfolio 
companies’ or ‘Group’). The SPVs are companies 
domiciled in India.						    

	� Brookprop Management Services Private Limited 
(the ‘Settlor’) has set up the Brookfield India Real 
Estate Trust on 17 July 2020, as an irrevocable trust, 
pursuant to the Trust Deed, under the provisions of 
the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 and the Trust has been 
registered with SEBI as a Real Estate Investment Trust 
on 14 September 2020 under Regulation 6 of the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014. The Trustee 
to Brookfield India Real Estate Trust is Axis Trustee 
Services Limited (the ‘Trustee’) and the Manager 

for Brookfield India Real Estate Trust is Brookprop 
Management Services Private Limited (the ‘Manager’).

	� The objectives of Brookfield India REIT is to 
undertake activities in accordance with the 
provisions of the SEBI REIT Regulations and the Trust 
Deed. The principal activity of Brookfield India REIT is 
to own and invest in rent or income generating real 
estate and related assets in India with the objective 
of producing stable and sustainable distributions to 
Unitholders.	

	� Activities during the period ended  
31 March 2021:						    

	� Brookfield India REIT acquired the following SPVs by 
acquiring all the equity interest held by the Sponsor 
and certain members of Sponsor Group (refer note 
42) on 08 February 2021. In exchange for these 
equity interests, the above shareholders have been 
allotted 127,892,403 Units of Brookfield India REIT 
valued at ` 275/- each.						    

	� Brookfield India REIT went public as per its plan 
for Initial Public Offer of Units after obtaining the 
required approvals from the relevant authorities. The 
Units were allotted to the successful applicants on 
08 February 2021 and 11 February 2021.

	� All these Units were subsequently listed on the 
National Stock Exchange (NSE) and Bombay Stock 
Exchange (BSE) on 16 February 2021.

	 The brief activities and shareholding pattern of the SPVs are provided below:

Name of SPV Activities Shareholding up to  
07 February 2021 (in percentage)

Shareholding from  
08 February 2021 (in percentage)

SPPL Noida Developing and leasing of commercial 
real estate property in India, primarily 
in IT/ITeS sector in Sector 62, Noida, 
Uttar Pradesh.

BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 100%
BSREP Moon C1 L.P.: 0.00% (10 
Shares)

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 share) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

Candor Kolkata Developing and leasing of commercial 
real estate property in India, primarily 
in IT/ITeS Special Economic Zone 
(SEZ) in New Town, Rajarhat, Kolkata 
and Sector 21, Dundahera Gurugram

BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.: 99.97%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 0.03%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 share) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

CIOP Providing management related 
service including facilities 
management service and property 
management services.

BSREP Moon C1 L.P.: 99.99%
BSREP Moon C2 L.P. : 0.01%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited : 0.00% 
(1 share) (as nominee of Brookfield 
India REIT)

Festus Developing and leasing of commercial 
real estate property in India, primarily 
in IT/ITeS Special Economic Zone 
(SEZ) in Powai, Mumbai.

Kairos Property Managers Pvt. 
Ltd.:10.76%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II 
Pte. Ltd.:89.24%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 share) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)
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	 Activities during the previous year ended 31 March 2022:
	� Brookfield India REIT acquired the following Special Purpose Vehicle (‘SPV’) by acquiring all the equity interest held 

by certain members of Sponsor Group (refer note 42) on 24 January 2022. In exchange for these equity interests, 
the above shareholders have been paid cash of `8,334.57 million and allotted 15,463,616 Units of Brookfield India 
REIT valued at `294.25 each. These Units were subsequently listed on the National Stock Exchange (NSE) and 
Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) on 01 February 2022.

Name of SPV Activities Shareholding up to  
23 January 2022 (in percentage)

Shareholding from  
24 January 2022 (in percentage)

Seaview Developers 
Private Limited (‘SDPL 
Noida’)

Developing and leasing of 
commercial real estate property 
in India, primarily in IT/ITeS Special 
Economic Zone (SEZ) in Sector 
135, Noida, Uttar Pradesh.	

BSREP India Office Holding IV Pte. 
Ltd.: 99.96% 
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 0.04%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 share) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)
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2. 	� BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 	�Basis of preparation of Condensed 
Consolidated financial statements

	� The Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements of Brookfield India REIT comprises: 

	  	 the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, 

	  	� the Condensed Consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive 
income),

	  	���� the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows, 

	  	� the Condensed Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Unitholders’ Equity, 

	�  	� a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

	� Additionally, it includes the Statement of Net Assets 
at Fair Value, the Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value, the Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flow 
of Brookfield India REIT and each of the SPVs and 
other additional financial disclosures as required 
under the SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014. The Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements were authorized for issue in 
accordance with resolutions passed by the Board of 
Directors of the Manager on behalf of the Brookfield 
India REIT on 07 November 2022. The Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014, as amended from time to time read with 
the SEBI circular number CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 
dated 29 December 2016 (“REIT Regulations”) ; 
Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 34 “Interim 
Financial Reporting”, as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015 (‘Ind AS’) to the extent not inconsistent with the 
REIT Regulations (refer note 15(a)(i) on presentation 
of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” instead of compound 
instruments under Ind AS 32 – Financial Instruments: 
Presentation), read with relevant rules issued 
thereunder and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India.

	� Accordingly, these condensed consolidated financial 
statements do not include all the information 
required for a complete set of financial statements. 
These condensed consolidated financial statements 
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated 
financial statements and related notes included in 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
under IND AS for the year ended 31 March 2022. 
Accounting policies have been consistently applied 
except where a newly issued accounting standard 
is initially adopted or a revision to an existing 
accounting standard requires a change in the 
accounting policy hitherto in use.

	� The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
are presented in Indian Rupees in Millions, except 
when otherwise indicated

2.2 Significant accounting policies
a)	 Basis of Consolidation
	� The Brookfield India REIT consolidates entities which 

it owns or controls. The Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements comprise the financial 
statements of the Brookfield India REIT and its 
subsidiary SPVs as disclosed in Note 1. Control 
exists when the parent has power over the entity, 
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns by using its power over the 
entity. Power is demonstrated through existing 
rights that give the ability to direct relevant activities, 
those which significantly affect the entity’s returns. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control 
commences until the date control ceases. 

	� The procedure adopted for preparing Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements of Brookfield India 
REIT is stated below:

	 i) 	� The Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been prepared using the 
principles of consolidation as per Ind AS 110 - 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

	 ii)	� The financial statements of the Group are 
consolidated by combining/adding like items of 
assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 
cash flows.

	 iii)	� Intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between entities of Brookfield India REIT are 
eliminated in full.



Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

170

	 iv)	� The figures in the notes to accounts and 
disclosures have been Consolidated line by 
line and intragroup transactions and balances 
including unrealized profit are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.

b) 	 Functional and presentation currency
	� The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 

are presented in Indian rupees, which is Brookfield 
India REIT’s functional currency and the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which 
Brookfield India REIT operates. All financial 
information presented in Indian rupees has been 
rounded off to nearest million except unit and per 
unit data.

c) 	 Basis of measurement 
	� The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 

have been prepared on historical cost basis except 
for certain financial instruments measured at 
fair value at the end of each reporting period as 
explained in the accounting policies below.

	� The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

d) 	 Use of judgments and estimates 
	� The preparation of Condensed Consolidated 

Financial Statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles in India (Ind AS), to 
the extent not inconsistent with the REIT regulations, 
requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.

	� Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on a periodic basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.

	� Information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements is included in the 
following notes:

	 (i)	� presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” in 
accordance with the REIT Regulations instead of 
compound instrument (Note 15)

	 (ii)	� determination of useful life of investment 
property (Note 2.2 (g))

	 (iii)	� determination of recoverable amount / fair 
value of investment property (Note 2.2 (g), and 
Note 43), Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value, 
Statement of Total Return at Fair Value

	 (iv)	 determination of lease term (Note 2.2 (n))

	 (v)	� recognition / recoverability of deferred tax 
assets (Note 2.2 (p)) and Note 6

e) 	 Current versus non-current classification   
	� Brookfield India REIT presents assets and liabilities 

in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet based 
on current/ non-current classification:

	� An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any 
of the following criteria:

	  	� it is expected to be realized in, or is intended for 
sale or consumption in, the normal operating 
cycle;

	  	� it is held primarily for the purpose of being 
traded;

	  	� it is expected to be realized within 12 months 
after the reporting date; or

	  	� it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is 
restricted from being exchanged or used to 
settle a liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date. 

	� Brookfield India REIT classifies all other assets as 
non-current.

	� A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any 
of the following criteria:

	  	� it is expected to be settled in normal operating 
cycle of Brookfield India REIT;

	  	� it is held primarily for the purpose of being 
traded;

	  	� it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting date; or

	  	� the Brookfield India REIT does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
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liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option 
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by 
the issue of equity instruments do not affect its 
classification. 

	� Brookfield India REIT classifies all other liabilities as 
non-current.

	� Current assets/liabilities include current portion of 
non-current financial assets/ liabilities respectively. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as 
non-current assets and liabilities.  

f) 	 Fair value measurement 
	� Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, Brookfield India REIT takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability 
and how market participants would take those 
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. 

	� Inputs to fair value measurement techniques are 
disaggregated into three hierarchical levels, which 
are directly based on the degree to which inputs to 
fair value measurement techniques are observable 
by market participants: 

	  	� Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at 
the measurement date.

	  	� Level 2: Inputs (other than quoted prices 
included in Level 1) are either directly or 
indirectly observable for the asset or liability 
through correlation with market data at the 
measurement date and for the duration of the 
asset’s or liability’s anticipated life.   

	  	� Level 3: Inputs are unobservable and reflect 
management’s best estimate of what market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. Consideration 
is given to the risk inherent in the valuation 
technique and the risk inherent in the inputs in 
determining the estimate.

	� Fair value measurement framework is adopted by 
Brookfield India REIT to determine the fair value of 
various assets and liabilities measured or disclosed 
at fair value.   

g) 	 Investment properties 
	 Recognition and measurement
	� Investment property consists of commercial 

properties which are primarily held to earn rental 
income and commercial developments that are 
being constructed or developed for future use as 
commercial properties. The cost of commercial 
development properties includes direct development 
costs, import duties and other non-refundable 
purchase taxes, borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the development and any directly attributable 
cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for 
its intended use. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment property is measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,  
if any.

	� Equipment and furnishings physically attached and 
integral to a building are considered to be part of the 
investment property.

	 Subsequent expenditure and disposal
	� Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the 

investment property’s carrying amount only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Brookfield 
India REIT and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The cost of the assets not ready for its 
intended use before such date, are disclosed as 
investment property under development. All other 
repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when 
incurred. When part of an investment property is 
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognized. 

	� Any gain or loss from disposal of an investment 
property is recognized in Statement of profit  
and loss.

	 Depreciation
	� Investment property is depreciated using the 

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. 
The useful lives of the assets have been determined 
by management after considering nature of assets, 
the estimated usage of the assets, the operating 
conditions of the assets, past history of replacement 
and maintenance support.  
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	� The asset’s residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period.

	� The useful lives of the investment property are 
tabulated as below:

Particulars Useful Life (Years)

Buildings 60

Plant and Machinery 4 – 15 

Furniture and Fixtures 5 – 12

Electrical fittings 4 – 15

Diesel generator sets 15 – 25

Air conditioners 15 

Office Equipment 5 – 12

Kitchen Equipment 5

Computers 3 – 6

Right of Use (Leasehold Land) As per lease term

	� The fair value of investment property is disclosed in 
the statement of net assets at fair value. Fair values 
are determined by an independent registered valuer 
who holds a recognized and relevant professional 
qualification and has recent experience in the 
location and category of the investment property 
being valued.

h) 	� Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 

	 Recognition and measurement
	� Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost 

less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

	� Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
comprises the purchase price, including import 
duties and other non-refundable purchase taxes and 
any directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended use.

	� If significant parts of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different useful lives, then they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) 
of property, plant and equipment. Likewise, on initial 
recognition expenditure to be incurred towards 
major inspections and overhauls are required to be 
identified as a separate component and depreciated 
over the expected period till the next overhaul 
expenditure.

	 Subsequent expenditure and disposal
	� Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the 

property, plant and equipment’s carrying amount 
only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow 
to the Brookfield India REIT and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. 
When part of a property, plant and equipment is 
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognized. 

	� Any gain or loss from disposal of a property, plant 
and equipment is recognized in Statement of profit 
and loss.

	 Depreciation
	� Property, plant and equipment are depreciated 

using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives. The useful lives of the assets have been 
determined by management after considering nature 
of assets, the estimated usage of the assets, the 
operating conditions of the assets, past history of 
replacement and maintenance support.

	� The asset’s residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period.

	� Depreciation on additions (disposals) is provided 
on pro-rata basis i.e. from (up to) the date on which 
asset is ready for use (disposed off).

	� Leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
primary period of lease or the useful life of the asset, 
whichever is lower. 

	� Estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and 
equipment are tabulated as follows: 

Particulars Useful Life (Years)

Buildings 60

Plant and Machinery 5 – 20

Furniture and Fixtures 3 – 14

Electrical fittings 10

Air conditioners 3 – 15

Office Equipment 4 – 15

Kitchen Equipment 5

Vehicle 8

Computers 3 – 14

Computer Software 5



Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

173

	� Intangible assets comprise purchase of software. 
Intangible assets are carried at cost and amortized 
over a period of 5 years, which represents the period 
over which the Brookfield India REIT expects to 
derive economic benefits from the use of the assets.

	� The estimated useful life of the intangible assets and 
the amortization period are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period and the amortization period is 
revised to reflect the changed pattern, if any.

i) 	 Impairment of non-financial assets 
	� Brookfield India REIT assesses, at each reporting 

date, whether there is an indication that a non-
financial asset other than deferred tax assets 
may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, Brookfield India REIT estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment.

	� An impairment loss is recognized in the Condensed 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit (CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment loss recognized in respect of a CGU is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce 
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU 
on a pro rata basis. A CGU is the smallest identifiable 
asset group that generates cash flows that are largely 
independent from other assets and groups. 

	� Impairment losses are recognized in the Condensed 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, unless it 
reverses previous revaluation credited to equity, in 
which case it is charged to equity.

	� Goodwill (if any) arising from a business combination 
is allocated to CGUs or group of CGUs that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

	� An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. In estimating value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are taken into account. For the 

purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot 
be tested individually are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.

	� Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. 
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect 
of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect 
of other assets, such a reversal is made only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized.

j) 	 Foreign currency transactions 
	� Items included in the financial statements of the 

Brookfield India REIT are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the Brookfield India REIT operates (‘the 
functional currency’). The financial statements 
are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is the 
Brookfield India REIT functional and presentation 
currency.	

	� Foreign currency transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at reporting period end exchange rates 
are generally recognized in the Statement of profit 
and loss.	

k) 	� Errors, estimates and change in accounting 
policies

	� The Brookfield India REIT revises its accounting 
policies if the change is required due to a change in 
Ind AS or if the change will provide more relevant and 
reliable information to the users of the Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Changes in 
accounting policies are applied retrospectively, 
wherever applicable.

	� A change in an accounting estimate that results 
in changes in the carrying amounts of recognised 
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assets or liabilities or to profit or loss is applied 
prospectively in the period(s) of change. Discovery of 
errors results in revisions retrospectively by restating 
the comparative amounts of assets, liabilities and 
equity of the earliest prior period in which the error 
is discovered. The opening balances of the earliest 
period presented are also restated. 

l) 	 Financial instruments 
	� A financial instrument is any contract that gives 

rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.	

	 (i) 	 Financial Assets - Recognition	
		�  All financial assets are recognized initially at fair 

value (except for trade receivables which are 
initially measured at transaction price) plus, in 
the case of financial assets not recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. 	

	 	 Classification and subsequent measurement
		�  For purposes of subsequent measurement, 

financial assets are classified in four categories:

		  	 Debt instruments at amortized cost
		�  A ‘debt instrument’ is measured at the 

amortized cost if both the following conditions 
are met:

		  a) 	� The asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets for 
collecting contractual cash flows, and

		  b) 	� Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on 
the principal amount outstanding.	

		�  After initial measurement, such financial assets 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortization is included in interest 
income in the statement of profit and loss. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognized 
in the statement of profit and loss. 

		  	� Debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI)

		�  A ‘debt instrument’ is classified as at the FVOCI if 
both of the following criteria are met:

		  a) 	� The objective of the business model is 
achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial assets, 
and

		  b) 	� The asset’s contractual cash flows 
represent SPPI.

		�  Debt instruments included within the FVOCI 
category are measured initially as well as at 
each reporting date at fair value. Fair value 
movements are recognized in the other 
comprehensive income (OCI). However, interest 
income, impairment losses and reversals and 
foreign exchange gain or loss is recognized in 
statement of profit and loss. On derecognition 
of the asset, cumulative gains or losses 
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified 
from the equity to statement of profit and 
loss. Interest earned whilst holding FVOCI debt 
instrument is reported as interest income using 
the EIR method.

		  	 �Debt instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL)

		�  FVTPL is a residual category for debt 
instruments. Any debt instrument, which does 
not meet the criteria for categorization as at 
amortized cost or as FVOCI, is classified as  
at FVTPL.

	�	�  In addition, the Brookfield India REIT may elect 
to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise 
meets amortized cost or FVOCI criteria, as at 
FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if 
doing so reduces or eliminates a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 
‘accounting mismatch’). The Brookfield India REIT 
has not designated any debt instrument as  
at FVTPL.

		�  Debt instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in Statement of profit  
or loss.
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		  	� Equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

		�  All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 
are measured at fair value. Equity instruments 
which are held for trading are classified as at 
FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the 
Brookfield India REIT may make an irrevocable 
election to present in other comprehensive 
income subsequent changes in the fair value. 
The Brookfield India REIT makes such election 
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is 
irrevocable.

		�  If the Brookfield India REIT decides to classify an 
equity instrument as at FVOCI, then all fair value 
changes on the instrument, excluding dividends, 
are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling 
of the amounts from OCI to statement of profit 
and loss, even on sale of investment. However, 
the Brookfield India REIT may transfer the 
cumulative gain or loss within equity.

		�  Equity instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in Statement of profit  
and loss.	

	 (ii) 	 Financial Assets - Derecognition
		�  A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part 

of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized (i.e., removed 
from the Brookfield India REIT balance sheet) 
when:

		  	� The rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired, or

		  	� The Brookfield India REIT has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) 
the Brookfield India REIT has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset, or (b) the Brookfield India 
REIT has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of  
the asset.

	 (iii) 	 �Impairment of financial assets
		�  Brookfield India REIT recognizes loss allowance 

using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for 
the financial assets which are not fair valued 
through profit or loss. Loss allowance for 
trade receivables with no significant financing 
component and lease receivables is measured at 
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. For all financial 
assets with contractual cash flows other than 
trade receivable and lease receivables, ECLs are 
measured at an amount equal to the 12-month 
ECL, unless there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk from initial recognition in which 
case those are measured at lifetime ECL. The 
amount of ECLs (or reversal) that is required to 
adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date, 
is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in 
the Statement of profit and loss.	

		�  Trade Receivables are generally written off 
against the allowance only after all means 
of collection have been exhausted and the 
potential for recovery is considered remote.

	 (iv) 	� Financial liabilities – Recognition and Subsequent 
measurement

		�  Brookfield India REIT financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value less any 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial measurement, these are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
(‘EIR’) method or at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL). 

		�  Brookfield India REIT financial liabilities include 
trade and other payables, loans and borrowings 
including bank overdrafts. 

		�  The measurement of financial liabilities depends 
on their classification, as described below:

		  	 �Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss

		�  Financial liabilities at fair value through 
Statement of profit or loss include financial 
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through Statement of profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for 
trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
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repurchasing in the near term. This category 
also includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Brookfield India REIT that 
are not designated as hedging instruments 
in hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS 
109. Separated embedded derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments.

		�  Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognized in Statement of profit and loss.

		�  Financial liabilities designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through Statement of 
profit or loss are designated as such at the initial 
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind 
AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated 
as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable 
to changes in own credit risk are recognized in 
OCI. These gains or losses are not subsequently 
transferred to statement of profit and loss. 
However, the Brookfield India REIT may transfer 
the cumulative gains or losses within equity. All 
other changes in fair value of such liability are 
recognized in Statement of profit and loss. The 
Brookfield India REIT has not designated any 
financial liability as at fair value through  
profit or loss.

		  	 Financial liabilities at amortized cost
		�  Financial liabilities that are not held for trading, 

or designated as at FVTPL, are measured 
subsequently at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

		�  The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortized 
cost of a financial liability.

	 (v) 	 Financial liabilities - Derecognition
		�  A financial liability is derecognized when the 

obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 

liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as the derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference between the carrying amount of 
a financial liability that has been extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognized in the Statement of profit and loss as 
other gains/(losses).

	 (vi) 	 Income/loss recognition
		  	 Interest income
		�  Interest income from debt instruments is 

recognized using the effective interest rate 
method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset. While calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Brookfield India REIT estimates 
the expected cash flows by considering all the 
contractual terms of the financial instrument 
(for example, prepayment, extension, call and 
similar options) but does not consider the 
expected credit losses.

		  	 Borrowing costs
		�  Borrowing cost includes interest expense as 

per effective interest rate (EIR) and exchange 
differences arising from foreign currency 
borrowings to the extent they are regarded as 
an adjustment to the interest cost.	

		�  Borrowing costs associated with direct 
expenditures on properties under development 
or redevelopment or property, plant and 
equipment are capitalized. The amount of 
borrowing costs capitalized is determined first 
by borrowings specific to a property where 
relevant, and then by a weighted average cost 
of borrowings to eligible expenditures after 
adjusting for borrowings associated with other 
specific developments. Where borrowings 
are associated with specific developments, 
the amount capitalized is the gross borrowing 
costs incurred less any incidental investment 
income. Borrowing costs are capitalized from 
the commencement of the development until 
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the date of practical completion. The Brookfield 
India REIT considers practical completion to 
have occurred when the physical construction 
of property is completed and the property is 
substantially ready for its intended use and is 
capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Capitalization of borrowing costs 
is suspended and charged to the Statement 
of profit and loss during the extended periods 
when the active development on the qualifying 
assets is interrupted.

	 (vii) 	Embedded derivatives 
		�  Derivatives embedded in a host contract that 

is an asset within the scope of Ind AS 109 are 
not separated. Financial assets with embedded 
derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely 
payment of principal and interest.  

		�  Embedded derivatives closely related to the 
host contracts are not separated. Derivatives 
embedded in all other host contract are 
separated only if the economic characteristics 
and risks of the embedded derivative are not 
closely related to the economic characteristics 
and risks of the host and are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.

m) 	 Leases 
	� At inception of a contract, the Brookfield India 

REIT assesses whether a contract is, or contains, 
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the 
Brookfield India REIT assesses whether:

	 	� the contract involves the use of an identified 
asset – this may be specified explicitly or 
implicitly, and should be physically distinct or 
represent substantially all of the capacity of a 
physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a 
substantive substitution right, then the asset is 
not identified;

	 	� the Brookfield India REIT has the right to obtain 
substantially all of the economic benefits from 
use of the asset throughout the period of use; 
and

	 	� the Brookfield India REIT has the right to direct 
the use of the asset. The Brookfield India REIT 
has this right when it has the decision making 
rights that are most relevant to changing 
how and for what purpose the asset is used. 
In rare cases where the decision about how 
and for what purpose the asset is used is 
predetermined, the Brookfield India REIT has the 
right to direct the use of the asset if either:

		�  o	� the Brookfield India REIT has the right to 
operate the asset; or

		  o	� the Brookfield India REIT designed the 
asset in a way that predetermines how and 
for what purpose it will be used.

	 As a lessee
	� The Brookfield India REIT recognizes a right-of 

-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right of use asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any 
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentives received.

	� The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated 
using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of 
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-
of-use assets are determined on the same basis as 
those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, 
the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
re-measurements of the lease liability.

	� The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Brookfield India REIT’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Brookfield 
India REIT uses its incremental borrowing rate as the 
discount rate.
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	� Lease payments included in the measurement of the 
lease liability comprise the following:

	 	� fixed payments, including in-substance fixed 
payments;

	 	� variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date;

	 	� amounts expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee; and

	 	� the exercise price under a purchase option that 
the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably certain to 
exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal 
period if the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably 
certain to exercise an extension option, and 
penalties for early termination of a lease unless 
the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably certain 
not to terminate early.

	� The lease liability is measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments 
arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is 
a change in the Brookfield India REIT’s estimate of 
the amount expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee, or if the Brookfield India REIT 
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option.

	� When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

	� The Brookfield India REIT presents right-of-use 
assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and 
lease liabilities (current and non-current) in the 
statement of financial position.

	� The Brookfield India REIT has elected not to 
recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases of machinery that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value 
assets. The Brookfield India REIT recognizes the 
lease payments associated with these leases as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	 As a Lessor
	� The Brookfield India REIT enters into lease 

agreements as a lessor with respect to its investment 
properties.

	� Leases for which the Brookfield India REIT is 
a lessor are classified as finance or operating 
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance 
lease. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases.

	� When the Brookfield India REIT is an intermediate 
lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sub-
lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is 
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference 
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

	� Rental income from operating leases is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	� Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 
are recognized as receivables at the amount of the 
Brookfield India REIT’s net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Brookfield India REIT’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

	� When a contract includes both lease and non-lease 
components, the Brookfield India REIT applies Ind AS 
115 to allocate the consideration under the contract 
to each component.

n) 	 Revenue recognition
	� Revenues are measured based on the transaction 

price, which is the consideration, net of tax collected 
from customers and remitted to government 
authorities such as Goods and Services tax, and 
applicable service level credits, discounts or price 
concessions. The computation of these estimates 
involves significant judgment based on various 
factors including contractual terms, historical 
experience, expense incurred etc.
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	 i.	 Income from Operating Lease Rentals	
		�  Assets given under operating lease are included 

in investment property. Revenue recognition 
under a lease commences when the tenant 
has a right to use the leased asset. Generally, 
this occurs on the lease commencement 
date. Rental income from operating leases is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. In determining the 
lease term, management considers all facts and 
circumstances including renewal, termination 
and market conditions.

		�  Income from Operating Lease Rentals also 
includes percentage participating rents. 
Percentage participating rents are recognized 
when tenants’ specified sales targets have  
been met. 

	 ii.	 Income from maintenance services	
		�  Income from maintenance services consists 

of revenue earned from the provision of daily 
maintenance, security and administration 
services, and is charged to tenants based on 
the occupied lettable area of the properties. 
Income from maintenance services is recognized 
when the entity has satisfied its performance 
obligation by delivering services as per terms of 
contract entered into with tenants.

o) 	 Employee benefits 
	� Employee benefits include provident fund, gratuity 

and compensated absences.

	 Provident fund 
	� The Brookfield India REIT ‘s contribution to provident 

fund is considered as defined contribution plans and 
is charged as an expense in statement of profit and 
loss based on the amount of contribution required to 
be made as and when services are rendered by  
the employees.

	 Gratuity 
	� Brookfield India REIT has an obligation towards 

gratuity, a defined post-employment benefits plan 
covering eligible employees. The present value of 
the defined benefit liability and the related current 
service cost and past service cost are measured 
using projected unit credit method; with actuarial 
valuations being carried out at each balance 
sheet date. Remeasurements comprising actuarial 
gains and losses are recognized immediately in 

the balance sheet with a charge or credit to other 
comprehensive income in the period in which 
they occur. Remeasurements recognized in other 
comprehensive income are not reclassified. Past 
service cost is recognized in profit or loss when the 
plan amendment or curtailment occurs, or when the 
Brookfield India REIT recognizes related restructuring 
costs or termination benefits, whichever is earlier.

	 Short-term employee benefits
	� The undiscounted amount of short-term employee 

benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the 
services rendered by employees are recognized 
during the period when the employees render the 
service. These benefits include performance incentive 
and compensated absences which are expected to 
occur within twelve months after the end of the period 
in which the employee renders the related service. 

	� The cost of short-term compensated absences is 
accounted as under:

	 (a) 	� in case of accumulated compensated 
absences, when employees render the services 
that increase their entitlement of future 
compensated absences; and

	 (b) 	� in case of non-accumulating compensated 
absences, when the absences occur.

	 Other Long-term employee benefits
	� The employees of the Brookfield India REIT are 

entitled to other long term benefit by way of 
accumulating compensated absences. Cost of long-
term benefit by way of accumulating compensated 
absences arising during the tenure of the service 
is calculated taking into account the pattern of 
availment of leave. Compensated absences which 
are not expected to occur within twelve months after 
the end of the period in which the employee renders 
the related service are recognised as a liability at the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation based 
on actuarial valuations as at the balance sheet date 
by an independent actuary using the Projected Unit 
Credit method. Actuarial gains and losses relating to 
long-term employee benefits are recognised in the 
statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which 
they arise.

p) 	 Taxation 
	� Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 

tax. It is recognized in Statement of profit and 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
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recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income, in which case it is recognized in equity or in 
other comprehensive income.	

	 (i)	 Current tax
		�  Current tax comprises the expected tax payable 

or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year and any adjustment to the tax payable 
or receivable in respect of previous years. The 
amount of current tax reflects the best estimate 
of the tax amount expected to be paid or 
received after considering the uncertainty, if any, 
related to income taxes. It is measured using 
tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

		�  Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise 
the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or 
simultaneously.

		�  Minimum Alternative Tax (‘MAT’) under the 
provisions of the Income Tax, 1961 is recognised 
as current tax in the Condensed Consolidated 
Statement of profit and loss. The credit 
available under the Act in respect of MAT paid 
is recognised as a deferred tax asset only when 
and to the extent there is convincing evidence 
that the Brookfield India REIT will pay normal 
income tax during the period for which MAT 
credit can be carried forward for set-off against 
normal tax liability. MAT credit recognised as 
an asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and written down to the extent the aforesaid 
convincing evidence no longer exists.

	 (ii)	 Deferred tax	
		�  Deferred tax is recognised in respect of 

temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the corresponding 
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is also recognised in respect of carried 
forward tax losses and tax credits. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for:

		  	� Temporary differences arising on the 
initial recognition of assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the 
time of the transaction;

		  	� Temporary differences related to 
investments in subsidiaries, associates, 
and joint arrangements to the extent that 
the Brookfield India REIT is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

		  	� Taxable temporary differences arising on 
initial recognition of goodwill.

		�  Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be used. The existence of unused tax 
losses is strong evidence that future taxable 
profit may not be available. Therefore, in case 
of a history of recent losses, Brookfield India 
REIT recognises a deferred tax asset only to the 
extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary 
differences or there is convincing other evidence 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
against which such deferred tax asset can be 
realised. Deferred tax assets—unrecognised or 
recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are recognised/reduced to the extent that it 
is probable/no longer probable respectively that 
the related tax benefit will be realised. Further, 
no deferred tax asset/liabilities are recognized 
in respect of temporary differences that reverse 
within tax holiday period.

		�  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

		�  The measurement of deferred tax reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Brookfield India REIT 
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

		�  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 



Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

181

authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

q) 	 Provisions and contingencies 
	� A provision is recognized when the Brookfield 

India REIT has a present obligation as a result of 
past event and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, in respect of which 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.	

	� A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 
arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Brookfield India REIT or a present 
obligation that is not recognized because it is 
not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability 
also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a 
liability that cannot be recognized because it cannot 
be measured reliably. The Brookfield India REIT does 
not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its 
existence in the financial statements.	

	� Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized 
when the expected benefits to be derived by 
the Company from a contract are lower than the 
unavoidable costs of meeting the future obligations 
under the contract.

r) 	 Operating segments 
	� Operating segments are reported in a manner 

consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker.		

	 Identification of segments:	
	� In accordance with Ind AS 108- Operating Segment, 

the operating segments used to present segment 
information are identified on the basis of information 
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(‘CODM’) to allocate resources to the segments and 
assess their performance. An operating segment 
is a component of the Brookfield India REIT that 
engages in business activities from which it earns 
revenues and incurs expenses, including revenues 
and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 
the Brookfield India REIT’s other components. 

	� Based on an analysis of Brookfield India REIT’s 
structure and powers conferred to the Manager to 
Brookfield India REIT, the Governing Board of the 
Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private 
Limited) has been identified as the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker (‘CODM’), since they are empowered 
for all major decisions w.r.t. the management, 
administration, investment, disinvestment, etc.

	� As the Brookfield India REIT is primarily engaged 
in the business of developing and maintaining 
commercial real estate properties in India, CODM 
reviews the entire business as a single operating 
segment and accordingly disclosure requirements 
of Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments” in respect of 
reportable segments are not applicable. 

s) 	 Subsequent events 
	� The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 

are prepared after reflecting adjusting and non-
adjusting events that occur after the reporting period 
but before the Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements are authorized for issue.

t) 	 Cash and cash equivalents 
	� Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank 

and on hand and short-term money market deposits 
with original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

u) 	 Earnings per unit 
	� Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net 

profit / (loss) for the period attributable to unit holders 
of the Brookfield India REIT by the weighted average 
number of units outstanding during the period.

	� For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
unit, the profit or loss for the period attributable to unit 
holders of the Brookfield India REIT and the weighted 
average number of units outstanding during the period 
are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units.

	� Dilutive potential units are deemed converted as of the 
beginning of the reporting date, unless they have been 
issued at a later date. In computing diluted earnings 
per unit, only potential equity units that are dilutive and 
which either reduces earnings per unit or increase loss 
per units are included.
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v) 	 Business Combination/Asset Acquisition
	� The amendment to Ind AS 103 Business 

Combinations clarifies that while businesses usually 
have outputs, outputs are not required for an 
integrated set of activities and assets to qualify 
as a business. To be considered a business an 
acquired set of activities and assets must include, 
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process 
that together significantly contribute to the ability to 
create outputs. 

	� The amendments remove the assessment of 
whether market participants are capable of replacing 
any missing inputs or processes and continuing to 
produce outputs. The amendments also introduce 
additional guidance that helps to determine whether 
a substantive process has been acquired.

	� The amendments introduce an optional 
concentration test that permits a simplified 
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities 
and assets is not a business. Under the optional 
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and 
assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair 
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in 
a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets.

	� Brookfield India REIT has opted to apply optional 
concentration test in respect of acquisition of SPVs. 
Refer Note 44 of the financial statements for details.

w) 	� Condensed Consolidated Statement of  
Cash flows

	� Condensed Consolidated Cash flows are reported 
using the indirect method, whereby Profit/ (loss) 
before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions 

of a non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals 
of past or future cash receipts or payments. The 
cash flows from operating, investing and financing 
activities of the Group are segregated. For the 
purpose of the Condensed Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and short-term deposits.

x)	 Offsetting 
	� Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount presented in the Condensed 
Consolidated Balance Sheet when, and only when, 
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right 
to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle 
them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

y) 	 Cash distribution to Unitholders
	� The Brookfield India REIT recognizes a liability to 

make cash distributions to Unitholders when the 
distribution is authorized and a legal obligation 
has been created. As per the REIT Regulations, a 
distribution is authorized when it is approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Manager. A corresponding 
amount is recognized directly in equity.

z)	 Income support	
	� The income support that is an integral part of an 

acquisition transaction is treated as deduction in the 
acquisition cost of such investment property. Where 
the right to receive the income support is spread 
over a period of time, the right to receive the income 
support is recognized as a financial asset at fair value 
and subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.
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5. 	  NON CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - OTHER 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 (Unsecured and considered good) 
 Security deposits  555.27  589.77 
 Fixed deposits with banks*  2.32  2.23 
 Interest accrued but not due on fixed deposits with banks  0.04  0.04 
 Lease rent equalization**  222.39  166.50 
 To related parties (refer note 42) 
 Finance receivables #  184.22  678.79 

 964.24  1,437.33 

	 *These fixed deposits are of restricted use being lien against state authority.
	� **Lease rent equalization are classified as Financial assets as right to consideration is unconditional and is due only after passage 

of time.
	� # Finance receivables represents income support guarantee received from a related party in respect of tenancy level of 

Investment properties of SDPL Noida in connection with its acquisition by Brookfield India REIT (refer note 44 (ii)), where the right 
to receive the income support is spread over a period of time starting from 01 January 2022 and ending on 31 March 2024. The 
income support guarantee is recognized as a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss.

6.	  DEFERRED TAX ASSET (NET)

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Deferred tax asset (net) 3,620.88  3,755.46 
3,620.88  3,755.46 

	� The Group has recognized deferred tax asset of `3,230.01 million (31 March 2022: `2,921.36 million) on unabsorbed 
depreciation & business losses and `1,253.92 million (31 March 2022: `1,253.92 million) on MAT credit entitlement, 
considering the deferred tax liability on existing taxable temporary differences in respective SPVs that will reverse in 
the future and estimated taxable income for future years. The amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable, 
however, could reduce in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carry-forward period are 
reduced.

7.	 NON-CURRENT TAX ASSETS (NET) 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Advance income tax  2,333.63  2,416.27 
 2,333.63  2,416.27 

8.	 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 (Unsecured and considered good) 
 Capital advances  8.55  19.27 
 Prepaid expenses  113.97  142.16 
 Balance recoverable from government authorities   14.46  14.11 

 136.98  175.54 

9.	 CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - TRADE RECEIVABLES 	

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Trade receivables considered good - unsecured  313.07  224.88 
Trade receivables - credit impaired  26.84  68.26 
Less: loss allowance  (26.84)  (68.26)

 313.07  224.88 
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10.	 CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Balance with banks : 
  - in current account  128.90  193.65 
  - in deposit account (with original maturity of 3 months or less)  2,168.00  1,850.00 

 2,296.90  2,043.65 

11.	 OTHER BANK BALANCES

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Deposit account with original maturity of more than 3 months and  upto 12 months*  500.03  506.49 
 500.03  506.49 

* These fixed deposits are of restricted use being lien against debt service reserve account, bank guarantees given to various 
authorities and given as security for sales tax registration.

12.	 CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - LOANS
As at 

30 September 2022 
As at 

31 March 2022 
To parties other than related parties
(Unsecured and considered doubtful)
Advances to vendors  0.36  0.36 
Less: loss allowance  (0.36)  (0.36)

 -    -   
 Loans receivables - credit impaired  0.36  0.36 
 Less: loss allowance  (0.36)  (0.36)

 -    -   

13.	 CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - OTHER

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

(Unsecured and considered good)
To parties other than related parties
Security deposits  0.01  0.01 
Unbilled revenue*  262.69  159.01 
Interest accrued but not due on fixed deposits with banks  0.90  14.37 
Lease rent equalization*  118.85  51.18 
Other receivables  415.85  47.39 
To related parties (refer note 42)
Other receivables  0.02  0.01 
Finance receivables #  681.22  483.34 

 1,479.54  755.31 

	 *Classified as financial assets as right to consideration is unconditional and is due only after passage of time.

	� # Finance receivables represents income support guarantee received from a related party in respect of tenancy level of 
Investment properties of SDPL Noida in connection with its acquisition by Brookfield India REIT (refer note 44 (ii)), where the right 
to receive the income support is spread over a period of time starting from 01 January 2022 and ending on 31 March 2024. The 
income support guarantee is recognized as a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss.
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14.	  OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 (Unsecured and considered good) 
 Advances to vendors*  43.26  33.01 
 Prepaid expenses*  191.04  54.29 
 Balance recoverable from government authorities  140.65  135.16 
 Other Advances  0.75  0.12 

 375.70  222.58 

	 * For related parties balance, refer note 42 

15. 	 UNIT CAPITAL

Particulars  No. of Units  Amount 

 As at 01 April 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2021  -    (297.05)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 September 2021  -    (605.60)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 December 2021  -    (481.45)
Add: Reversal of issue expenses no longer payable (refer note iv below)  -    25.55 
Add: Units issued on preferential basis during the year
 - �pursuant to the preferential allotment, issued, subscribed and fully paid-up in cash 

(refer note ii below) 
 16,821,856  4,949.83 

 - in exchange for equity interest in SPVs (refer note iii below)  15,463,616  4,550.17 
Less: Expense incurred towards preferential allotment (refer note iv below)  -    (48.92)
 Closing balance as at 31 March 2022  335,087,073  89,867.31 
 As at 01 April 2022  335,087,073  89,867.31 
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 31 March 2022  -    (720.44)
 Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended 30 June 2022  -    (857.82)
 Closing balance as at 30 September 2022  335,087,073  88,289.05 

	 (a) 	 Terms/rights attached to Units and accounting thereof
			  (i)	� The Trust has only one class of Units. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial interest in the Trust. 

Each holder of Unit is entitled to one vote per unit. The Unitholders have the right to receive at least 90% 
of the Net Distributable Cash Flows of the Trust at least once in every six months in each financial year 
in accordance with the REIT Regulations. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager approves 
distributions. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of Units held by the Unitholders. The 
Trust declares and pays distributions in Indian Rupees. 

				�   Under the provisions of the REIT Regulations, Brookfield India REIT is required to distribute to Unitholders 
not less than 90% of the Net Distributable Cash Flows of Brookfield India REIT for each financial year. 
Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Brookfield India REIT 
to pay to its Unitholders cash distributions. Hence, the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument 
which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars (No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated 29 December 
2016 and No. CIR/IMD/DF/141/2016 dated 26 December 2016) issued under the REIT Regulations, the Unit 
Capital has been presented as “Equity” in order to comply with the requirements of Section H of Annexure 
A to the SEBI Circular dated 26 December 2016 dealing with the minimum presentation and disclosure 
requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Capital being classified as equity, the 
distributions to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity when the 
distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.
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			  (ii)	� Initial Public Offering of 138,181,800 Units for cash at price of `275 per Unit aggregating to `38,000.00 
million. Refer note 47 for utilization of IPO proceeds. Further preferential allotment of 16,821,856 Units 
for cash at price of `294.25 per unit aggregating to `4,949.83 was made during the year ended 31 March 
2022. The preferential allotment was mainly used to fund the SDPL Noida acquisition, as more fully 
described in Note 44 (ii) (asset acquisition note).							     

		  (iii) 	� Brookfield India REIT acquired the SPVs by acquiring all the equity interest held by our Sponsor and 
certain members of our Sponsor Group. The acquisition of equity interest in the SPVs has been done by 
issue of 127,892,403 Units of `275 each and 15,463,616 Units of `294.25 each during the period ended 31 
March 2021 and year ended 31 March 2022 respectively, as per the table below.

Name of SPV 

 Number of Units allotted for acquiring all the equity 
interest held in the SPVs 

Sponsor Sponsor Group 
(excluding Sponsor) Total 

During the period ended 31 March 2021:
Candor Kolkata  54,117,888  16,364  54,134,252 
Festus  -    31,474,412  31,474,412 
SPPL Noida  -    41,483,012  41,483,012 
CIOP  -    800,727  800,727 
During the previous year ended 31 March 2022:
SDPL Noida (refer note 1: Organizational structure)  -    15,463,616  15,463,616 
Total number of Units issued  54,117,888  89,238,131  143,356,019 

	 (iv) 	 Expenses incurred pertaining to the Initial Public Offering (IPO), preferential allotment and listing of 
the Units on the National Stock Exchange and Bombay Stock Exchange have been reduced from the 
Unitholders capital in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation.

(b) 	  Unitholders holding more than 5 percent Units in the Trust

Name of Unitholders 
 As at 30 September 2022  As at 31 March 2022 

 No. of Units  % of holdings  No. of Units  % of holdings 
BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  54,117,888 16.15%  54,117,888 16.15%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  41,499,453 12.38%  41,499,373 12.38%
BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  36,727,398 10.96%  36,727,398 10.96%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  31,474,412 9.39%  28,086,775 8.38%

	 (c)  	� The Trust has not allotted any fully paid-up units by way of bonus units nor has it bought back any class of 
units from the date of registration till the balance sheet date. Further, the Trust has not issued any units for 
consideration other than cash from the date of registration till the balance sheet date, except as disclosed 
above.

(d) 	  Unitholding of sponsor group

Name of Unitholders 

 As at 30 September 2022  As at 31 March 2022  % Change 
during the half 

year ended 
30 September 

2022 
 No. of Units  % of holdings  No. of Units  % of holdings 

BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  54,117,888 16.15%  54,117,888 16.15% 0.00%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  41,499,453 12.38%  41,499,373 12.38% 0.00%
BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  36,727,398 10.96%  36,727,398 10.96% 0.00%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  31,474,412 9.39%  28,086,775 8.38% 1.01%
Kairos Property Managers Private Limited  -    -    3,387,637 1.01% -1.01%
BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  -    -    800,650 0.24% -0.24%
BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  -    -    80 0.00% -0.00%
BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. Ltd.  15,463,616 4.61%  15,463,616 4.61% 0.00%
BSREP India Office Holdings VI Pte. Ltd.  800,650 0.24%  -    -   0.24%
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16. 	OTHER EQUITY*   

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Reserves and Surplus 
Retained earnings (2,145.12)  (1,046.38)

(2,145.12)  (1,046.38)

	  *Refer Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for detailed movement in other equity balances.

	 Retained earnings
	� The cumulative gain or loss arising from the operations which is retained by the Brookfield India REIT is recognized 

and accumulated under the heading of retained earnings. At the end of the period, the profit/(loss) after tax is 
transferred from the Statement of Profit and Loss to the retained earnings account.

17. 	NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Secured  
Term loan from financial institutions  53,181.76  51,655.34 
Less:- Current maturities of long term borrowings (refer note 21)  (615.30)  (661.81)
Total Borrowings  52,566.46  50,993.53 

18. 	NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - OTHERS

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Security deposit from lessee  1,771.50  1,244.85 
Retention money  66.70  84.45 

 1,838.20  1,329.30 

19.	 PROVISIONS 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Provision for gratuity  18.28  18.91 
 18.28  18.91 

20.	 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 Deferred income  274.06  290.00 
 Contract liability*  508.47  355.93 

 782.53  645.93 

	� *Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited entered into a Joint Development Agreement with Gurgaon Infospace 
Limited (GIL) by which GIL will pay `1,000 million in various tranches commencing January 2021 to October 2023 for the 
development/construction of building used for commercial and retail purposes on certain land parcels, the title of which is held 
by Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited. Under the said agreement, Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited is entitled to 72% of the gross sale receipts and deposits from the tenants arising out of the lease of the 
developed areas and GIL is entitled to receive balance 28%. The amount received as at 30 September 2022 of `600.00 million 
including Goods and Service Tax (31 March 2022 of `420.00 million) has been presented as contract liability excluding Goods and 
Service Tax.							     
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21.	 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Current maturities of long-term borrowings
Secured
Term loan from financial institutions  615.30  661.81 

 615.30  661.81 

22.	 CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - TRADE PAYABLES

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  0.76  17.34 
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises*  673.93  620.17 

 674.69  637.51 

	 *For balance payable to related parties, refer note 42

23.	 CURRENT - OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

 Security deposit from lessee  3,277.00  3,401.53 
 Retention money  159.45  132.89 
 Capital creditors  546.25  394.94 
 Employee related payables  32.74  10.93 
 Other payables  183.32  120.97 

 4,198.76  4,061.26 

24. 	PROVISIONS

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Provision for gratuity  2.33  0.18 
Provision for compensated absences  7.69  7.14 

 10.02  7.32 

25. 	OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Statutory dues payable  154.99  151.29 
Deferred income  203.86  161.38 
Other payables*  19.90  -   

 378.75  312.67 

	 *For balance payable to related parties, refer note 42

26. 	CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES (NET) 

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Provision for income tax  121.71  120.64 
 121.71  120.64 
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27.	 REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Sale of services

Income from operating lease 
rentals *

 2,056.49  2,034.13  1,561.40  4,090.62  3,298.52  3,177.50  6,476.02 

Income from maintenance 
services

 963.34  866.32  550.31  1,829.66  1,149.75  1,113.57  2,263.32 

 3,019.83  2,900.45  2,111.71  5,920.28  4,448.27  4,291.07  8,739.34 
Sale of products 

Sale of food and beverages  14.34  8.84  5.03  23.18  10.75  16.19  26.94 

Others  1.85  1.11  0.34  2.96  1.00  0.63  1.63 
Total revenue from operations  3,036.02  2,910.40  2,117.08  5,946.42  4,460.02  4,307.89  8,767.91 

	 * Assets given on operating lease

28.	 OTHER INCOME

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Interest income from financial 
assets at amortized cost

Interest income on fixed deposits 
with banks

 23.75  20.24  20.27  43.99  35.07  35.98  71.05 

Interest income on security 
deposit

 9.55  14.09  6.26  23.64  9.19  19.19  28.38 

Others 

Income from scrap sale  2.01  8.90  0.95  10.91  3.03  3.77  6.80 

Interest on income tax refund 3.72  28.95  0.77 32.67  29.36  4.85  34.21 

Liabilities/provisions no longer 
required written back

 4.82  1.20  0.34  6.02  1.10  0.74  1.84 

Fair value gain on income support  36.19  23.90  -    60.09  31.58  -    31.58 
Miscellaneous income 0.36  0.01  2.34 0.37  48.03  2.34  50.37 

  80.40  97.29  30.93  177.69  157.36  66.87  224.23 

29.	 COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Opening stock  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Add: purchases during the period  9.71  6.05  4.44  15.76  9.58  13.11  22.69 

Add: Others  1.61  0.98  0.28  2.59  0.84  0.49  1.33 

Less: Closing stock  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
 11.32  7.03  4.72  18.35  10.42  13.60  24.02 
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30.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Salaries, wages and bonus  71.71  78.77  48.39  150.48  83.75  95.95  179.70 

Contributions to provident fund  4.10  3.75  2.41  7.85  5.62  4.82  10.44 

Gratuity expense  2.86  1.17  1.16  4.03  2.89  2.27  5.16 

Compensated absences  1.33  0.36  0.50  1.69  1.05  0.50  1.55 
 80.00  84.05  52.46  164.05  93.31  103.54  196.85 

31.	 FINANCE COSTS

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Interest and finance charges on 
financial liabilities at amortized 
cost

Interest on term loan  1,023.77  902.37  387.16  1,926.14  1,162.72  767.42  1,930.14 

Interest on lease liability  7.22  7.14  2.77  14.36  8.73  5.52  14.25 
Others 

Other borrowing costs  59.30  64.56  41.44  123.86  83.64  82.79  166.43 
 1,090.29  974.07  431.37  2,064.36  1,255.09  855.73  2,110.82 

Less: Transferred to investment 
property under development 

 (8.21)  (15.46)  (5.90)  (23.67)  (19.01)  (11.12)  (30.13)

 1,082.08  958.61  425.47  2,040.69  1,236.08  844.61  2,080.69 

32. 	DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSES

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

- on property plant and 
equipment and intangible assets

 5.25  5.03  4.53  10.28  7.77  8.85  16.62 

- on investment property 632.32  685.95  466.60 1,318.27  1,149.72  918.43  2,068.15 
637.57  690.98  471.13 1,328.55  1,157.49  927.28  2,084.77 
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33. 	OTHER EXPENSES 

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Property management fees  120.30  114.84  81.84  235.14  188.66  163.54  352.20 
Power and fuel  357.55  275.28  184.27  632.83  326.39  364.52  690.91 
Repair and maintenance  229.01  242.18  153.24  471.19  391.27  316.92  708.19 
Insurance  12.75  11.42  8.11  24.17  18.17  16.19  34.36 
Legal and professional expense  55.27  49.97  37.01  105.24  96.43  81.15  177.58 
Audit fees (refer note"a" below)  6.60  6.47  4.54  13.07  12.35  10.17  22.52 
Rates and taxes  20.86  33.81  26.39  54.67  58.24  46.18  104.42 
Facility usage fees  7.50  7.49  7.25  14.99  14.98  16.61  31.59 
Rental towards short term leases  3.20  3.06  2.49  6.26  5.64  4.59  10.23 
Credit Impaired  8.84  0.58  5.11  9.42  2.95  7.82  10.77 
Allowance for expected credit loss  2.43  6.23  0.25  8.66  9.83  0.25  10.08 
Corporate social responsibility 
expenses

 1.64  0.63  1.78  2.27  2.80  2.81  5.61 

Donation  -    -    -    -    -    20.00  20.00 
Miscellaneous expenses  28.72  34.39  19.95 63.11  50.54  39.06  89.60 

 854.67  786.35  532.23  1,641.02  1,178.25  1,089.81  2,268.06 

a)	 Details of remuneration to auditors

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

As auditor (on accrual basis, 
excluding applicable taxes) 
- for statutory audit  6.57  5.11  4.54  11.68  11.49  10.08  21.57 
- for other services  0.03  0.18  -    0.21  0.19  -    0.19 
- for reimbursement of expenses  -    1.18  -    1.18  0.67  0.09  0.76 

 6.60  6.47  4.54  13.07  12.35  10.17  22.52 

34. 	TAX EXPENSE

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the  
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Current tax
-  for current period  9.92  11.87  7.41  21.79  19.90  8.06  27.96 
-  for earlier years  -    (11.38)  -    (11.38)  (3.81)  -    (3.81)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) 148.35  (13.98)  (56.88) 134.37  (160.38)  (84.62)  (245.01)

158.27  (13.49)  (49.47) 144.78  (144.29)  (76.56)  (220.86)

	� Brookfield India REIT is a business trust registered under SEBI REIT Regulations, 2014. Hence, the interest and 
dividend received or receivable by Brookfield India REIT from the SPVs is exempt from tax under section 10(23FC) of 
the Income Tax Act, 1961 (Act). Further, any expenditure incurred in relation to earning the exempt income is not tax 
deductible in view of the provisions of section 14A of the Act. 

	� The income of Brookfield India REIT, other than exempt income mentioned above, is chargeable to tax at the 
maximum marginal rates in force (for the quarter ended 30 June 2022 : 42.744%; for the quarter and year ended 
31 March 2022: 42.744%), except for the income chargeable to tax on transfer of short term capital assets under 
section 111A of the Act and long term capital assets under section 112 of the Act.

	� SPVs are the Indian companies incorporated under the Companies Act. The total income of the SPVs is chargeable 
to tax in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 					   



Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

196

35.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Claims against the SPVs not acknowledged as debt in respect of Income-Tax matters 
(Refer note 1 below)

 1,158.86  1,158.86 

Claims against the SPVs not acknowledged as debt in respect of Indirect tax {VAT/Work 
contract/Entry tax} (Refer note 2 below)

 7.52  12.43 

Grand Total  1,166.38  1,171.29 

	 Note 1
As at 

30 September 2022 
As at 

31 March 2022 

Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  807.04  807.04 
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  15.30  15.30 
Seaview Developers Private Limited  336.52  336.52 
Total  1,158.86  1,158.86 

	� Contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2022 includes penalty amounting to `552.23 million (31 March 2022 
`552.23 million)  in relation to disallowance of settlement fees paid in earlier years for termination of contract. Other 
contingencies include `606.63 million (31 March 2022 : `606.63 million) relating to other disallowances under the 
Income Tax Act, 1961.

	 The tax officer has set-off certain tax refund claimed in Income tax returns against these demands.

	 Note 2
As at 

30 September 2022 
As at 

31 March 2022 

Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited *  2.67  2.67 
Seaview Developers Private Limited  4.85  9.76 
Total  7.52  12.43 

	� * The Company has given a bank guarantee of `1.00 million (31 March 2022: `1.00 million) to Member Secretary UP Pollution 
Control Board.

36.	 COMMITMENTS

As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Capital commitments (net of advances)  630.47  902.92 
The SPV wise details of capital commitments are as follows:
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  249.98  199.37 
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  60.03  135.80 
Festus Properties Private Limited  8.32  161.48 
Seaview Developers Private Limited  312.14  406.27 

 630.47  902.92 

	 Other commitments		
	 Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited (formerly known as “Candor Gurgaon Two Developers & 

Projects Private Limited”; now amalgamated in Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited w.e.f. 01 April 
2017) has an agreement with Gurgaon Infospace Limited (GIL). The title to the land is held by Gurgaon Infospace 
Limited, a third party and is not affiliated to the Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited. Candor 
Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited has developmental rights with respect to the property pursuant to a 
Joint Development Agreement ( JDA) with GIL entered on 16 November 2006 as amended from time to time. Under 
the said agreement Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited is entitled to 72% of the gross sale 
receipts and deposits from the tenants arising out of the lease of the developed areas and GIL is entitled to receive 
balance 28%.		
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	 In supplement to earlier JDA, a new co-development agreement was entered into between GIL (the developer) and 
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited (the co-developer) on 17 September 2007 as amended from 
time to time under which the developer and co-developer will jointly carry out the process of installation of fit-outs 
& fixtures and the cost of such installation shall be shared by the developer and co-developer in the same ratio as 
to sharing of gross proceeds i.e. 28% and 72% respectively. This agreement is accounted as joint operations as per 
Ind AS 111.		

37.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT
	 i) 	 Financial instruments by category and fair value
			�  The below table summarizes the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial 

instruments that are measured at amortized cost and for which fair values are disclosed in the financial 
statements. There are no financial instruments, which are subsequently measured at fair value.

Carrying value Fair value
As at 

30 September 
2022 

As at 
31 March 2022

As at 
30 September 

2022

As at 
31 March 2022

At Amortized Cost
Financial assets 
Trade receivables #  313.07  224.88  313.07  224.88 
Cash and cash equivalents #  2,296.90  2,043.65  2,296.90  2,043.65 
Other bank balances #  500.03  506.49  500.03  506.49 
Other financial assets #  1,578.34  1,030.52  1,578.34  1,030.52 
At FVTPL
Financial Assets
Other financial Assets^  865.44  1,162.13  865.44  1,162.13 
Total financial assets  5,553.78  4,967.67  5,553.78  4,967.67 
At Amortized Cost
Financial liabilities 
Borrowings #  53,181.76  51,655.34  53,181.76  51,655.34 
Trade payables #  674.69  637.51  674.69  637.51 
Other financial liabilities #  6,036.96  5,390.56  6,036.96  5,390.56 
Total financial liabilities  59,893.41  57,683.41  59,893.41  57,683.41 

		�  # fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities which are recognized at amortized cost has been disclosed to be same 
as carrying value as the carrying value approximately equals to their fair value.

		�    Fair value of Receivable for income support is determined on the basis of present value of expected future cash flows. 
These are classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs. The key input for 
determining the same is discount rate.

	 ii)	 Measurement of fair values
		  The different levels of fair value have been defined below:

		�  Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices for instance listed 
equity instruments, traded bonds and mutual funds that have quoted price.

		�  Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, traded 
bonds, over-the counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use of 
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs 
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

		�  Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in level 3.

		�  There have been no valuation under Level 1 and Level 2. There has been no transfers into or out of Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy for the quarter/ half year ended 30 September 2022 and year ended 31 March 2022.
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	� The Brookfield India REIT policy is to recognize transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the 
end of the reporting period.		

	 iii)	 Details of significant unobservable inputs

Significant unobservable inputs Inter-relationship between significant unobservable inputs 
and fair value

Financial assets measured at fair value (Receivable for income support)
Discount rate (30 September 2022- 11.75% ; 31 March 2022- 
11.50% and 12.75%)

The estimated fair value would decrease (increase) if 
discount rate is higher (lower)

	 iv)	 Sensitivity analysis of Level 3 fair values				  
		�  For the fair value of receivable for income support, reasonably possible changes at the reporting date due to 

one of the significant unobservable inputs, holding other inputs constant, would have following effects:		
		

30 September 2022
Profit/ (Loss)

Increase Decrease

Discount rate (1% movement)  3.85  (3.85)

		

31 March 2022
Profit/ (Loss)

Increase Decrease

Discount rate (1% movement)  8.06  (8.06)

	 v)	 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values				 
Fair Value relating to receivable for income support Amount
Balance as at 24 January 2022  1,358.69 
Income support received  (228.14)
Net change in fair value - unrealized (refer note 28)  31.58 
Balance as at 31 March 2022  1,162.13 
Balance as at 1 April 2022  1,162.13 
Income support received  (356.78)
Net change in fair value - unrealized (refer note 28)  60.09 
Balance as at 30 September 2022  865.44 

38.	 SEGMENT REPORTING

	 a)	� Ind AS 108 establishes requirements to identify the operating segment and related disclosures, basis how 
the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODM’) evaluates the performance and allocates resources to different 
segments. Based on an analysis of Brookfield India REIT structure and powers conferred to the Manager 
to REIT, the Governing Board of the Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private Limited) has been 
identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODM’), since they are empowered for all major decisions 
w.r.t. the management, administration, investment, disinvestment, etc.

		�  As the Group is primarily engaged in the business of developing and maintaining commercial real estate 
properties in India, CODM reviews the entire business as a single operating segment and accordingly 
disclosure requirements of Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments” in respect of reportable segments are not 
applicable.

	 b)	� Customer A represented 13.12%, 13.68%, 14.27%, 18.43%, 18.19% and 17.97% of revenues for the quarter, half 
year ending 30 September 2022, quarter ending 30 June 2022, quarter, half year ending 30 September 2021 
and year ending 31 March 2022 respectively , Customer B represented 14.54%, 14.35%, 14.15%, 15.39%, 15.76% 
and 15.70% of revenues for the quarter, half year ending 30 September 2022, quarter ending 30 June 2022, 
quarter, half year ending 30 September 2021 and year ending 31 March 2022 respectively and Customer C 
represented 10.65%, 10.67%, 10.69%, 11.50%, 11.41% and 11.50% of revenues for the quarter, half year ending 
30 September 2022, quarter ending 30 June 2022, quarter, half year ending 30 September 2021 and year 
ending 31 March 2022 respectively.
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40.	 EARNINGS PER UNIT (EPU)

	 Basic EPU amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the quarter / period attributable to Unitholders by the 
weighted average number of units outstanding during the  quarter / year. Diluted EPU amounts are calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to Unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during quarter / 
year plus the weighted average number of units that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential units 
into unit capital. The Units of the Trust were allotted on 08 February 2021, 11 February 2021 and 24 January 2022.

Particulars

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022

For the q 
uarter ended  
30 June 2022 

For the  
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Profit after tax for calculating 
basic and diluted EPU

267.12  471.43  682.82 738.55  1,041.69  1,421.16  2,462.85 

Weighted average number of 
Units (Nos.)

 335,087,073  335,087,073  302,801,601  335,087,073  315,333,907  302,801,601  309,050,586 

Earnings Per Unit

- Basic (Rupees/unit)	 0.80  1.41  2.25 2.20  3.30  4.69  7.97 

- Diluted (Rupees/unit)* 0.80  1.41  2.25 2.20  3.30  4.69  7.97 

	 *The Trust does not have any outstanding dilutive units.

41.	 CAPITALIZATION STATEMENT					   

	� The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The Group’s capital structure mainly constitutes equity 
in the form of unit capital and debt. The projects of SPVs are initially funded through construction financing 
arrangements. On completion, these loans are restructured into lease-rental discounting arrangements or 
debentures. The Group’s capital structure is influenced by the changes in regulatory framework, government 
policies, available options of financing and the impact of the same on the liquidity position.

	� The Group monitors Capital using ratio of ‘Net debt’ to ‘Gross asset value (GAV) of all SPVs. For this purpose, Net 
debt is defined as Long-term borrowings + Short-term borrowings + current maturities of long-term borrowings. 
The Group’s adjusted Net debt to GAV ratio as at 30 September 2022 and 31 March 2022 are as follows:

Particulars As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Borrowings  53,181.76  51,655.35 
Lease Liability  825.92  248.17 
Gross debt  54,007.68  51,903.52 
Less : Cash and cash equivalents  (2,296.90)  (2,043.65)
Adjusted Net debt  51,710.78  49,859.87 

Unitholders’ Funds
-Unit capital  88,289.05  89,867.31 
-Other equity (2,145.12)  (1,046.38)
Total Shareholder's funds 86,143.93  88,820.93 
Debt/Equity Ratio  0.60  0.56 
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42.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

	 A.	 Related parties to Brookfield India REIT as at September 30, 2022
		  BBSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd- Sponsor		
		  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited - Investment Manager		
		  Axis Trustee Services Limited—Trustee

		�  The Ultimate parent entity, sponsor groups and fellow subsidiaries, with whom the group 
has related party transactions during the period, consist of the below entities:

		  Ultimate parent entity		

		  Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (BAM) , ultimate parent entity and controlling party		

		  Sponsor		
		  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd- Sponsor				  

		  Sponsor group		
		  a) 	 BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd. (BSREP II India)	
		  b) 	 Kairos Property Managers Private Limited (Kairos)	
		  c) 	 BSREP Moon C1 L.P	
		  d) 	 BSREP Moon C2 L.P	
		  e) 	 BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte Ltd. (BSREP India Office III)	
		  f) 	 BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Holdings)	
		  g) 	 BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Office IV)	
		  h) 	 BSREP India Office Holdings VI Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Office VI)

		  Fellow subsidiaries		
		  a)	 Mountainstar India Office Parks Private Limited		
		  b)	 Technology Service group LLC		
		  c)	 Arliga India Office Parks Private Limited		
		  d)	 Brookfield Property Group LLC		

		  Brookfield India REIT’s interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 1”- Organization structure.		
		�  Directors & Key personnel of the Investment Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private 

Limited)

		  Directors

		  Akila Krishnakumar (Independent Director)	
		  Shailesh Vishnubhai Haribhakti (Independent Director)	
		  Anuj Ranjan (Non-Executive Director)	
		  Ankur Gupta (Non-Executive Director)

		  Key personnel	

		  Alok Aggarwal - Managing director and chief executive officer – India office business	
		  Sanjeev Kumar Sharma - Executive vice president and chief financial officer – India office business	

		  Key management personnel of SPV’s

		  - Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited 	
		  Subrata Ghosh- Managing Director	
		  Neeraj Kapoor- Company Secretary (till 1st August, 2021)	

		  - Festus Properties Private Limited 	
		  Lalit Kumar- Company Secretary

		  - Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited
		  Kanika Dhingra – Company Secretary
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	 B. 	 Related party transactions

Nature of transaction/ 
Entity’s Name

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Trustee Fee Expense 

- Axis Trustee Services Limited  0.74  0.74  0.74  1.48  1.47  1.48  2.95 

Total  0.74  0.74  0.74  1.48  1.47  1.48  2.95 

Reimbursement of expense 
incurred by (excluding GST)

- �Brookprop Management Services 
Private Limited

 0.22  0.56  1.89  0.78  3.05  2.69  5.74 

- �BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte 
Ltd

 -    -    9.26  -    1.22  25.17  26.39 

- Brookfield Property Group LLC (0.34)  2.32  -    1.98  -    -    -   

Total (0.12)  2.88  11.15  2.76  4.27  27.86  32.13 

Reimbursement of expense 
incurred on behalf of (excluding 
GST)

- �Mountainstar India Office Parks 
Private Limited

 0.10  0.15  0.04  0.25  2.31  0.50  2.81 

Total  0.10  0.15  0.04  0.25  2.31  0.50  2.81 

Issue of Unit Capital

 - BSREP India Office Holdings IV 
Pte. Ltd. 

 -    -    -    -    4,550.17  -    4,550.17 

Total  -    -    -    -    4,550.17  -    4,550.17 

Internet & Connectivity Charges

- Technology Service Group LLC  7.62  6.80  3.54  14.42  10.40  6.67  17.07 

Total  7.62  6.80  3.54  14.42  10.40  6.67  17.07 

Property management fees

- Brookprop Management Services 
Private Limited

 60.19  57.61  45.44  117.80  95.35  91.34  186.69 

Total  60.19  57.61  45.44  117.80  95.35  91.34  186.69 

Investment management fees

- Brookprop Management Services 
Private Limited

 20.26  20.32  24.92  40.58  35.30  45.91  81.21 

Total  20.26  20.32  24.92  40.58  35.30  45.91  81.21 

Compensation to key 
management personnel of SPV's

- Short-term employee benefits  2.05  2.05  1.76  4.10  4.90  3.67  8.57 

- Post-employment benefits*  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

- Other long-term benefits  0.12  0.12  0.10  0.24  0.22  0.21  0.43 

- Other Fees  0.12  0.14  0.11  0.26  0.27  0.22  0.49 

Total  2.29  2.31  1.97  4.60  5.39  4.10  9.49 
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Nature of transaction/ 
Entity’s Name

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

Provision for Gratuity and 
compensated absences transfer 
to

- Arliga India Office Parks Private 
Limited

 -    -    -    -    0.29  -    0.29 

Total  -    -    -    -    0.29  -    0.29 

Provision for Gratuity and 
compensated absences transfer 
from

- Mountainstar India Office Parks 
Private Limited

 -    -    -   -    5.67  -    5.67 

Total  -    -    -    -    5.67  -    5.67 

Provision for Bonus transfer to

- Arliga India Office Parks Private 
Limited

 -    -    -    -    0.23  -    0.23 

Total  -    -    -    -    0.23  -    0.23 

Provision for Bonus transfer from

- Mountainstar India Office Parks 
Private Limited

 -    -    -    -    7.54  -    7.54 

Total  -    -    -    -    7.54  -    7.54 

Repayment of Unit Capital

- BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.

 138.54  116.35  53.09  254.89  194.29  53.09  247.38 

- BSREP India Office Holdings Pte 
Ltd.

 106.24  89.22  40.71  195.46  148.98  40.71  189.69 

- Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  8.67  7.28  3.32  15.95  12.17  3.32  15.49 

- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  2.05  1.72  0.79  3.77  2.87  0.79  3.66 

- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 

- BSREP II India Office Holdings II 
Pte. Ltd.

 71.90  60.39  27.55  132.29  100.84  27.55  128.39 

- BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 94.02  78.96  36.03  172.98  131.85  36.03  167.88 

- BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. 
Ltd.

 39.59  33.25  -    72.84  -    -    -   

Total  461.01  387.17  161.49  848.18  591.00  161.49  752.49 

Interest Distributed

- BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.

 132.59  154.78  247.21  287.37  387.49  247.21  634.70 

- BSREP India Office Holdings Pte 
Ltd.

 101.67  118.69  189.57  220.36  297.14  189.57  486.71 

- Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  8.30  9.69  15.47  17.99  24.25  15.47  39.72 

- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  1.96  2.29  3.66  4.25  5.74  3.66  9.40 

- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 
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Nature of transaction/ 
Entity’s Name

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2022 

For the 
quarter ended  

30 June 2022 

For the 
quarter ended  
30 September 

2021 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2022 

For the half 
year ended  

31 March 2022 

For the half 
year ended  

30 September 
2021 

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2022 

- BSREP II India Office Holdings II 
Pte. Ltd.

 68.81  80.33  128.30  149.14  201.10  128.30  329.40 

- BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 89.98  105.04  167.77  195.02  262.97  167.77  430.74 

- BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. 
Ltd.

 37.89  44.23  -    82.12  -    -    -   

Total  441.20  515.05  751.98  956.25  1,178.69  751.98  1,930.67 

Other Income Distributed

- BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.

 4.87  4.87  24.41  9.74  13.53  24.41  37.94 

- BSREP India Office Holdings Pte 
Ltd.

 3.73  3.73  18.72  7.46  10.37  18.72  29.09 

- Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  0.30  0.30  1.53  0.60  0.85  1.53  2.38 

- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  0.07  0.07  0.36  0.14  0.20  0.36  0.56 

- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 

- BSREP II India Office Holdings II 
Pte. Ltd.

 2.53  2.53  12.67  5.06  7.02  12.67  19.69 

- BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 3.31  3.31  16.56  6.62  9.18  16.56  25.74 

- BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. 
Ltd.

 1.39  1.39  -    2.78  -    -    -   

Total  16.20  16.20  74.25  32.40  41.15  74.25  115.40 

Security deposit received back

- Mountainstar India Office Parks 
Private Limited

 -    -    -    -    7.43  -    7.43 

Total  -    -    -    -    7.43  -    7.43 

Income support received

Mountainstar India Office Parks 
Private Limited 

 179.12  177.66  -    356.78  228.14  -    228.14 

Total  179.12  177.66  -    356.78  228.14  -    228.14 

Income support received in 
advance

Mountainstar India Office Parks 
Private Limited 

 19.90  -    -    19.90  -    -    -   

Total  19.90 - -  19.90 - - -

		�  *As the liabilities for the gratuity and compensated absences are provided on an actuarial basis, and calculated for the 
respective SPV as a whole, the said liabilities pertaining specifically to KMP are not known for current period and hence, not 
included here.
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Outstanding balances As at 
30 September 2022 

As at 
31 March 2022 

Trade Payable (net of withholding tax)
- Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  18.54  16.84 
Total  18.54  16.84 
Prepaid expenses 
- Axis Trustee Services Ltd  1.47  -   
Total  1.47  -   
Other receivables
- Mountainstar India Office Parks Private Limited  0.02  0.01 
Total  0.02  0.01 
 Finance receivables* 
- Mountainstar India Office Parks Private Limited  865.44  1,162.13 
Total  865.44  1,162.13 
 Other Payable 
- Mountainstar India Office Parks Private Limited  19.90  -   
Total  19.90  -   
Vendor Advance-Others  (net of withholding tax)
- Technology Service group LLC  -    3.17 
Total  -    3.17 

		�  *Represents income support provided by Mountainstar India Office Parks Private Limited to SDPL Noida as part of Income 
support agreement starting quarter ended 31 March 2022 until the quarter ending 31 March 2024.

43.	 UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO THE GLOBAL HEALTH PANDEMIC ON COVID-19:

	� The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to cause disruption to business activities as well as disrupted travel and 
adversely impacted local, regional, national and international economic conditions. Brookfield India REIT has 
considered possible effects that may result from the pandemic relating to COVID-19 on the carrying amounts 
and fair value of investment property (including under development). As a result, future revenues and cash flows 
produced by investment properties could be potentially impacted due to this prevailing uncertainty. In response, 
Brookfield India REIT has adjusted cash flow assumptions for its estimate of near-term disruption to cash flows to 
reflect collections, vacancy and assumptions with respect to new leasing activity. In addition, Brookfield India REIT 
has continued to assess the appropriateness of the discount and terminal capitalization rates giving consideration to 
changes to property level cash flows and any risk premium inherent in such cash flow changes as well as the current 
cost of capital and credit spreads. Further, in developing assumptions relating to possible future uncertainties 
in the Indian economic conditions because of this pandemic; Brookfield India REIT, as at the date of approval 
of these  Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, has used internal and external sources of information 
including reports on fair valuation of investment properties from property consultants, economic forecast and 
other information from market sources on the expected future performance of Brookfield India REIT. Based on 
this analysis, Brookfield India REIT has concluded that there is no impairment to the carrying amount of investment 
property and the fair value of investment property disclosed in the  Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
represents the best estimate based on internal and external sources of information on the reporting date.

	� The impact of COVID-19 on Brookfield India REIT  Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements may differ from that 
estimated as at the date of approval of these  Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements..
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44.	 ASSETS ACQUISITION					   

�(i)	� On 8 February 2021 (the acquisition date), Brookfield India REIT acquired 100% of the equity interest and 
compulsorily convertible debentures of four SPVs as described in more detail in Note 1 - Organization structure; in 
exchange for units of Brookfield India REIT amounting to `45,270.45 Million (the “Purchase consideration”).

	� The management applied the optional concentration test, under Ind AS 103, and concluded that the acquired set 
of activities and assets is not a business because substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired 
is concentrated in investment properties, with similar risk characteristics. Accordingly, this transaction has been 
accounted for as an asset acquisition.

	� The management identified and recognized the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and 
allocated the purchase consideration to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative 
fair values at the date of acquisition.

	 The allocated value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the four SPVs as at the date of acquisition were:

Assets Amount  
(in million)

Property, plant and equipment  98.22 
Investment property  100,378.03 
Investment property under development  723.34 
Other assets  6,848.43 
Total Assets (A)  108,048.02 
Liabilities
Borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowings)  56,776.42 
Other liabilities  6,001.16 
Total Liabilities (B)  62,777.58 
Net Assets (A – B)  45,270.44 

(ii)	� On 24 January 2022 (the acquisition date), Brookfield India REIT acquired 100% of the equity interest and 
compulsorily convertible debentures of SDPL Noida as described in more detail in Note 1 - Organization structure; 
in exchange through combination of units of Brookfield India REIT of `4,550.17 million and cash consideration of 
`13,153.83 million, total amounting to `17,704.00 million. Brookfield India REIT has also incurred directly attributable 
expenses in relation to this asset acquisition, amounting to `118.22 million, resulting in the total purchase 
consideration of `17,822.22 million  (the “Purchase consideration”). 

	� The management applied the optional concentration test, under Ind AS 103, and concluded that the acquired set 
of activities and assets is not a business because substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired 
is concentrated in investment properties, with similar risk characteristics. Accordingly, this transaction has been 
accounted for as an asset acquisition.

	� The management identified and recognized the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and 
allocated the purchase consideration to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative 
fair values at the date of acquisition.



Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

207

	 The allocated value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of SDPL Noida as at the date of acquisition were:

Assets Amount  
(in million)

Property, plant and equipment  29.31 
Investment property  35,344.03 
Investment property under development  1,110.75 
Other assets  3,699.40 
Total Assets (A)  40,183.49 
Liabilities
Borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowings)  20,464.86 
Other liabilities  1,896.41 
Total Liabilities (B)  22,361.27 
Net Assets (A – B)  17,822.22 

45.	 MANAGEMENT FEE

	 Property Management Fees
	� Pursuant to the Candor Amended and Restated Service Agreement dated 01 December 2020 with SPPL Noida and 

Candor Kolkata and agreement dated 11 February 2022 with SDPL Noida, Investment Manager is entitled to a yearly 
fees @ 3% of the income from operating lease rentals as recorded in the books of accounts of SPPL Noida, Candor 
Kolkata and SDPL Noida, payable on a monthly basis, exclusive of applicable taxes. The fees has been determined 
for providing real estate operating services to CIOP in relation to the Operational Services rendered by it with 
respect to SPPL Noida, Candor Kolkata and SDPL Noida. The said Management fees for the quarter and half year 
ended 30 September 2022 amounts to `47.07 million and `92.94 million respectively. There are no changes during 
the period in the methodology for computation of fees paid to the Manager.

	� Pursuant to the Festus Service Agreement dated 01 December 2020, Investment Manager is entitled to a yearly 
fee of 3% of the income from operating lease rentals as recorded in the books of accounts of Festus, payable on 
a monthly basis, exclusive of applicable taxes. The fees has been determined for providing real estate operating 
services to Festus in relation to the management and operation of the Kensington and any other properties 
developed by Festus from time to time (“Festus Properties”). The said Management fees for the quarter and half 
year ended 30 September 2022 amounts to `13.12 million and `24.86 million respectively. There are no changes 
during the period in the methodology for computation of fees paid to the Manager.

	 REIT Management Fees
	� Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated 17 July 2020, Investment Manager is entitled to fees 

@ 1% of NDCF, exclusive of applicable taxes (also refer note 48). The fees has been determined for undertaking 
management of the REIT and its investments. The said Management fees for the quarter and half year ended 30 
September 2022 amounts to `20.26 million and `40.58 million respectively. There are no changes during the period 
in the methodology for computation of fees paid to the Manager.

46.	� Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited (“Candor Kolkata”), Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited 
(“SPPL Noida”) and Seaview Developers Private Limited (“SDPL Noida”), which became subsidiary of Brookfield India 
REIT after it was acquired by it in February 2021, February 2021 and January 2022 respectively, had received certain 
amounts as share application money (“Share Application Money”) prior to 31 March 2014, against which Candor 
Kolkata had not allotted shares; SPPL Noida and SDPL Noida had not allotted shares or refunded such Share 
Application Money. The segregation and maintenance of such Share Application Money in a separate bank account, 
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and the utilization of such Share Application Money for general corporate purposes, was not in accordance with 
Paragraph 8(4) of the Unlisted Public Companies (Preferential Allotment) Amendment Rules, 2011 (the Rules). During 
the period ended 31 March 2021, these subsidiaries had filed application u/s 441 of the Companies Act, 2013 for 
compounding of offence.

	� Pursuant to the hearing held on 30 December, 2021, Hon’ble Regional Director accepted the compounding 
application(s) filed by Candor Kolkata, SPPL Noida and SDPL Noida compounded the offence by levying a 
compounding fees, amounting to `0.40 million for Candor Kolkata, `1.05 million for SPPL Noida and `0.51 million 
for SDPL Noida, and passed the order dated 25 January 2022, 24 January 2022 and 24 January 2022 for Candor  
Kolkata, SPPL Noida and SDPL Noida, respectively. The said compounding fees has been paid by the respective 
subsidiaries within the requisite timelines during the year ended 31 March 2022.

47.	 DETAILS OF UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS OF IPO ARE AS FOLLOWS:

Objects of the issue as per the prospectus Proposed 
utilisation

Actual  
utilization upto 
 31 March 2022

Partial or full pre-payment or scheduled repayment of the existing indebtedness of our Asset 
SPVs

 35,750.00  35,750.00 

General purposes (refer note below)  350.00  672.45 

Issue expenses (refer note below)  1,900.00  1,577.55 

Total  38,000.00  38,000.00 

	� Note:  Amount of `322.45 million has been used for general corporate purposes from the proposed utilization towards issue 
expenses.

48.	 DISTRIBUTION POLICY

	� In terms of the Distribution policy and REIT Regulations, not less than 90% of the NDCFs of our Asset SPVs are 
required to be distributed to Brookfield REIT, in proportion of its shareholding in our Asset SPVs, subject to 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act. The cash flows receivable by Brookfield REIT may be in the form of 
dividends, interest income, principal loan repayment, proceeds of any capital reduction or buyback from our Asset 
SPVs/ CIOP, sale proceeds out of disposal of investments of any or assets directly/ indirectly held by Brookfield REIT 
or as specifically permitted under the Trust Deed or in such other form as may be permissible under the  
applicable laws.

	� At least 90% of the NDCFs of Brookfield REIT (“REIT Distributions”) shall be declared and made once every quarter 
of a Financial Year by our Manager. The first distribution shall be made upon completion of the first full quarter after 
the listing of our Units on the Stock Exchanges. Further, in accordance with the REIT Regulations, REIT Distributions 
shall be made no later than 15 days from the date of such declarations. The REIT Distributions, when made, shall be 
made in Indian Rupees. 
 
The NDCFs shall be calculated in accordance with the REIT Regulations and any circular, notification or guidelines 
issued thereunder including the SEBI Guidelines.			 
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of		
Brookprop Management Services Private Limited		
(as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)		

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN: 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: 07 November 2022

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai 
Date: 07 November 2022

49.	 a) 	� The figures for the quarter ended 30 September 2022 are the derived figures between the unaudited figures in 
respect of the half year ended 30 September 2022 and the unaudited published figures for the quarter ended 
30 June 2022, which were both subject to limited review.

	 b) 	� The figures for the half year ended 31 March 2022 are the derived figures between the audited figures in 
respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 and the unaudited published year-to-date figures upto 30 September 
2021 which were subject to limited review.

50.	 “0.00” Represents value less than `0.01 million.
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DISCLAIMER

This report is prepared exclusively for the benefit and use of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust (“Brookfield India REIT”)  
(the “Recipient” or the “Company” or “Instructing Party”) and / or its associates and for, presentations, research reports, 
publicity materials, press releases prepared for the disclosure of valuation of assets forming part of the portfolio of 
Brookfield India REIT and does not carry any right of publication or disclosure to any other party. The Company may 
share the report with its appointed advisors for any statutory or reporting requirements. Neither this report nor any 
of its contents may be used for any other purpose other than the purpose as agreed upon in the Letter of Engagement 
(“LOE”) dated 15 March 2021 and addendum dated 15 September 2022 without the prior written consent of the Valuer.

The information in this report reflects prevailing conditions and the view of the Valuer as of its date, all of which are, 
subject to change. In preparation of this report, the accuracy and completeness of information shared by the Company 
has been relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, while applying reasonable professional judgment 
by the Valuer.

This report has been prepared upon the express understanding that it will be used only for the purposes set out in the 
LOE dated 15 March 2021 and addendum dated 15 September 2022. The Valuer is under no obligation to provide the 
Recipient with access to any additional information with respect to this report unless required by any prevailing law, rule, 
statute or regulation.

This report should not be deemed an indication of the state of affairs of the real estate financing industry, nor shall it 
constitute an indication that there has been no change in the business or state of affairs of the industry since the date of 
preparation of this document.
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1	 INSTRUCTION

1.1	 Instructing Party
	� Brookfield India REIT (hereinafter referred to as the “Instructing Party” or the “Client”) has appointed 

Mr. Shubendu Saha, MRICS, registered as a valuer with the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Board of India (IBBI) for the 
asset class Land and Building under the provisions of the Companies (Registered Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017 
(hereinafter referred as the “Valuer”) to undertake the valuation of office properties located across Gurugram, 
Noida, Kolkata and Mumbai (together herein referred as “Subject Properties” mentioned below).

S.no Asset Location City Type REIT Ownership

REIT Portfolio

1 Candor TechSpace G2 Sector 21 Gurugram IT/ITes SEZ 100%1

2 Candor TechSpace N1 Sector 62 Noida IT/ITes Park 100%

3 Candor TechSpace N2                      Sector 135 Noida IT/ITes SEZ 100%

4 Candor TechSpace K1 New Town Rajarhat Kolkata IT/ITes SEZ 100%

5 Kensington Powai Mumbai IT/ITes SEZ 100%

	 1�Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited (formerly known as “Candor Gurgaon Two Developers & Projects Private 
Limited”; now amalgamated in Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited w.e.f. January 9, 2019) has an agreement 
with Gurgaon Infospace Limited (GIL). The title to the land is held by Gurgaon Infospace Limited, a third party and is not 
affiliated to the Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited. Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited 
has developmental rights with respect to the property pursuant to a Joint Development Agreement ( JDA) with GIL entered on 
November 16, 2006 as amended from time to time. Under the said agreement Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private 
Limited is entitled to 72% of the gross sale revenue and deposits from the tenants arising out of the lease of the developed 
areas and GIL is entitled to receive balance 28%.

	� The exercise has been carried out in accordance with the instructions (Caveats & Limitations) detailed in Section 1.7 
of this report. The extent of professional liability towards the Client is also outlined within these instructions. 

1.2	 Purpose and Date of Valuation
	� It is understood the purpose of this valuation exercise is for the disclosure of valuation of assets forming part of 

the portfolio of Brookfield India REIT under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014 [SEBI (REIT) Regulations], as amended, together with circulars, clarifications, guidelines and 
notifications issued thereunder by SEBI and also disclosure as per fair value accounting under Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS 40).

	� This valuation summary (“Summary Valuation Report”) is intended to be included in the filing by the Brookfield 
India REIT with SEBI and the stock exchanges where the units of the Brookfield India REIT are listed. Additionally, 
any other relevant documents such as publicity material, research reports, presentation and press releases may 
also contain this report or any part thereof. This Summary Valuation Report is a summary of the “Valuation Reports” 
dated 06 November 2022 issued by Mr. Shubendu Saha. For the detailed valuation reports, you may write to  
reit.compliance@brookfield.com. 

1.3	 Reliant Parties
	� The Reliant Parties would mean Brookprop Management Services Private Limited (“Brookprop” or “Manager”), 

Brookfield India REIT and their unitholders and Axis Trustee Services Limited (“Trustee”). The reliance on this 
report is extended to the Reliant Parties for the purpose as highlighted in this Summary Valuation Report. The 
auditors, debenture trustees, stock exchanges, unit holders of the REIT, Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(SEBI), and credit rating agencies, would be extended reliance by the Valuer but would not be liable to such parties, 
except in case of gross negligence and wilful misconduct by the Valuer. 

	� The valuation exercise is conducted strictly and only for the use of the Reliant Parties and for the purpose 
specifically stated. The Instructing Party shall make all reliant parties aware of the terms and conditions of the 
agreement under which this exercise is being undertaken and take due acknowledgements to the same effect.



214

SUMMARY VALUATION REPORT

1.4	 Limitation of Liability
	 	� The Valuer has provided the services exercising due care and skill but does not accept any legal liability arising 

from negligence or otherwise to any person in relation to possible environmental site contamination or any 
failure to comply with environmental legislation, which may affect the value of the properties. Further, the 
Valuer shall not accept liability for any errors, misstatements, omissions in the report caused due to false, 
misleading or incomplete information or documentation provided to him by the Instructing Party.

	 	� The Valuer’s maximum aggregate liability for claims arising out of or in connection with the Valuation, under 
this contract shall not exceed the professional indemnity insurance obtained by him. As on the date of Letter 
of Engagement (“LOE”) and this report the professional indemnity insurance maintained by the Valuer is for INR 
50 Million (Indian Rupees Fifty Million).

	 	� In the event that any of the BSREP India Holdings V Pte. Ltd (the “Sponsor”), Manager, Trustee, Brookfield India 
REIT  or other intermediaries appointed in connection with the disclosure of valuation of assets forming part 
of the portfolio of Brookfield India REIT subject to any claim (“Claim Parties”) in connection with, arising out of 
or attributable to the Valuation, the Claim Parties will be entitled to require the Valuer, to be a necessary party/ 
respondent to such claim and the Valuer shall not object to his inclusion as a necessary party/ respondent. 
However, the legal cost with respect to appointment of lawyers by the Valuer as a respondent/ defendant shall 
be borne by the Client. If the Valuer, as the case may be, does not co-operate to be named as a necessary 
party/ respondent to such claims or co-operate in providing adequate/ successful defence in defending such 
claims, the Claim Parties jointly or severally will be entitled to initiate a separate claim against the Valuer in this 
regard and his liability shall extend to the value of the claims, losses, penalties, costs and liabilities incurred by 
the Claim Parties. 

	 	� The Valuer is neither responsible for any legal due diligence, title search, zoning check, development 
permissions and physical measurements nor undertake any verification/validation of the zoning regulations/
development controls etc.

1.5	 Professional Competency of the Valuer
	� Mr. Shubendu Saha, the Valuer for the Subject Property is registered as a valuer with IBBI for the asset class Land 

and Building under the provisions of The Companies (Registered Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017 since 15 May 
2019. He completed his Bachelor’s in Planning from the School of Planning and Architecture, New Delhi in 1997 and 
Master’s in Management Studies from Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad in 1999.

	� Mr. Saha has more than 20 years of experience in the domain of urban infrastructure and real estate advisory. 
From 2009 to 2015, he was the national practice head of Valuation Advisory services of DTZ International Property 
Advisers Private limited (now known as Cushman and Wakefield Property Advisers Private Limited), a leading 
International Property Consulting firm in India. He also led the business solutions and consulting services for the 
property management business of Cushman and Wakefield India Private Limited from 2015 to 2017. In early part 
of his career, he worked with renowned organisations like ICRA Limited, Copal Research (now known as Moody’s 
Analytics) and National Council of Applied Economic Research. His last employment was with PwC as Director Real 
Estate Advisory before he started his practice as an independent valuer.

	� As the leader of valuation services business at DTZ, Mr. Saha authored India specific guidelines of the RICS Valuation 
Standards (“Red Book”) for financial accounting, taxation and development land, which became part of the 7th 
edition of Red Book. He is the first registered valuer under the provisions of the Companies (Registered Valuers 
and Valuation) Rules, 2017 to undertake the valuation of REIT assets for an IPO. Mr. Saha also led the valuation of 
India’s first listed portfolio of healthcare assets at Singapore Stock Exchange as a Business Trust and led numerous 
valuation exercises for multiple private equity funds, real estate funds, financial institutions, developers and 
corporates across asset classes of commercial, retail, residential and hospitality. His clientele includes, Mindspace 
REIT, Embassy REIT, Air India, HDFC, Religare Health Trust, Duet Hotels, DLF, RMZ, K Raheja Corp, Embassy Group, 
Citibank, Tishman Speyer, IL&FS, HSBC, IDFC, Ascendas India etc.
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1.6	 Disclosures
	 The Valuer declares and certifies that:

	 	� He is eligible to be appointed as a valuer in terms of Regulation 2(1)(zz) of the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 along with SEBI (REIT) (Amendment) Regulations, 
2016 with the valuation exercise having been conducted and valuation report prepared in accordance with 
aforementioned regulations.

	 	 He is not an associate of the Sponsor, the Instructing Party or the Trustee for the Brookfield India REIT.

	 	� He is registered with IBBI as registered valuer for asset class Land and Building under the provisions of the 
Companies (Registered Valuer and Valuation) Rules, 2017.

	 	� He has more than a decade’s experience in leading large real estate valuation exercises comprising investment 
portfolios of various real estate funds, trusts and corporates comprising diverse assets like residential 
projects, retail developments, commercial office buildings, townships, industrial facilities, data centres, hotels, 
healthcare facilities and vacant land and therefore has adequate experience and qualification to perform 
property valuations at all times. 

	 	� He has not been involved in acquisition or disposal within the last twelve months of any of the properties 
valued under this summary valuation report.

	 	 He has educational qualifications, professional knowledge and skill to provide competent professional services.

	 	� He has adequate experience and qualification to perform property valuation and is assisted by sufficient key 
personnel who have the adequate experience and qualification to perform property valuation. 

	 	� He is not financially insolvent and has access to financial resources to conduct his practice effectively and meet 
his liabilities.

	 	� He has ensured that adequate and robust internal controls are in place to ensure the integrity of the Valuation 
Report. 

	 	 He is aware of all statutes, laws, regulations and rules relevant to this valuation exercise. 

	 	� He has conducted the valuation exercise without any influence, coercion or bias and in doing so rendered high 
standards of service, ensured due care, and exercised due diligence and professional judgment.

	 	 He has acted independently and with objectivity and impartiality in conducting this valuation exercise.

	 	� The valuation exercise that has been undertaken is impartial, true and to his best understanding and 
knowledge, fair and in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014 along with subsequent amendments.

	 	� He or any of his employees involved in valuing the assets of the Brookfield India REIT have not invested nor 
shall invest in the units of Brookfield India REIT or in securities of any of the Subject Properties being valued 
till the time he is designated as the Valuer and not less than six months after ceasing to be the Valuer of the 
Brookfield India REIT.

	 	� He has discharged his duties towards Brookfield India REIT in an efficient and competent manner, utilising his 
professional knowledge, skill and experience in best possible way to conduct the valuation exercise.

	 	� He has conducted the valuation of the Subject Properties with transparency and fairness and rendered, at 
all times, high standards of service, exercise due diligence, ensure proper care and exercised independent 
professional judgment.

	 	� He has not and shall not accept any remuneration, in any form, for conducting valuation of any of the Subject 
Properties of Brookfield India REIT from any person or entity other than Brookfield India REIT or its authorised 
representatives.

	 	� He has no existing or planned future interest in the Client, Trustee, Manager, Brookfield India REIT, the Sponsor, 
or the  Sponsor Group or the Special Purpose Vehicles (“SPVs”) and the fee for this valuation exercise is neither 
contingent upon the values reported nor on success of any of the transactions envisaged or required as part of 
the disclosure of valuation of assets, forming part of the portfolio of Brookfield India REIT, in accordance with 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, 
together with clarifications, guidelines and notifications thereunder in the Indian stock exchanges together with 
the clarifications, guidelines and notifications thereunder in the Indian stock exchanges.
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	 	� The valuation reported is not an investment advice and should not be construed as such, and specifically he 
does not express any opinion on the suitability or otherwise of entering into any financial or other transaction 
with the Client or the SPVs.

	 	� He shall, before accepting any assignment from any related party to Brookfield India REIT, disclose to Brookfield 
India REIT, any direct or indirect consideration which the Valuer may have in respect of such assignment 

	 	� He shall disclose to the Trustee of Brookfield India REIT, any pending business transaction, contracts under 
negotiations and other arrangements with the Instructing Party or any other party whom the Brookfield India 
REIT is contracting with or any other factors which may interfere with his ability to give an independent and 
professional conduct of the valuation exercise; as on date the Valuer has no constraints towards providing an 
independent professional opinion on the value of any of the Subject Properties. 

	 	� He has not and shall not make false, misleading or exaggerated claims in order to secure or retain his 
appointment.

	 	� He has not and shall not provide misleading opinion on valuation, either by providing incorrect information or 
by withholding relevant information.

	 	� He has not accepted this instruction to include reporting of the outcome based on a pre-determined opinions 
and conclusions required by Brookfield India REIT.

	 	� The valuation exercise has been conducted in accordance with internationally accepted valuation standards as 
required by SEBI (REIT) Regulations and The Companies (Registration of Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017.

	 	� He notes that there are encumbrances, however, no options or pre-emptions rights in relation to the assets 
based on the title report prepared by Ind-Legal, Fox & Mandal and DSK Legal (hereinafter collectively referred 
to as “Legal Counsel”).

1.7	 Assumptions, Disclaimers, Limitations & Qualifications to Valuation
	� While the Valuation Report has been prepared independently by the Valuer, the report and this summary is subject 

to the following:

	 a.	�� The valuation exercise is based on prevailing market dynamics as on the date of valuation without taking into 
account any unforeseeable event or developments, which could impact the valuation in the future.

	 b.	� Global economy was deeply impacted during the outbreak of COVID-19, which was declared as a Global 
Pandemic on 11 March 2020. Several measures to contain the impact from the Global pandemic which 
included national lockdowns, which was followed by several vaccination drives, follow-up booster drives etc.

		�  As the impact from the COVID-19 related pandemic started to moderate, restrictions were slowly lifted in a 
phased manner by respective state governments untill the Ministry of Home Affairs revoked all the restrictions 
by the Centre from 31 March 2022 and commented that the disaster management act will not be invoked for 
COVID-safety measures. 

		�  The commercial real estate sector has shown significant resilience during the Covid struck period. Majority of 
the markets have started to open-up and corporates have started to encourage the employees to return to 
office. This is also driven by record high levels of attrition witnessed across industries, which has led to strong 
hiring trends in terms of fresher and lateral hires. New Gen-Z (born between 1997 -2012) employees are in high 
demand by the employers, however, work from home period has significantly dented their wellbeing as they 
struggle to bond with teams. This has led to employers revisiting the need for training, interaction etc, thereby 
increasing the relevance of office infrastructure for such corporates. 

		�  While some organizations have been contemplating strategies with respect to the hybrid work models - flexible 
arrangement, allowing employees to combine onsite and offsite work as required, we expect the strong growth 
in the IT-BPM sector, increased interests into Indian offshore centers by several IT/ITeS corporates and GCCs is 
expected to drive significant demand for the commercial real estate sector. 

	 c.	� The valuation exercise is not envisaged to include all possible investigations with respect to the Subject 
Properties and wherein certain limitations to the investigations and inspections carried out are identified so 
as to enable the Reliant Party/Parties to undertake further investigations wherever considered appropriate or 
necessary prior to reliance. The Valuer is not liable for any loss occasioned by a decision not to conduct further 
investigation or inspections.
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	 d.	� Assumptions, being an integral part of any valuation exercise, are adopted as valuation is a matter of judgment 
and many parameters utilized to arrive at the valuation opinion may fall outside the scope of expertise or 
instructions of the Valuer. The Reliant Parties accepts that the valuation contains certain specific assumptions 
and acknowledge and accept the risk that if any of the assumptions adopted to arrive at the valuation 
estimates turns out to be incorrect, there may be a material impact on the valuations. Complete set of 
assumptions are mentioned in Valuation Reports dated 06 November 2022.

	 e.	� The valuation exercise is based on the information shared by the Instructing Party or the Client, which 
has been assumed to be correct and used to conduct the valuation exercise while applying reasonable 
professional judgment by the Valuer. In case of information shared by any third party and duly disclosed in the 
report, the same is believed to be reasonably reliable, however, the Valuer does not accept any responsibility 
should those prove not to be so. 

	 f.	� Any statement regarding any future matter is provided as an estimate and/or opinion based on the information 
known at the date of this report. No warranties are given regarding accuracy or correctness of such 
statements.

	 g.	� Any plan, map, sketch, layout or drawing included in this report is to assist reader in visualizing the relevant 
property and are for representation purposes only with no responsibility being borne towards their 
mathematical or geographical accuracy.

	 h.	� Except as disclosed by the Client, it is assumed that the Subject Properties are free from any encroachments 
and available on the date of valuation.

	 i.	� For the purpose of this valuation exercise, reliance has been made on the Title Reports prepared by the Legal 
Counsels for each of the Subject Properties and no further enquiries have been made with authorities in this 
regard. It is understood that the Subject Properties have encumbrances disputes and claims, however, the 
Valuer does not have the expertise or the purview to verify the veracity or quantify these encumbrances, 
disputes or claims. For the purpose of this valuation exercise, it is assumed that respective Subject Properties 
have clear and marketable titles.

	 j.	� The current zoning of the Subject Properties has been assessed on the basis of review of various documents 
including title reports shared by the Instructing Party and the current land use maps publicly available. The 
same has been considered for the purpose of this valuation exercise. Additionally, it is also assumed that the 
development on the Subject Properties adheres/would adhere to the development regulations as prescribed 
by the relevant authorities. No further enquiries have been made with the competent jurisdictional authorities 
to validate the legality of the same. 

	 k.	� The total developable/developed area, leasable area, site/plot area considered for this valuation exercise is 
based on the Architect’s Certificate shared by the Instructing Party and the same has been checked against the 
approvals/layout plans/building plans provided by the Client. However, no additional verification and physical 
measurement for the purpose of this valuation exercise has been undertaken.

	 l.	� In absence of any information to the contrary, it is assumed that there are no abnormal ground conditions nor 
archaeological remains present, which might adversely affect the current or future occupation, development 
or value of the Subject Properties and the Subject Properties are free from any rot, infestations, structural 
or latent defect; no currently known deleterious or hazardous materials or suspect techniques are used in 
construction or subsequent alterations or additions to the property and comments made in the property 
details do not  purport to express an opinion about an advice upon the conditions of uninspected parts and 
should be taken as making an implied representation or statement about such parts.

	 m.	 It is also stated that this is a valuation report and not a structural survey.

	 n.	� Unless specifically disclosed in the report, no allowances are made with respect to any existing or proposed 
local legislation relating to taxation on realization of the sale value of the Subject Properties. 

	 o.	� Given the evolving and maturing real estate markets in India, any comparable evidences (if any) or market 
quotes provided has been limited to basic details such as area of asset, general location, price/rate of 



218

SUMMARY VALUATION REPORT

transaction or sale and any other specific details that are readily available in public domain only shall 
be shared. Any factual information such as tenants’ leasable area, lease details such as, rent, lease/rent 
commencement and end dates, lock-in period, rent escalation terms etc. with respect to Subject Properties is 
based on the documents/information shared by the Client/Instructing Party and the same has been adopted 
for the purpose of this valuation exercise. While few lease deeds have been reviewed on a sample basis, the 
Valuer does not take any responsibility towards authenticity of the rent rolls shared by the Client. Any change 
in the aforementioned information will have an impact on the valuation estimates and, in that case, the same 
would need to be reassessed. The relevant information sources are mentioned in Valuation Reports dated  
06 November 2022.

	 p.	� All measurements, areas and property age quoted/mentioned in the report are approximate. The areas of 
Subject Property are based on Architect’s certificate as mentioned in (k) above.

	 q.	� The Valuer is not an advisor with respect to any tax, regulatory or legal matters with respect to by Brookfield 
India REIT. No investigation or enquiries on the holding entity or any SPV’s claim on the title of the Subject 
Properties has been made and the same is assumed to be valid based on the information shared by the Client/
Instructing Party. No consideration shall be / has been given to liens or encumbrances against them. Therefore, 
no responsibility is assumed for matters of a legal nature.

	 r.	� Kindly note that quarterly assessment of cash flows has been undertaken for the purpose of this valuation 
exercise.
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2	 VALUATION SUMMARY

	� The following table highlights the summary of the market value of each of the Subject Properties which is part of the 
proposed Brookfield India REIT as on 30 September 2022.

S. No. Asset Name 

Leasable area (Million sq. ft.) 1 Market Value (in INR Million)

Completed Under 
Construction

Future 
Development

Potential
Completed

Under-Construction/ 
Future Development

Potential
Total

REIT Portfolio
1 G2 3.92 NA 0.10  45,637  613  46,250 
2 N1 1.96 NA 0.86  19,550  2,746  22,296 

3 N2 3.76 NA 0.77 38,686  2,284 40,969

4 K1 3.06 0.56 2.12  22,175  4,326  26,501

5 Kensington 1.56 NA NA  27,548  27,548 
TOTAL 14.26 0.56 3.85 1,53,596  9,969 163,564

	 Note: All figures in the above table are rounded. 

	 1.	� Based on Provisional Architect’s Certificate (Dated: 03 November 2022 for G2, N1, N2 and K1 and 30 September 2022 for 
Kensington.

	 2.	� * Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited (formerly known as “Candor Gurgaon Two Developers & Projects 
Private Limited”; now amalgamated in Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited w.e.f. January 9, 2019) has an 
agreement with Gurgaon Infospace Limited (GIL). The title to the land is held by Gurgaon Infospace Limited, a third party 
and is not affiliated to the Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited. Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited has developmental rights with respect to the property pursuant to a Joint Development Agreement ( JDA) 
with GIL entered on November 16, 2006 as amended from time to time. Under the said agreement Candor Kolkata One Hi-
Tech Structures Private Limited is entitled to 72% of the gross sale revenue and deposits from the tenants arising out of the 
lease of the developed areas and GIL is entitled to receive balance 28%.

Brookfield India REIT Portfolio Composition (Market Value)

  Completed as on 30 September 2022          Under-Construction/Future Development

Completed as on  
30 September 2022, 94%

Under-Construction / Future 
Development, 6%



220

SUMMARY VALUATION REPORT

2.1	 Assumptions, Disclaimers, Limitations & Qualifications
	� This Summary Valuation Report is provided subject to a summary of assumptions, disclaimers, limitations and 

qualification detailed throughout this Report which are made in conjunction with those included within the 
sections covering various assumptions, disclaimers, limitations and qualifications within the detailed Valuation 
Report. Reliance on this report and extension of the liability of the Valuer is conditional upon the reader’s 
acknowledgement of these statements. This valuation is for the use of the parties mentioned in Section 1.3 of 
this Summary Valuation Report.

	 Prepared by

	 (Shubhendu Saha) 
	 IBBI/RV/05/2019/11552 
	 Regd. Address: 53, Anuradha Apartments, A2, Paschim Vihar, New Delhi 110063 
	 M: +919910386675 
	 E: shubhendu_leo@hotmail.com
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3	 VALUATION APPROACH AND METHODOLOGY

3.1	 Purpose of Valuation
	� The purpose of this valuation exercise is to estimate the value of the Subject Properties forming a part of the 

portfolio of Brookfield India REIT, for the disclosure of valuation of assets forming part of the portfolio of Brookfield 
India REIT under the SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014, as amended, together with clarifications, 
guidelines and notifications thereunder.

3.2	 Valuation Guideline and Definition
	� Given the purpose of valuation as mentioned above, the valuation exercise has been carried out to estimate the 

“Market Value” of the Subject Properties in accordance with the IVSC International Valuation Standards issued in 
2021 and effective from 31 January 2022.

	� As per IVSC International Valuation Standards, “Market Value” is defined as ‘The estimated amount for which an 
asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-
length transaction after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion.’

3.3	 Valuation Approach 
	� The valuation for the Subject Properties being Market Value, has been derived by adopting income approach, 

utilising the discounted cash flow method with rental reversion.

	� The income approach is based on the premise that value of an income producing asset is a function of future 
benefits and income derived from that asset. Using this valuation method, future cash flows from the property are 
forecasted using precisely stated assumptions. This method allows for the explicit modelling of income and cost 
associated with the property. These future financial benefits are then discounted to a present-day value (valuation 
date) at an appropriate discount rate. A variation of the Discounted Cash Flow Method is mentioned below.

	 Income Approach - Discounted Cash Flow Method using Rental Reversion

	� Given the market practice in most commercial/ IT developments involves contracting tenants in the form of pre-
commitments at sub-market rentals to increase the attractiveness of the property to prospective tenants. Such 
benefits are typically extended to anchor tenants. Additionally, there are instances of tenants paying above-market 
rentals for certain properties as well (primarily owing to market conditions at the time of contracting the lease). In 
order to arrive at a unit value for these tenancies, we have normalised the impact of such sub/above market leases 
on the valuation of the Subject Property by estimating the rental revenue achievable at the end of the term, based 
on the expected rents in the market.

3.4	 Valuation Methodology 
	� In order to compute the Market Value of the Subject Properties it is prudent to understand the market dynamics 

and the location where the Subject Property is located (existing and future supply, demand from occupiers, average 
office space take up by an occupier in a particular sector, existing vacancy numbers and the rentals, likely growth of 
the office space etc.). Understanding of the micro market positioning (where the Subject Property is located) with 
respect to a location is also very important.  The next step then becomes to understand the situation of the Subject 
Property (current achievable rentals, vacancy numbers, competing supply in the micro market etc.) with respect to 
the micro market. 

	� Each of the steps required to assess the Market Value of the Subject Properties is detailed below.  The same have 
been elaborated in the Valuation Reports also.

	 Market and Location Assessment:

	� The Client appointed Cushman & Wakefield (CWI) to prepare an independent industry and market research report, 
which has been relied upon and reviewed by the Valuer to develop the understanding and assess the relevant 
micro-markets of the Subject Properties. The said review, was carried out in the following manner:

	 i.	� Market dynamics influencing the rents along with Subject Property rents were studied in detail. Further, the 
location setting of the Subject Properties in the respective micro-markets were assessed. Analysis of the 
micro-market was undertaken primarily based on the findings of the industry/market report prepared by 
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CWI and readily available information in public domain to ascertain the transaction activity of office space. 
The analysis entailed review of comparable properties in terms of potential competition (both completed and 
under-construction/future developments), comparable recent lease transactions witnessed in the micro-
market along with the trends in leasing within the Subject Properties in recent past, wherever available. This 
analysis enabled the Valuer to have an informed opinion on the market rent (applicable rental for the micro-
market where the respective Subject Properties are located) and achievable market rent (Valuer’s view on 
achievable rent for the respective Subject Properties for leasing vacant spaces, potential leasable area under 
development or planned as well as upon re-leasing of the existing let out area).

	 ii.	� For tenants occupying relatively large space within the Subject Properties, where there may be some instances 
of areas being let out at lower than market rent, it is assumed that the leases shall revert to market rent 
following the expiry of the lease, factoring appropriate re-leasing time.

	 Portfolio Assessment:

	 i.	� As the first step, the rent rolls (which includes review of corresponding leases deeds) on a reasonable sample 
basis were reviewed to identify tenancy characteristics for the Subject Properties. As part of the rent roll 
review, major tenancy agreements were reviewed on a reasonable sample basis. For example, for G2 we have 
reviewed lease deeds of top 10 tenants contributing nearly 90% of gross contractual rentals of the subject 
property). 

	 ii.	� For anchor/large tenants, adjustments on achievable market rent or additional lease-up timeframe have been 
adopted upon lease reversion wherever relevant.

	 iii.	� Title reports, Architect’s certificates and other related documents as mentioned in earlier sections of the 
report were reviewed for validation of area details, ownership interests of the Subject Properties.

	 iv.	 Physical site inspections were undertaken to assess the current status of the Subject Properties.

	 Preparation of Future Cash Flows:

	 i.	� Net operating income (NOI) has primarily been used to arrive at the Market Value of the Subject Properties. 
The cash flows for the operational, under construction and future development area have been projected 
separately for the purpose of estimating and reporting valuation in accordance with the SEBI (REIT) Regulations

	 ii.	� The projected future cash flows from the property are based on existing lease terms for the operational area 
till the expiry of the leases or re-negotiation, whichever is earlier, following which, the lease terms have been 
aligned with market rents achievable by the Subject Properties. For vacant area, under-construction area and 
future development area, the achievable market rent-led cash flows are projected factoring appropriate lease-
up time frame for vacant/under-construction/future development area. These cash flows have been projected 
for 10-year duration from the date of valuation wherein 11th year NOI is capitalized (for assessment of terminal 
value based on NOI). These future cash flows are then discounted to present-day value (valuation date) at an 
appropriate discount rate.
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		�  Each of the lease was assessed to project the cash flows for a period of 10 years. The assessment was carried 
out in the following manner:  

Step 1 Rental income from existing tenants up to the period of lease expiry, lock-in expiry, escalation 
milestones, etc. is projected whichever is applicable. In the event of any vacant spaces, achievable 
market-rent is assumed for future income for such spaces with suitable time for leasing up the 
space.

This data is then used to generate market aligned revenue stream from existing and potential 
tenants for the desired time period. 

Step 2 In the event the escalated contracted rent is higher than the achievable market rent by 15%, the 
contracted terms are ignored, and the terms are reverted to market. In the event the escalated 
contracted rent is below 115% of the achievable market rent, the contracted terms are adopted 
going forward until the next lease review/ renewal. Intent of this step is to project the rental 
income for respective leases until lease expiry as well as post expiry.

Step 3 Computing the monthly rental income projected as part of Step 2 and translating the same to a 
quarterly income (for the next 10 years and NOI of the 11th year – considered for calculation of 
terminal value).

iii.	� Recurring operational expenses, fit-out income (wherever applicable, however, the same has not been 
included in the NOI for the purpose of arriving at the terminal value by capitalisation) and vacancy 
provision have been adopted in-line with prevalent market practices and conditions. In addition, 
appropriate rent-free periods have been adopted during lease roll-overs to consider potential rent-
free terms as well as outflows towards brokerage. For all Subject Properties, operational revenues 
and expenses of the respective properties are reviewed to understand the recurring, non-recurring, 
recoverable and non-recoverable expenses and accordingly estimate the margins on the common area 
maintenance income, which accrues as cash inflows to the Subject Properties and normalised for the 
purpose of cash flow projections. The 1-year forward income for the 11th year has been capitalized to 
assess the terminal value of the development at the end of year 10.

3.5	 Information Sources
	� Property related information relied upon for the valuation exercise have been provided to the Valuer by the Client 

and the market data has been provided by Cushman and Wakefield, unless otherwise mentioned. The documents 
provided has been assumed to be a true copy of the original. The rent rolls have been cross checked with the lease 
deeds on a sample basis only to ensure its correctness. 
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4	 REIT PORTFOLIO

4.1	 Candor TechSpace IT/ITeS SEZ, Dundahera, Gurugram (G2) 
	 Property Description

	� G2 is located at Old Delhi – Gurugram road, Dundahera, Gurugram, Haryana – 122001, India. The approximate land 
area of G2 is 28.526 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate).  

	 Statement of Assets

	� G2 constitutes 13 completed buildings along with future development area. The listing of buildings under each 
component is as follows:

	 �Completed buildings with Occupancy Certificate (OC) received – Tower 1, 2, 3, 4 (Amenity Block-1), 4A 
(Amenity Block-2), 5, 6, 7, 8A, 8B, 9, 10 (MLCP), 11

	 �Future development – The future development has leasable area of 99,924 sq. ft. The leasable area of the future 
development is indicative and is subject to change once the internal business plans are in place or the construction 
is completed.

	 The area statement for G2 is as follows:

Components No. of buildings
Leasable Area  

(sq. ft.)
Usage type

Committed 
Occupancy*

Completed 13 39,16,845 IT/ITeS SEZ 85.27%

Future Development NA 99,924 IT/ITeS SEZ NA

Total 13 40,16,769

	� Source: Architect’s Certificate (Dated: 03 November 2022), ^Rent Rolls as on 30 September 2022, Lease Deeds/Leave and License 
Agreements.

	 *Committed Occupancy = (Occupied area + Completed area under Letters of Intent)/ Completed area

	 Brief Description
	� G2 is an IT/ITeS SEZ office space developed in a campus format offering large floor plates with significant 

open / green areas and number of amenities for occupiers. There are 13 completed buildings comprising 11 
office towers (including one MLCP) occupied by multiple tenants and two amenity blocks - Block 4 (Amenity 
Block- 1, with 67,802 of leasable area) and 4A (Amenity Block-2, with 22,675 of leasable area). The amenity 
blocks constitute retail area of 90,477 sq. ft. catering to all basic requirement of occupiers viz. F&B (in form of 
multi- cuisine food courts and in-house kitchens), pharmacy, bank ATM, creche, sports arena, wellness centre, 
convenience store, dental clinic etc. In addition, Tower 10 (MLCP) constitutes 98,796 sq. ft. of office area and 
289,035 sq. ft. of car parking area to cater to 499 cars parking. G2 has two entry and two exit gates, which are 
managed according to the campus traffic circulation plan. Apart from regular upgradation activities, G2 has 
witnessed a major revamp (both inside and outside the campus) leading to overall improved aesthetics. G2 has 
been awarded IGBC Platinum Rating for sustainability in addition to the group wide ISO certification for Quality, 
Environmental and Occupational Health & Safety Management Systems namely ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and  
OHSAS 18001.

	� G2 is located in an established office, residential and retail micro-market of Gurugram. The office supply in the 
vicinity comprises investment and sub investment grade developments, constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT 
developments primarily skewed towards IT. Some of the prominent office developments in the vicinity include 
DLF Cyber City, DLF Cyber Park, Ambience Corporate Tower etc.

	� G2 is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like The Oberoi/ Trident, Hyatt Place, Radisson, Leela 
Ambience etc. and is well connected to major locations in the city as well as in the NCR via multiple modes of 
communication. 
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	 The distances (approximately) to G2 from major landmarks of NCR are as follows:

02 km from NH 48  
(Delhi – Jaipur highway)

 03 km from 
IndusInd Cyber City 
Rapid Metro Station

 09 km from 
Gurugram  

Railway Station

09 km from  
IGI Airport

 03 km from  
DLF Cyber City  

23 km from Connaught Place

The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below: 
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Source: C&WI Research (Map not to scale)
Key Assumptions
Particulars Unit Information

Revenue Assumptions (as on 30/09/2022)
Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q3 FY 2024-25
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 81
Achievable Market Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 88
Parking Charges INR/bay/mth 5,000

Development Assumptions

Remaining Capital Expenditure INR Million Future Development: 327
General Development: 157

Expected Completion Date Qtr, Year Future Development: 
Q3 FY 2024-25

Other Financial Assumptions
Cap Rate % 8.00
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.75
WACC (Under-construction/ Future Development) % 13.00

Market Value

The market value of financial interest* in G2 as on 30 September 2022 is as follows:

INR  46,250 Million
(Indian Rupees Forty-Six Billion Two Hundred and Fifty Million Only)

* Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited (formerly known as “Candor Gurgaon Two Developers & Projects Private 
Limited”; now amalgamated in Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited w.e.f. January 9, 2019) has an agreement 
with Gurgaon Infospace Limited (GIL). The title to the land is held by Gurgaon Infospace Limited, a third party and is not 
affiliated to the Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited. Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited 
has developmental rights with respect to the property pursuant to a Joint Development Agreement ( JDA) with GIL entered on 
November 16, 2006 as amended from time to time. Under the said agreement Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private 
Limited is entitled to 72% of the gross sale revenue and deposits from the tenants arising out of the lease of the developed areas 
and GIL is entitled to receive balance 28%.
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4.2	 Candor TechSpace IT/ITeS Park, Sector 62, Noida (N1)
	 Property Description

	� N1 is located at Plot no. B2, sector 62, Noida, Gautam Buddha Nagar, Uttar Pradesh, 201301, India. The approximate 
land area of N1 is 19.250 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate).

	 Statement of Assets

	� N1 constitutes 9 buildings and can be segregated under three components viz. completed, under-construction and 
future development buildings. The listing of buildings under each component is as follows:

	� Completed buildings with Occupancy Certificate (OC) received – Block 1, 2, 3, 6, 5 & 7 (Amenity Block I and II) 
& Block 8

	� Future development buildings – Block 4A and Block 4B. The leasable area of the future development is indicative 
and is subject to change once the internal business plans are in place or the construction is completed.

	 The area statement for N1 is as follows:

Components No. of buildings
Leasable Area#  

(sq. ft.)
Usage type

Committed 
Occupancy*

Completed 8 19,57,084 IT/ITeS Park 86%^

Future Development 2 858,460 IT/ITeS Park NA

Total 10 28,15,544  

	� Source: Architect’s Certificate (Dated: 03 November 2022), ^Rent Rolls as on 30 September 2022, Lease Deeds/Leave and License 
Agreements and Client Information

	 *Committed Occupancy = (Occupied area + Completed area under Letters of Intent)/ Completed area

	 #The leasable area is increased because of the change in efficiency. 

	 Brief Description

	� N1 is an IT/ITeS office space developed in a campus format offering large floor plates with significant open / green 
areas and number of amenities for occupiers. There are eight completed buildings comprising five office towers 
occupied by multiple tenants and one building comprising three amenity blocks. Block 5 is recently completed office 
tower with 491,051 sq. ft. of leasable area. Amenity Block constitutes retail area of 39,196 sq. ft. catering to all basic 
requirement of occupiers viz. F&B (in form of multi-cuisine food court), 24x7 paramedics, Day Care Centre, bank 
ATM, salon, convenience store, pharmacy etc. In addition, there are two future development buildings (Block 4A and 
4B) comprising office blocks. Further, Block 8 constituting 79,761 sq. ft. shall offer a separate F&B hub and shall be 
open to public along with inhouse occupiers.  N1 has two entry and two exit points, which are managed according 
to the campus traffic circulation plan. N1 has been awarded 5 Star rating by the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) in 
addition to the group wide ISO 9001,14001 and OHSAS 18001 Certification. 

	� N1 is located in sector 62 of Noida, which is an institutional sector characterized by the presence of large public and 
private sector institutions like The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, IIM Lucknow Noida Campus, Jaipuria 
Institute of Management, Jaypee Institute of Information Technology, Symbiosis Law School, Bank of India, Staff 
Training College etc. The office supply in the vicinity comprises investment and sub investment grade developments, 
constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT developments primarily skewed towards IT. The other prominent office 
developments in the vicinity include Embassy Galaxy Business Park, Logix Cyber Park, 3C Knowledge Boulevard 
& Green Boulevard, Stellar IT Park, Okaya Blue Silicon Business IT Park etc. N1 is one of the largest IT/ITes office 
development in terms of leasable area in sector 62, Noida.

	� N1 is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like Radisson, Park Ascent etc. and is well connected to 
major locations in the city as well as in the NCR via multiple modes of communication. 
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	 The distances to N1 from major landmarks of NCR are as follows:
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Source: C&WI Research 
(Map not to scale)

Key Assumptions

Particulars Unit Information
Revenue Assumptions (as on 30/09/2022)

Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q4 FY 2023-24
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 50
Achievable Market Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 54
Parking Charges INR/bay/mth 3,000

Development Assumptions

Remaining Capital Expenditure INR Million
Under Construction/ Future 

Development: 4,268
General Development: 139

Expected Completion Date Qtr, Year Block 4A – Q4 FY 2026-27
Block 4B – Q4 FY 2025-26

Other Financial Assumptions
Cap Rate % 8.00
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.75
WACC (Under-construction/ Future Development) % 13.00

Market Value

The market value of the full ownership interest in N1 as on 30 September 2022 is as follows:

INR  22,296 Million
(Indian Rupees Twenty-Two Billion Two Hundred and Ninety-Six Million Only)

The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below:
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4.3	 Candor TechSpace IT/ITeS SEZ, Sector-135, Noida (N2)
	 Property Description

	� N2 is located at Plot No. 20, 21, Noida – Greater Noida Expressway, Sector 135, Noida Uttar Pradesh – 201304, India. 
The approximate land area of N2 is 29.653 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate). 

	 Statement of Assets

	� N2 constitutes 14 buildings and can be segregated under three components viz. completed, under-construction 
and future development buildings. The listing of buildings under each component is as follows:

	� Completed buildings with Occupancy Certificate (OC) received – Tower 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 11A 
Amenity Block-1 (Ground Floor) and Amenity Block-2

	� Future development – Tower 12 and Amenity Block-1 (First Floor)*. The leasable area of the Tower 12 and Amenity 
Block-1 (First Floor) is indicative and is subject to change once the internal business plans are in place or the 
construction is completed.

	 The area statement for N2 is as follows:

Components No. of buildings
Leasable Area#  

(sq. ft.)
Usage type

Committed 
Occupancy**

Completed 14 37,64,117 IT/ITeS SEZ 75.5%^

Future Development 2 770,873 IT/ITeS SEZ NA

Total 16 45,34,990

	� Source: Architect’s Certificate (Dated 03 November 2022), ^Rent Rolls as on 30 September 2022, Lease Deeds/Leave and License 
Agreements 

	� *The first floor of Amenity Block-1 is considered as future development and has not been counted as an additional tower for the 
purposes of computing the no. of buildings in the future development component. 

	 **committed occupancy = (occupied area + completed area under letters of intent)/ completed area

	 #The leasable area is increased because of the change in efficiency. 

	 Brief Description

	�� N2 is an IT/ITeS SEZ office space developed in a campus format offering large floor plates with significant open/ 
green areas and number of amenities for occupiers. There are 14 operational buildings comprising 12 office towers 
occupied by multiple tenants and two amenity blocks. Amenity blocks constitute a total planned retail area of 
64,297 sq. ft.  The current operational retail area caters to all basic requirement of occupiers viz. F&B (in form of 
multi cuisine food courts), creche, bank branch and ATM, indoor sports, 24X7 Paramedics, convenience store, etc. 
In addition, Tower 11 A which has recently been developed and Tower 12 (a future development) is being developed 
with modern age aesthetics, which intend to create differential experience for the occupiers viz. walk through along 
waterbodies, larger lobby area, improved amenity area etc. In addition to three existing entry and exit points, an 
additional entry/exit gate is planned in near future, which shall further improve traffic movement both inside and 
outside the campus. Regular upgradation activities are being undertaken within the campus to ensure its upkeep as 
per the modern age requirement. N2 has been awarded IGBC Platinum Rating for sustainability and 5 Star Rating by 
the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) in addition to the group wide ISO 9001,14001 and OHSAS 18001 Certification.

	� N2 is located within Noida-Greater Noida Expressway micro-market, which is being developed as an integrated 
vector with presence of residential, institutional, commercial, IT/ITeS, and SEZ developments. It is one of the 
established IT /ITeS and SEZ office destinations of Noida and enjoys excellent physical infrastructure along with 
social infrastructure to support the expansion of real estate activities. The office supply in the vicinity primarily 
comprises investment grade developments, constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT developments. Some of the 
prominent office developments in the vicinity include Logix Techno Park, Oxygen Business Park, NSL TechZone IT 
SEZ, Express Trade Tower – II, Advant Navis Business Park etc. N2 is the micro-market’s largest integrated SEZ office 
development. N2 is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like Sandal Suites by Lemon Tree etc. and 
is well connected to major locations in the city as well as in the NCR via multiple modes of communication. 
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	 The distance of N2 from major landmarks of NCR are as follows:

14 km from DND 
Expressway

5 km from Noida 
Expressway

04 km from Sector 
142 metro station

27 km from New 
Delhi Railway 

Station

36 km from Indira 
Gandhi International 

Airport

14 km from Sector 18, 
Noida 

28 km from Connaught 
Place

Key Assumptions

Particulars Unit Information
Revenue Assumptions (as on 31/09/2022)

Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q3 FY 2026-27
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 54
Achievable Market Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 57
Parking Charges INR/bay/mth 4,000

Development Assumptions

Remaining Capital Expenditure INR Million
Under Construction/ Future 

Development: 3,973
General Development: 234

Expected Completion Date Qtr, Year Tower 12 – Q2 FY 2026-27 
Amenity Block - Q2 FY 2023-24

Other Financial Assumptions
Cap Rate % 8.00
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.75
WACC (Under-construction/ Future Development) % 13.00

Market Value

The market value of the full ownership interest in the N2 as on 30 September 2022 is as follows:

INR 40,969 Million
(Indian Rupees Forty Billion Nine Hundred and Sixty Nine Million Only)

The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below:

Source: C&WI Research 
(Map not to scale)
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4.4	 Candor TechSpace IT/ITeS SEZ, New Town, Rajarhat, Kolkata (K1)
	 Property Description

	� K1 is located at Plot No. 1, DH Street no. 316, New Town, Rajarhat, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, 700156, India. 
The approximate land area of K1 is 48.383 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate). 

	 Statement of Assets

	� K1 constitutes 12 completed buildings along with one under construction building and future development area. 
The listing of buildings under each component is as follows:

	� Completed buildings with Occupancy Certificate (OC) received  – Tower A1, A2, A3, B1, B2, B3, C1*, C2*, C3*, 
G1, G2, G3

	� Under - Construction Building: Tower Commercial  admeasuring 560,816 sq. ft, which is expected to be ready by 
Q2 FY 2026.

	� Future development – The future development constitutes IT/ITeS  leasable area of 980,448 sq. ft. and mixed-use 
leasable area of 1,142,725 sq. ft. The leasable area of the future development is indicative and is subject to change 
once the internal business plans are in place or the construction is completed.

Components No. of buildings
Leasable Area  

(sq. ft.)
Usage type

Committed 
Occupancy**

Completed 12 3,060,655 IT/ITeS SEZ 84.0%^

Under-Construction/
Future Development

NA 2,683,989 IT/ITeS/ Mixed-use NA

Total 12 5,744,644

	� Source:  Architect’s Certificate (Dated: 03 November 2022), ^Rent Rolls as on 30 Septembe 2022, Lease Deeds/Leave and License 
Agreements

	� *Towers C1, C2 and C3 have partial occupancy certificates. Full occupancy certificates will be obtained once the entire project 
is complete. These buildings are fit for occupation as Information Technology and IT enabled services business (use group)/ 
Business building for the portion, which has received the occupancy certificates.

	 **Committed Occupancy = (Occupied area + Completed area under Letters of Intent)/ Completed area

	 Brief Description

	� K1 is an IT/ITeS SEZ office space developed in a campus format offering large floor plates with significant open 
/ green areas and number of amenities for occupiers. There are 12 operational buildings comprising 12 office 
towers occupied by multiple tenants wherein Tower A2 offers multi-cuisine food courts, in-house kitchens, bank 
branches and ATM, creche, pharmacy, medical centre and other retail outlets and Tower A3 offers amenities 
such as gymnasium, swimming pool and table tennis at the ground floor. In addition, there is under construction 
commercial cum retail development of 5,60,816 sq. ft. which is being developed through Joint Developmet 
Agreement with a third party and future development comprising IT/ITeS and mixed-use  developments. K1 has 
two entry and exit gates designed to ensure smooth traffic movement both inside and outside the campus. Regular 
upgradation activities are being undertaken within the campus to ensure its upkeep as per the modern age 
requirement. K1 has been awarded IGBC Gold rating for sustainability and 4 Star Rating by the Bureau of Energy 
Efficiency (BEE) in addition to the group wide ISO 9001,14001 and OHSAS 18001 certifications.

	� K1 is a prominent IT/ITeS SEZ, and the largest campus style office development in eastern India. K1 is located in an 
established office micro-market, which has witnessed a gradual shift of office space occupiers from Central Business 
District of Kolkata. The office supply in the micro-market comprises largely investment grade developments, 
constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT developments primarily skewed towards IT. K1 has a prominent frontage on one 
of the main arterial roads viz: Major Arterial Road (East – West). The road connects K1 to Shapoorji Sukhobrishti (via 
SP Sukhobrishti Complex Road) in east and Narkelbagan, Bishwa Bangla Sarani in west, respectively. Further, K1 is 
located at distance of 1.5 km from the upcoming metro station- CBD 1. Some of the prominent office developments 
in the vicinity include DLF 2 SEZ, TCS Geetanjali Park, Ambuja Ecospace, Mani Casadona etc. 
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Key Assumptions
Particulars Unit Information

Revenue Assumptions (as on 30/09/2022)
Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q1 FY 2025-26
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 43
Achievable Market Rent-Office INR/sq. ft./mth 41
Achievable Market Rent- Mixed Use-Commercial INR/sq. ft./mth 44
Achievable Market Rent - Mixed Use-Retail INR/sq. ft./mth 59
Parking Charges INR/bay/mth 3,000

Development Assumptions

Remaining Capital Expenditure INR Million Future Development: 13,044
General Development: 7

Expected Completion Date Qtr, Year IT/ITeS – Q2 FY 2028-29
Mixed-use – Q3 FY 2028-29

Other Financial Assumptions
Cap Rate % 8.50
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.75
WACC (Under-construction/ Future Development) % 13.00

Market Value

The market value of the full ownership interest in K1 as on 30 September 2022 is as follows:
INR  26,501 Million*

(Indian Rupees Twenty-Six Billion Five Hundred One Million Only)
*  includes 0.56 million sq. ft. of commercial cum retail development which is under construction, Gurgaon Infospace 
Limited (GIL) shall pay Candor Kolkata a sum of INR 1,000 million (inclusive of GST) (out of which INR 600 million has 
already been received) in instalments and be entitled to receive 28% of revenue comprising rentals, CAM margins, 
parking and any other revenue.

The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below:
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K1 is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like The Westin, Fairfield by Marriott, Lemon Tree, Pride 
Plaza, etc. and is well connected to major locations in the city via multiple modes of communication. The distance of 
K1 from major landmarks in the city is as follows:

01 km from Street 
No. 368

1.5 km from 
proposed CBD-1 

Metro Station

14 km from Sealdah 
Railway Station

17 km from Howrah 
Railway Station

12 km from Netaji 
Subhash Chandra 
Bose International 

AirporT

01 km from Narkel Bagan
06 km from Sector V,  

Salt Lake
18 km from Park Street 

Area
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4.5	 Kensington (A & B) IT/ITeS SEZ, Powai, Mumbai (Kensington)
	 Property Description

	� Kensington is located at Hiranandani Business Park, CTS No. 28A, Powai, Mumbai, Maharashtra – 400076, India. The 
approximate land area of Kensington is 8.96 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate). 

	 Statement of Assets

	� Kensington constitutes one building with two wings (Kensington A & Kensington B) and is categorized under one 
component viz. completed building. The listing of building is as follows: 

	� Completed buildings with Occupancy Certificate (OC) received  – Kensington (A & B)

	The area statement for Kensington is as follows:	�

Components No. of buildings
Leasable Area  

(sq. ft.)
Usage type

Committed 
Occupancy**

Completed 1 1,562,541* IT/ITeS SEZ 95.1%^

Total 1 1,562,541

	� Source:  Architect’s Certificate (Dated: 30 September 2022), ^Rent Rolls as on 30 September 2022, Lease Deeds/Leave and 
License Agreements 

	� *Total leasable area for Kensington includes area occupied by “Hitachi Payment Services Pvt Ltd” for ATM purpose (25 Sq Ft). The 
income for the said area is included in the “Other Income”.

	 **Committed Occupancy = (Occupied area + Completed area under Letters of Intent)/ Completed area. 

	� Note: Occupancy as stated in the table above, includes the space, which is currently occupied by Apollo India Services LLP, would 
be vacated by Q2 FY 2023. Considering the said Apollo India Services LLP space and Baker Hughes spaces, the occupancy shall be 
91.5% (vs 95.1% as shown in above table)

	 Brief Description

	� Kensington is an IT/ITeS SEZ office space comprising one ready and operational building with two wings (Kensington 
A & Kensington B) occupied by multiple tenants. The large parking requirement is catered by four parking levels 
contributing to 1,721 parking spaces. Kensington has two entry and two exit points providing access to D.P. Road 
and internal wide Road. 

	� Kensington is the only private IT/IteS SEZ in the Mumbai region excluding Thane and Navi Mumbai and is well 
positioned in the Andheri & Powai micro-market due its proximity to the residential areas, well developed social 
infrastructure and the upcoming metro stations (IIT – 2.6 Km from the Subject Property). The office supply in 
the vicinity comprises investment and sub investment grade developments, constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT 
developments. Some of the prominent office developments in the vicinity are Supreme Business Park, Scorpio 
House, L&T Business Park, Delphi, Godrej IT Park, Solitaire Corporate Park, Kanakia Wall Street, Times Square, 
Raiaskaran Tech Park etc. 
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The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below:

	� Kensington is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like Meluha The Fern and The Beatle and is 
also well connected to major locations in city via multiple modes of communication. The distance of Kensington 
from major landmarks in Mumbai Metropolitan Region (MMR) is as follows:
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Shivaji International Airport
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Domestic Airport

2.3 km from IIT Powai
11 km from  

Bandra Kurla Complex

Key Assumptions
Particulars Unit Information

Revenue Assumptions (as on 30/09/2022)
Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q3 FY 2023-24
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 98
Achievable Market Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 125
Parking Charges* INR/bay/mth 5,000

Other Financial Assumptions
Cap Rate % 8.00
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.75

*The subject property has 1,721 car parks. We have assumed the car parks to maintain status quo. The parking charges are 
assumed to be applicable over and above the applicable lease rent.

Market Value

The market value of the full ownership interest in Kensington as on 30 September 2022 is as follows:

INR 27,548 Million
(Indian Rupees Twenty-Seven Billion Five Hundred and Forty-Eight Million Only)
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Disclaimer

By reading this report (the “Report”), you agree to be 
bound by the following limitations:

This Report is prepared for the Unitholders pursuant to 
the REIT Regulations, and issued by the Manager of the 
Brookfield India REIT, for general information purposes 
only without regards to specific objectives, financial 
situations or needs of any particular person, and should 
not be disclosed, reproduced, retransmitted, summarized, 
distributed or furnished, in whole or in part, to any other 
person or persons. We do not assume responsibility to 
publicly amend, modify or revise any statements in the 
Report on the basis of any subsequent development, 
information or events, or otherwise. This Report 
comprises information given in summary form and does 
not purport to be complete and it cannot be guaranteed 
that such information is true and accurate. For ease and 
simplicity of representation, certain figures may have 
been rounded off to the nearest million except unit and 
per unit data. The Manager makes no representation 
or warranty and does not undertake any responsibility 
or liability with respect to the fairness, accuracy, 
completeness, or correctness of this report, except as 
required under applicable law in India. No representation, 
warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made or 
assurance given that any statements, opinions, views, 
projections or forecasts, if any, are correct or that any 
objectives specified herein will   be achieved. Neither we, 
nor any of our affiliates, as such, make any representation 
or warranty, express or implied, as to, and do not accept 
any responsibility or liability with respect to, any loss, 
howsoever, arising from any use or reliance on this 
Report or its content or otherwise arising in connection 
therewith. Unless otherwise stated in this Report, the 
information contained herein is based on management 
information as they exist as of date/date indicated in 
this Report or as on September 30, 2022 if no date is 
mentioned. The information contained herein is subject 
to change without notice and past performance is not 
indicative of future results.

Certain information contained herein constitutes 
forward-looking statements. Due to various risks and 
uncertainties, actual events or results or the actual 
performance of Brookfield India REIT may differ materially 
from those reflected or contemplated in such forward-
looking statements. Although Brookfield India REIT 
believes that the anticipated future results, performance 
or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements and information are based upon 
reasonable assumptions and expectations in light of the 
information presently available, you should not place 

undue reliance on forward-looking statements and 
information because they involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause 
the actual results, performance or achievements of 
Brookfield India REIT to differ materially from anticipated 
future results, performance or achievement expressed 
or implied by such forward-looking statements and 
information. Factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those set forward in the forward-
looking statements or information include but are not 
limited to: general economic conditions, changes in 
interest and exchange rates, availability of equity and 
debt financing and risks particular to underlying Portfolio 
company investments. There is no guarantee that 
Brookfield India REIT will be able to successfully execute 
on all or any future deals, projects or exit strategies, 
achieve leasing plans, secure debt or receive development 
approvals as set forth herein. Projected results reflected 
herein have been prepared based on various estimations 
and assumptions made by management, including 
estimations and assumptions about events that have 
not yet occurred. Due to various risks, uncertainties and 
changes beyond the control of the Manager, the actual 
performance of the Brookfield India REIT could differ 
materially from the projected results set forth herein. 
There is no assurance, representation or warranty being 
made by any person that any of the projected results set 
forth herein will be achieved and undue reliance shall not 
be placed on them. Industry experts may disagree with 
the assumptions used in presenting the projected results. 

Any changes to assumptions could have a material impact 
on projections and actual returns. Actual returns on 
unrealized investments will depend on, among other 
factors, future operating results, the value of the assets 
and market conditions at the time of disposition, legal and 
contractual restrictions on transfer that may limit liquidity, 
any related transaction costs and the timing and manner 
of sale, all of which may differ from the assumptions 
and circumstances on which the valuations used in the 
prior performance data contained herein are based. 
Accordingly, the actual realized returns on unrealized 
investments may differ materially from the returns 
indicated herein.

In considering investment performance information 
contained herein, you should bear in mind that past 
performance is not necessarily indicative of future results 
and there can be no assurance that comparable results 
will be achieved, that an investment will be similar to 
the historic investments presented herein (because 
of economic conditions, the availability of investment 
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opportunities or otherwise), that targeted returns, 
diversification or asset allocations will be met or that 
an investment strategy or investment objectives will be 
achieved. Any information regarding prior investment 
activities and returns contained herein has not been 
calculated using generally accepted accounting principles 
and has not been audited or verified by an auditor or 
any independent party. Nothing contained herein should 
be deemed to be a prediction or projection of future 
performance.

Certain of the information contained herein is 
based on or derived from information provided by 
independent third party sources. While Brookfield 
India REIT believes that such information is accurate 
as of the date it was produced and that the sources 
from which such information has been obtained are 
reliable, Brookfield India REIT does not guarantee the 
accuracy or completeness of such information, and 
has not independently verified such information or the 
assumptions on which such information is based. This 
document is subject to the assumptions (if any) and notes 
contained herein.

Nothing contained in this Report should be construed as 
legal, business or tax advice. Each prospective investor 
should consult its own attorney, business adviser and 
tax advisor as to legal, business, tax and related matters 
concerning the information contained herein.

This document is just a report and is not intended to 
be a “prospectus” or “draft offer document” or “offer 
document” or “final offer document” or “offer letter” or 
“offering memorandum” (as defined or referred to, as the 
case may be, under the Companies Act, 2013 and the 

rules notified thereunder, and the REIT Regulations, 2014, 
SEBI (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 
2015, as amended, or any other applicable law). This 
Report has not been and will not be reviewed or 
approved by a regulatory authority in India or elsewhere 
or by any stock exchange in India or elsewhere. None 
of the information contained herein (or in any future 
communication (written or oral) regarding an investment) 
is intended to be an investment advice with respect to a 
proposed investment.

If we should at any time commence an offering of units, 
debentures, bonds or any other securities/ instruments 
of Brookfield India REIT, any decision to invest in any such 
offer to subscribe for or acquire units, debentures, bonds 
or any other securities/ instruments of  Brookfield India 
REIT, must be based wholly on the information contained 
in an offer document or offering circular (including the 
risk factors mentioned therein) issued or to be issued in 
connection with any such offer and not on the contents 
hereof. Any prospective investor investing in such 
invitation, offer or sale of securities by Brookfield India 
REIT should consult its own advisors before taking any 
decision in relation thereto.

The securities of Brookfield India REIT have not been and 
will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act, 1933, 
as amended (“U.S. Securities Act”), or the securities laws 
of any applicable jurisdiction and these materials do not 
constitute or form part of any offer to  sell or solicitation 
of an offer to purchase or subscribe for any securities 
in the United States of America or elsewhere in which 
such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to 
registration under the U.S. Securities Act or the securities 
laws of any such jurisdiction.
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Associates Associate of any person shall be as defined under the Companies Act, 2013 or under the applicable 
accounting standards and shall also include following–
(i)	 any person controlled, directly or indirectly, by the said person
(ii)	 any person who controls, directly or indirectly, the said person
(iii)	� where the said person is a company or a body corporate, any person(s) who is designated as promoter(s) 

of the company or body corporate and any other company or body corporate with the same promoter(s)
(iv)	 where the said person is an individual, any relative of the individual

Asset SPVs Collectively, Candor Kolkata, Festus, SDPL Noida and SPPL Noida

B Billion

BAM Brookfield Asset Management Inc.

Board The board of directors of the Company

Brookfield Group/ 
Brookfield

Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and its affiliates

Brookfield India REIT Brookfield India Real Estate Trust

BSE BSE Limited

Candor Kolkata Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited

Candor TechSpace G2 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 4 (amenity block I), 4A (amenity block II), 5, 6, 7, 8A, 8B, 9, 11 and 10 (MLCP),  
all situated at Dundahera, Sector 21, Gurugram 122 016, Haryana, India

Candor TechSpace K1 Completed tower nos. A1, A2, A3, B1, B2, B3, G1, G2, G3, C1, C2 and C3 all situated at Action Area – 1D,  
New Town, Rajarhat, Kolkata 700 156, West Bengal, India

Candor TechSpace N1 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 5, 6 and 7 (amenity block), and 8 (amenity block) and Future Development 
Potential towers 4A and 4B, all situated at Plot No. 2, Block No. B, Sector 62, Noida, Gautam Budh Nagar  
201 301, Uttar Pradesh, India

Candor TechSpace N2 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 11A, amenity block I (ground floor) and amenity block II, 
and Future Development Potential tower 12 and amenity block I (first floor only), all situated at Plot Nos. 20 
and 21, Sector 135, Noida, Gautam Budh Nagar 201 304, Uttar Pradesh, India

CBD Commercial business district

​CCD(s) Compulsorily​ Convertible Debenture(s)

​CIOP Candor India Office Parks Private Limited

Committed Occupancy 
(In %)

(Occupied Area) + (Completed Area under Letters of Intent)
 Completed Area

Completed Area The area of a property for which occupancy certificate has been received

Consolidated Financial 
Statements

The consolidated financial statements of Brookfield India REIT and the Asset SPVs and CIOP comprising 
the consolidated balance sheet as at September 30, 2022; the consolidated statement of profit and loss, 
the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in unitholders’ equity 
for the half year ended September 30, 2022 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. Additionally, it includes the statement of net assets at fair value as at September 
30, 2022, the statement of total returns at fair value for the half year ended September 30, 2022 and other 
additional financial disclosures as required under the REIT Regulations and the SEBI circular CIR/IMD/
DF/146/2016 dated December 29, 2016 as amended from time to time.

CRISIL Credit Rating Information Services of India Limited

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes depreciation and amortization

ESG Environment Social Governance

Effective Economic 
Occupancy 

Sum of Leased Areas and any eligible areas under any income support arrangement (excluding Leased Areas) 
/ Operating Area

F&B Food & Beverages

Festus Festus Properties Private Limited

Financial Year/ FY Period of 12 months period ended March 31 of that particular year, unless otherwise stated

Future Development 
Potential

The area of a property for which the master plan for development has been obtained or applied for, or 
which has been calculated on the basis of FSI available as per the local regulatory norms, but where the 
internal development plans are yet to be finalized and the applications for requisite approvals to commence 
construction are yet to be made

GAV Gross Asset Value

Glossary
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GHG Greenhouse gases

Grade A Grade A means a development type whose tenant profile includes prominent multinational corporations. 
The development should also include adequate ceiling height, 24x7 power back-up, supply of telephone lines, 
infrastructure for access to internet, central air-conditioning, spacious lobbies, circulation areas, good lift 
services, sufficient parking facilities and should have centralized building management and security systems

Gross Contracted Rentals Gross contracted rentals is the sum of Warm Shell Rentals from Occupied Area that is expected to be 
received from the tenants pursuant to the agreements entered into with them

GRESB Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark

Ind AS Indian Accounting Standards referred to in the Companies Act and notified under section 133 of the 
Companies Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, including any 
amendments or modifications thereto 

Investment Management 
Agreement

The investment management agreement dated July 17, 2020 executed between Brookfield India REIT 
 (acting through the Trustee) and our Manager

IPO Initial public offer

IGBC Indian Green Building Council

IT Park Information Technology Park

Kensington Kensington A and Kensington B located at Powai, Mumbai 400 076, Maharashtra, India

KG Kilogram

KL Kiloliter

​kWh ​Kilowatt hour

​​​KSf Kilopound Per Square​ Foot

Leasable Area The total area of a property that can be occupied and commonly used, or assigned to a tenant for the 
purpose of determining a tenant’s rental obligation

LTV Loan to Value

LTVR Ratio of:
(i)	� the aggregate of (a) Advances outstanding under the Facility; and (b) Advances to be made under any 

Drawdown Notice received by the Lenders; to 
(ii)	� the valuation of the Projects to the satisfaction of the Lenders by the Panel Valuers, expressed as a 

percentage

M Million

Manager (as the manager 
of Brookfield India REIT)/ 
Company 

Brookprop Management Services Private Limited

Market Value The market value as determined by the Valuer as of September 30, 2022 and as included in the Summary 
Valuation Report

M sf Million square feet

MT Million tonnes

MT Co2 E Metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent 

MWh Megawatt per hour

NAV Net asset value

NDCF Net Distributable Cash Flows

NOI Net Operating Income

NOIDA New Okhla Industrial Development Area

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited

NYSE The New York Stock Exchange

Occupied Area Completed Area for which lease agreements have been signed with tenants

Portfolio Real estate assets indirectly owned by Brookfield India REIT, being (a) Candor TechSpace G2 (owned by 
Candor Kolkata); (b) Candor TechSpace K1 (owned by Candor Kolkata); (c) Candor TechSpace N1 (owned by 
SPPL Noida); (d) Candor TechSpace N2 (owned by SDPL Noida) and (d) Kensington (owned by Festus)

REIT Real estate investment trust

Report This half yearly report for the half year ended September 30, 2022

REIT Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and 
includes any circular or notification issued thereunder.

Regulation 18(4) Regulation 18(4) of REIT Regulations provides that not less than eighty per cent. of value of the REIT assets 
shall be invested in completed and rent and/or income generating properties subject to conditions as 
prescribed in the said regulations.
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Regulation 18(5) Regulation 18(5) of REIT Regulations provides that not less than eighty per cent. of value of the REIT assets 
shall be invested in completed and rent and/or income generating properties subject to conditions as 
prescribed in the said regulations.

Rs./ Rupees/ INR/ ` Indian Rupees

Same Store Committed 
Occupancy

This represents the Committed Occupancy for the Portfolio for areas where occupancy certificate was 
received on or before March 31, 2020.

SDPL Noida Seaview Developers Private Limited

SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India

SEZ Special Economic Zone

Sf Square feet

SPPL Noida Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited

Sponsor BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.

Sponsor Group Sponsor group as defined under Regulation 2(1)(zta) of the REIT Regulations, being:
a)	 BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Limited;
b)	 Brookfield Asset Management Inc.;
c)	 *Kairos Property Managers Private Limited;
d)	 *BSREP Moon C1 L.P;
e)	 *BSREP Moon C2 L.P;
f)	 BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte Ltd.; and
g)	 BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. Ltd
h)	 BSREP India Office Holdings IV Pte. Ltd
i)	 #BSREP India Office Holding VI Pte Ltd 
*Kairos Property Managers Private Limited, BSREP Moon C1 LP and BSREP Moon C2 LP are ceased to be 
member of Sponsor Group as on September 30, 2022.
#BSREP India Office Holdings VI Pte Ltd became a member of Sponsor Group from September 22, 2022.

SPVs Collectively, Candor Kolkata, Festus, SDPL Noida, SPPL Noida and CIOP

Stock Exchanges Collectively, BSE and NSE

Standalone Financial 
Statements

The standalone financial statements of the Asset SPVs and CIOP comprising of the standalone balance sheet 
as at September 30, 2022; standalone statement of profit and loss, the standalone statement of cash flows 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. Additionally, it includes 
the statement of net assets at fair value as at September 30, 2022, the statement of total returns at fair value 
for the  year ended September 30, 2022 and other additional financial disclosures as required under the REIT 
Regulations and the SEBI circular CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated December 29, 2016 as amended from time to 
time.

Sq m Square metre

Trust Deed The trust deed dated July 17, 2020 entered into between the Manager (solely as the settlor, on behalf of the 
Sponsor), Sponsor and the Trustee

Trustee Axis Trustee Services Limited

TSX Toronto Stock Exchange

Units An undivided beneficial interest in Brookfield India REIT, and such units together represent the entire 
beneficial interest in Brookfield India REIT

Unitholder(s) Any person or entity who holds Units of Brookfield India REIT

Under Construction Area The area of a property for which the master plan for development has been obtained, internal development 
plans have been finalised and requisite approvals for the commencement of construction required under law 
have been applied for, construction has commenced, and the occupancy certificate is yet to be received

WALE Weighted Average Lease Expiry based on area. Calculated assuming tenants exercise all their renewal options 
post expiry of their initial lock-in period

Warm Shell Rentals Rental income contracted from the leasing of Occupied Area and does not include fit-out and car parking 
income


